University of Colorado, Boulder CU Scholar

Civil Engineering Graduate Theses & Dissertations Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering

Spring 11-26-2015

Sunlight-induced Photochemical Processes in Natural and Wastewater Treatment Systems

Simón Mostafa University of Colorado at Boulder, simonmostafa@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.colorado.edu/cven_gradetds Part of the <u>Environmental Engineering Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Mostafa, Simón, "Sunlight-induced Photochemical Processes in Natural and Wastewater Treatment Systems" (2015). *Civil Engineering Graduate Theses & Dissertations*. 158. https://scholar.colorado.edu/cven_gradetds/158

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering at CU Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Civil Engineering Graduate Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CU Scholar. For more information, please contact cuscholaradmin@colorado.edu.

Sunlight-induced Photochemical Processes in Natural and Wastewater Treatment Systems

by

Simón Mostafa

B.S., University of Central Florida, 2008M.S., University of Central Florida, 2010

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Colorado in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering This thesis entitled:

Sunlight-induced Photochemical Processes in Natural and Wastewater Treatment Systems

written by Simón Mostafa

has been approved for the Department of Civil, Environmental, and Architectural Engineering

Fernando L. Rosario-Ortiz (chair)

Karl G. Linden

Diane M. McKnight

Rita Klees

Kara L. Nelson

Date: _____

The final copy of this thesis has been examined by the signatories, and we find that both the content and the form meet acceptable presentation standards of scholarly work in the above-mentioned discipline

Abstract

Mostafa, Simón (Ph.D. Civil Engineering)

Sunlight-induced Photochemical Processes in Natural and Wastewater Treatment Systems

Thesis directed by Fernando Rosario-Ortiz, Assistant Professor, and Karl Linden, Professor, Department of Civil, Environmental and Architectural Engineering, University of Colorado at Boulder

Photochemical processes initiated by sunlight irradiation in surface waters are known to influence a variety of environmentally-relevant processes by interacting with organic matter (OM), microorganisms, and other water constituents. An important role of OM in water bodies is that of a photosensitizer in the formation of reactive intermediates (RI), including excited states, hydroxyl radicals (HO[•]) and singlet oxygen (¹O₂). Such RI are known to react at relatively high rates with various organic contaminants and microbes, thus affecting their fate in the environment as well as natural treatment systems (NTS). This work contributes to the understanding of these relevant photochemical processes by looking at both the underlying mechanisms affecting the formation of RI and the effects of such processes upon microbial populations.

Concentrations of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ ([${}^{1}O_{2}$]ss) and quantum yields (Φ so) were determined for OM present in or derived from wastewater (WWOM). Both size fractionation of WWOM and its chemical oxidation resulted in increases in Φ so. The correlations between the photosensitizing properties of WWOM and optical characteristics (e.g., absorbance, E2:E3 ratio) are evaluated and a model for the prediction of [${}^{1}O_{2}$]ss is proposed.

Photophysical and photochemical processes of OM of distinct origins and molecular sizes were further evaluated through the analysis of absorbance, fluorescence, and the formation of various RI of interest. Larger size fractions displayed higher absorptivity that extends further into the visible region while smaller components displayed higher quantum yields for fluorescence and all RI measured. Possible explanations for the observed results are proposed based on the increased prevalence of non-radiative energy decay processes in larger OM molecules.

The influence of OM on the photoinactivation of *Enterococcus faecalis* was evaluated under simulated sunlight due to their relevance for disinfection in NTS. The presence OM resulted in increased inactivation rates compared to sensitizer-free experiments, suggesting that its role as a photosensitizer is greater than its impact in shielding microorganisms from light. Estimations of the endogenous and exogenous inactivation rates of *E. faecalis* as a function of depth in the presence of OM are presented and the implications of these results in the design of NTS are discussed.

A mis padres, por las raíces; a mis hermanas, por el horizonte; a mis sobrinos, por las estrellas.

Acknowledgements

The path towards my doctorate degree has been truly rewarding. I want to thank my research and academic advisors Fernando Rosario-Ortiz and Karl Linden for giving me their trust early on to join the program and conduct research with them. I feel extremely fortunate and grateful for having their continued personal and academic support throughout my doctorate. Many hours of discussion and their dedicated advising helped me shape, develop, and conduct research that I feel proud of and that allowed me to earn my degree. I am also grateful to the rest of my thesis committee, Diane McKnight, Rita Klees, and Kara Nelson for their support, their careful review, and insightful comments, which helped improve my dissertation. I also want to acknowledge Mark Hernandez for his participation in my preliminary examination and Scott Summers for always being a source of encouragement and positivity. I also want to express gratitude for the Civil Engineering Department Research Fellowship, the EPA STAR Fellowship (FP 91748801), and the NSF CBET Awards (1235288/1344382) for providing the financial support, both research and personal, necessary for the completion of my degree.

It has been a joy to work as part of the Rosario and Linden groups and being surrounded by such smart, hard working, and helpful people. I want to recognize Caitlin Glover for all her help, particularly early on when I needed all the guidance I could get. I also want to acknowledge Kyle Shimabuku, Julie Korak, and Matteo Rubinato for the opportunity to collaborate in research projects. Many thanks to the rest of the Rosario and Linden groups as well as other collaborators and colleagues in our department for all the guidance, support, training, data, recommendations, advice, friendship, feedback, and general camaraderie that has made all my work not only possible but actually enjoyable.

vi

I want to acknowledge the unconditional love and support I have received from my family near and far, throughout my life, which has allowed me to reach all the goals I have set for myself, including earning a doctorate degree. I thank my mom and my dad for giving me the strongest foundation from which life can be built, my sisters Patricia and Samantha for showing me the landscapes of the possible, and my nephews Nicholas and Andrew for giving the hope and strength to walk, work, and fight for the world they deserve. I also want to thank all those people who I have the privilege of calling my friends, la familia que escogemos entre extraños, my sisters and brothers in music, mi cable a tierra, and everyone else who makes my life so wonderful. I also want to acknowledge my fellow activists and organizers in Fossil Free CU and many other community organizations, and all those women and men who work tirelessly to build a better world, through science, art, or the struggle for justice, and whose courage and dedication is a constant source of hope and inspiration to act. In this spirit, I hope the knowledge I have gained in this journey to be of benefit "pa' la gente buena sin estudios ni papeles" and anyone whose life can be improved by the advancement environmental engineering practices or any other efforts I can offer.

With love and gratitude... ¡gracias totales!

Simón

Table of Contents

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
RESEARCH BACKGROUND AND MOTIVATION 1
PREVIOUS RESEARCH AND RELEVANT QUESTIONS 4
GOALS AND HYPOTHESES
CHAPTER 2 SINGLET OXYGEN FORMATION FROM WASTEWATER ORGANIC MATTER 14 ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
References
CHAPTER 3 RELATION BETWEEN OPTICAL PROPERTIES AND FORMATION OF REACTIVE
INTERMEDIATES FROM DIFFERENT SIZE FRACTIONS OF ORGANIC MATTER
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
CHAPTER 4 RELATIVE IMPACT OF LIGHT SCREENING AND PHOTOSENSITIZERS ON <i>E.</i>
ADSTDACT
METHODS 71
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS
References
CHAPTER 5 CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR WASTEWATER TREATMENT AND REUSE
IN DEVELOPING COMMUNITIES
INTRODUCTION
BENEFITS AND RISKS OF WASTEWATER IRRIGATION
SUGGESTED PRACTICES FOR WASTEWATER IRRIGATION92
WASTEWATER TREATMENT IN NATURAL TREATMENT SYSTEMS94
APPLICATIONS AND CONCLUDING REMARKS98
References
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS
CONCLUDING REMARKS
Comments on hypotheses
FURTHER QUESTIONS
REFERENCES
REFERENCES
APPENDIX A. SUPPORTING INFORMATION: SINGLET OXYGEN FORMATION FROM WASTEWATER ORGANIC MATTER
PHOTOSENSITIZERS ON <i>E. FAECALIS</i> INACTIVATION IN SURFACE WATERS

List of tables

Table 2.1 Water quality parameters and ${}^{1}O_{2}$ formation for all samples studied. 95%	
confidence interval shown in parenthesis for $[^{1}O_{2}]$ ss and Φ_{so}	21
Table 3.1 SRNOM samples characteristics and quantum efficiencies of various processes	5.
The standard deviation between analytical triplicates is listed in parentheses	50
Table 3.2 BWW samples characteristics and quantum efficiencies of various processes.	Гhe
standard deviation between analytical triplicates is listed in parentheses	51
Table 4.1. Inactivation kinetics and water quality parameters for the studied samples	77

List of figures

Figure 2.1 Φ_{S0} for various WW size fractions. Bulk samples are filtered using 0.7 µm glass fiber filter and fractions obtained by UF. Φ_{S0} is defined as the number of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ molecules per photon absorbed over the 290-400 nm range under a solar simulator
Figure 2.2 Change in absorbance for BWW (A(λ) – A ₀ (λ)) upon oxidation with 0.044-0.176 mM O ₃ (a) and 0.14-0.56 mM HOCl (b) and for LWW with 0.14-0.56 mM HOCl (c). Samples were stored until no residual oxidant was observed before conducting final absorbance measurements. Arrows indicate the direction of increasing oxidant dose.
Figure 2.3 E2:E3 values (absorbance at 254 nm divided by absorbance at 365 nm) for bulk
WW samples as a function of oxidant dose after addition of HOCl for BWW ($lacksquare$) and
LWW (♦) and of O ₃ for BWW (▲)
Figure 2.4 Φ_{S0} (a) and surface 1O_2 steady-state concentration (b) as a function of oxidant
dose with addition of HOCl for BWW (\blacksquare) and LWW (\blacktriangle) and of O ₃ for BWW (\blacklozenge), with
no residual oxidant present at the time of irradiation experiment. Similar increases in
the Φ_{s0} are observed for all samples, but the impact upon [102]ss is more difficult to
predict, due to simultaneous increase in Φ_{s0} and decrease in absorbance
Figure 2.5 Φ so for all samples proteet against E2:E5. Circlet samples are those BWW
circled in the main figure showing correlation between quantum yield (Φ_{so}) and
absorbance spectrum characteristics (E2:E3). Fit is a linear regression ($\Phi_{s0} = 0.72 \times$
$(E2:E3) + 0.20$, P-value = 5.3×10^{-5} with slope falling within range of values
previously reported in the literature
Figure 2.6 [¹ O ₂]ss plotted against [S ₂₇₅₋₅₀₀ x ABS300] (a) and ABS254 (or E2:E3 × ABS365)
(b), with linear regressions. The equations associated with these fits are (S $_{275-500}$ ×
ABS300) \cdot (1.3 × 10 ⁻¹⁰) – 1.8 × 10 ⁻¹⁴ for the first and (ABS254) \cdot (9.7 × 10 ⁻¹³) – 2.7 × 10 ⁻¹⁵
for the second (P-values are 1.1×10^{-8} and 1.8×10^{-7} , respectively)
Figure 3.1 Size exclusion chromatograms with UV ₂₅₄ detection for SRNUM and BWW size
Figure 2.2 Specific absorption spectra for each size fraction. Absorption coefficients
calculated using equation 1 are normalized to the sample DOC concentration 49
Figure 3.3 Fluorescence EEMs for SRNOM and each size fraction. Each EEM is the average
EEM from three replicates. The intensities have been normalized to the DOC
concentration
Figure 3.4 Fluorescence EEMs for BWW and each size fraction. Each EEM is the average
EEM from three replicates. Note the different scales used for the various samples 52
Figure 3.5 Fluorescence quantum yields as a function of excitation wavelength is presented
for each size fraction in a) SRNOM and b) BWW. Peak emission wavelength as a
function of excitation wavelength is depicted for each size fraction for c) SRNOM and
a) BWW
degradation (30M) and maximum fluorescence for the different size fractions
normalized to the values of the unfractionated samples of SRNOM and BWW.
L L

Quantum yields for bulk samples are assigned a value of 1 for each specific species and the relative values for the fractions are displayed.
Figure 3.7 Quantum yields of the various processes measured as a function of sample
spectral slope. Values for the unfractionated samples and three size fractions for both
SRNOM and BWW are displayed
Figure 3.8 Quantum yields as a function of fluorescence index. Values for the unfractionated
samples and three size fractions for both SRNOM and BWW are displayed
Figure 3.9 Quantum yields as a function of SEC retention time weighted average. Values for the unfractionated samples and three size fractions for both SRNOM and BWW are
displayed
Figure 4.1 <i>E</i> faecalis \log_{10} inactivation as a function of simulated solar irradiation time 76
Figure 4.2 Inactivation rate constants detailing contribution from endogenous and
exogenous nathways Inactivation in PBS is assumed to represent endogenous
processes alone which decrease for other samples due to light screening 78
Figure 4.3. Calculated overall inactivation rate and relative contribution of endogenous and
exogenous processes as a function of depth for Boulder Creek (BC) and primary
clarifier effluent (BWW-1C) samples. Contribution of exogenous processes to overall
inactivation plotted on secondary axis
Figure A.1 Photon irradiance for the solar simulator used in exposure experiments, model
Sol1A, Oriel Instruments (Stratford, CT) with 1000 W Xe lamp and 1.5 air mass filter.
Irradiance was measured using an Ocean Optics spectrometer
Figure A.2 Absorbance spectra (before exposure to solar simulator) for (a) IHSS isolates,
(b) Louisville, CO wastewater effluent and fractions, and (c) Louisville, CO wastewater
effluent with HOCl added
Figure A.3 Absorbance spectra (before exposure to solar simulator) for (a) Boulder, CO
wastewater effluent and fractions, (b) Boulder, CO wastewater effluent with HOCl
added, and (c) Boulder, CO wastewater effluent with O3 added126
Figure A.4 $[1O_2]_{SS}$ plotted against $[S_{275-500} \times ABS300]$ (a) and ABS254 (or E2:E3 × ABS365)
(b), with linear regressions, after subtraction of the contribution of nitrate to the total
absorbance. Nitrate concentrations were 15.8 and 4.0 mg-N/L for BWW and LWW,
respectively
Figure B.1 <i>E. faecalis</i> log ₁₀ inactivation as a function of applied simulated solar dose
(fluence) calculated over wavelengths 290-600 nm.
Figure B.2 Exposure time required to reach 3-log ₁₀ inactivation of <i>E. faecalis</i> as a function of
the ratio of $[^{1}O_{2}]$ ss and absorbance at 300 nm for each sample showing negative
correlation ($P < 0.05$). Methylene blue data are excluded due to low absorbance 129
Figure B.3 Exogenous mactivation rate as function of [*O2]SS, showing no significant
CUITEIAUUII
BWW-1C WSF decreases more sharply than SF considering the photoinactivation
action spectrum of F faecalis 121
a cuton spectrum on L_i (a cuton 131

Chapter 1 Introduction

Research background and motivation

Organic matter (OM) of various origins is present in all water bodies and plays an important role in a number of natural processes, affecting the fate and transport of water constituents,^{1–3} the depth of the photonic zone as well as the photochemical production of reactive intermediates (RI), including excited states, hydroxyl radicals (HO[•]) and singlet oxygen (¹O₂), superoxides (O₂⁻), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and organic peroxyl radicals (ROO[•]). Such RI are known to react at relatively high rates with various organic contaminants as well as microbes.^{3–11} These RI are formed in natural systems as a result of light absorption by OM. Following light-induced excitation, the excited state of an OM chromophore may return to its ground state via a radiative transition, i.e. luminescence, or undergo non-radiative processes (internal conversion, IC or intersystem crossing, ISC). ISC leads to the formation of a triplet excited state (³OM), which can be followed by phosphorescence or ¹O₂ formation. These processes are illustrated in Scheme 1.



Schematic 1. Conceptual illustration of photoinduced processes within organic matter. Light excitation and various possible decay processes are shown, including vibrational relaxation (vr), intersystem crossing (ISC), radiationless decay via internal conversion (IC), luminescence (hvf, hvp), energy and charge transfer from donor (D) to acceptor (A) species, as well as formation of reactive intermediates. The relative position of the various energy levels is meant for illustration purposes only and do not represent energy values of specific excited state molecules (reproduced from Chapter 3).¹²

Most of the OM found in natural systems derives from the degradation of plants and microbial processes in the water column.^{3,13} On the other hand, OM present in wastewater (WWOM) contains a greater fraction of human- and microbially-derived material displaying distinct structure and chemical behaviors. This material includes N-enriched organics associated with treatment biota as well as OM displaying a lesser degree of humification and a higher fraction of hydrophilic material as compared to OM isolates from soil and natural aquatic systems.^{1,14–16}

Since wastewater streams are also likely to contain higher concentrations of chemical and microbiological contaminants and enter the environment with varying degrees of treatment, they may impact ecosystems and water sources for human use. Thus, improved knowledge of relevant photochemical processes would enhance our understanding of the fate of various contaminants of concern present in surface waters, including treatment systems. While wastewater treatment is recognized to be instrumental in limiting negative health and ecological impacts, many communities around the world may not have access to infrastructure that so-called developed communities may employ for wastewater treatment. Thus, natural treatment systems (NTS) such as treatment ponds and constructed wetlands, may serve as appropriate solutions considering the need for adequate treatment of wastewater streams while understanding the economic and other limitations many communities may face.

The physical and chemical mechanisms responsible for microbial removal or inactivation within NTS include filtration, sedimentation, biocidal plant exudates, adsorption to organic matter, as well as sunlight-mediated processes. In addition, biological processes involved in microbial removal include predation, antibiotic interaction with other organisms, and natural die-off.^{17–20} However, the relative contribution of different processes is not well established.

In the context of solar disinfection, most of the emphasis has traditionally been placed on the role of UV inactivation in both natural and engineered systems, due to the greater energy contained within this light range and its damaging potential on microbes. However, sunlightmediated processes are now understood to include three mechanisms potentially leading to microbe inactivation. The first one is direct photolysis in which exposure of microbes to solar irradiation causes damage that may kill or hinder the microorganism's ability to reproduce. The second one is indirect endogenous photoinactivation, where the absorption of light by photosensitizers within the organism leads to the formation of reactive intermediates. Such RI may induce cell damage leading to microbial inactivation. A third mechanism, exogenous photoinactivation, involves photosensitizers found in the water matrix outside the cell. These photosensitizers may include natural organic matter (NOM) as well as WWOM. While the high reactivity associated with RI also leads to their relatively rapid disappearance by either physical or chemical processes, causing them to be present at relatively low concentrations in natural systems (compared to engineered and more energy-intensive systems), they can still contribute significantly to the removal of constituents of concern, including pathogens.

Previous research and relevant questions

In order to better understand the photochemistry of OM, previous works have explored how photophysical behaviors are affected by its molecular size. In this regard, differences in absorbance spectra have been reported (and partially attributed to molecular size) and characterized by increased tailing into longer wavelength regions for larger molecules.²¹ Quantification of this optical phenomenon has been achieved by measuring the E4:E6 ratio.²¹⁻²³ E2:E3 ratio,²³⁻²⁶ and spectral slope (S).²⁶⁻³⁰ Early on, these observations were associated with intramolecular interactions and the formation of donor-acceptor complexes.^{21,31} Such models have since been expanded, elucidating the types of species involved in the charge transfer (CT) donor-acceptor pairs.^{32–34} Consistent with the increase in CT processes expected from increased molecular size, decreases in the apparent fluorescence efficiency have also been correlated to increasing OM size.^{31,33,35–39} Size effects have also been linked to the formation efficiencies of various RIs in the presence of OM. For example, previous studies by our group have shown that across size fractions of wastewater-derived OM (WWOM), fluorescence quantum yields correlate to those of HO[•] radicals.⁴⁰ Similar correlations to singlet oxygen formation have been reported for fluorescence of various humic and fulvic acids⁴¹ as well as for absorbance spectral characteristics.^{24–26} Furthermore, the formation of triplet states have also been reported to increase with decreasing size of OM.^{37,42}

Since wastewater streams likely contain higher concentrations of chemical and microbiological contaminants, expanding our knowledge regarding the photochemical behavior of WWOM and its potential impact upon such contaminants would provide a better understanding of their fate. This has important implications when considering the role of sunlight-mediated processes in natural surface waters systems in general, but particularly those impacted by wastewater and within NTS, as demonstrated by previously published works.^{8,43–47}

Sunlight-mediated processes can be of great importance within NTS where reduction of pathogens and other contaminants is a primary objective even in the absence of chemical disinfectants or any other energy- or chemically-intensive processes. Given the relatively high levels of photosensitizers within these systems (compared to un-impacted natural waters or conventionally-treated waters), indirect processes are expected to account for a greater fraction of all photochemical processes. While HO[•] formation has been shown to be higher in the presence of WWOM compared to OM isolates,⁴⁸ such information is more limited with regards to ¹O₂.⁴⁹

In general, NTS have been shown to perform well as treatment units over a wide range of conditions leading to effluent qualities comparable to secondary treatment standards with respect to various constituents of concern.⁵⁰ Furthermore, despite the fact these systems are usually not optimized for microbial elimination, reductions in pathogen concentrations typically range between 0.5 to 3 log,^{51–54} although mechanisms contributing to pathogen reduction are not fully elucidated.

Regarding the role of solar irradiation, it is hypothesized here that indirect exogenous photolysis is of significant importance as an inactivation mechanism within the type of systems discussed.^{8,17,18,20} This claim is based on two phenomena taking place within these systems that

would hinder UV disinfection, yet may actually enhance indirect sunlight mechanisms of inactivation. The first relates to the fact that in highly turbid and colored waters (as may be found in NTS) shorter wavelengths, i.e. UV, tend to have greater molar absorbtivities, and thus greater reductions in transmittance through the water column as compared to longer wavelength radiation, leading to a reduced impact upon microorganisms. However, the presence of organic photosensitizers (the very same species that may hinder UV transmittance) leads to an enhancement of the role of solar irradiation with regards to pathogen inactivation by allowing longer wavelength photons (including visible light) to play a role in this process via indirect exogenous photolysis.⁸ The second aspect to consider is that the association of microbes to solids (which may be present in relatively high quantities) is generally assumed to lower disinfection due to a shielding effect.^{55–57} However, since those solids may include the photosensitizers associated with indirect photolysis, microbes attached to such species may actually be exposed to greater RI concentrations, leading to enhanced deactivation.^{58,59}

Another interesting consideration is that the presence of algae or other plants associated with these NTS increases the levels of dissolved oxygen which has been shown to enhance the photochemical processes discussed,^{11,60} although debate remains in the literature regarding this claim.^{8,61,62} However, enhanced photochemical degradation of organic chemicals has been reported in the presence of algae in natural freshwater environments.⁷

Several studies have been dedicated to learning more about the impact of photochemical processes upon pathogens. It has been shown that fecal coliforms are reduced to a greater extent upon exposure to sunlight in the presence of water extracted from a waste stabilization pond as compared to distilled water.¹¹ This research points to indirect exogenous photolysis as an explanation and to singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide as the main RI responsible for these

results. Davies et al. have studied the deactivation of several indicator organisms exposed to sunlight within samples of a waste stabilization pond effluent.⁶⁰ It was reported that both RNA bacteriophage and Enterococci display significant susceptibility to indirect exogenous photolysis, while this is the case for E. coli and fecal coliforms only at elevated pH values and with DNA bacteriophage not being greatly affected by this phenomenon (more so by direct UV damage).^{18,60} More recent studies have confirmed previous observations where MS2 virus (a RNA bacteriophage) was found to be effectively deactivated by indirect exogenous photolysis, predominantly due to the impact of singlet oxygen species.⁸

Despite significant advances in this field, several questions remain open that justify an intensified research effort. How does the source and characteristics of OM present in surface water affect the formation of reactive intermediate species, including ³OM, ¹O₂, and HO[•]? What does this tell us about the intramolecular processes taking place? How do they affect the inactivation of various microbial species? Can this behavior be predicted in a way that can inform the design of NTS systems or the fate of species of concern in the environment?

Based on what is known in the published literature and in an attempt to expand the current body of knowledge, a series of hypotheses were formulated and addressed through systematic research as described in the following chapters.

Goals and hypotheses

This research explores the role of sunlight-driven photochemical processes associated with dissolved OM present in wastewater and other surface waters. The relation between the structural and optical characteristics of OM and the formation of RIs that play a role in indirect sunlight-induced processes were studied. These results contribute to better estimations on systems performance based on the OM present and inform NTS design by better accounting for such photochemical processes. Three specific hypotheses were developed and explored through the research presented in this work:

I. Photochemical formation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is correlated to the optical properties and affected by molecular size and oxidation of WWOM

a) Decreasing MW leads to increased ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields.

b) WWOM oxidation leads to increases in ¹O₂ quantum yields

c) ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields are positively correlated to the OM spectral slope and its multiplication by absorbance allows for estimations of $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$

II. Quantum yields of fluorescence and RIs increase concomitantly with decreasing MW of OM due to decreasing prevalence of non-radiative transitions

III. Photoinactivation of enterococci is enhanced in NTS waters due to higher RI concentrations

a) Overall inactivation rates of *Enterococcus faecalis* increase in the presence of OM

b) The relative contribution of indirect exogenous photoinactivation increases with depth

References

- Barber, L. B.; Leenheer, J. A.; Noyes, T. I.; Stiles, E. A. Nature and transformation of dissolved organic matter in treatment wetlands. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2001, *35*, 4805– 4816.
- (2) Fimmen, R.; Cory, R.; Chin, Y.; Trouts, T.; Mcknight, D. Probing the oxidation–reduction properties of terrestrially and microbially derived dissolved organic matter. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* **2007**, *71*, 3003–3015.
- (3) Hassett, J. P. Dissolved natural organic matter as a microreactor. *Science* **2006**, *311*, 1723–1724.
- (4) Scully, F. E.; Hoigne, J. Rate constants for reactions of singlet oxygen with phenols and other compounds in water. *Chemosphere* **1987**, *16*, 681–694.
- (5) Al Housari, F.; Vione, D.; Chiron, S.; Barbati, S. Reactive photoinduced species in estuarine waters. Characterization of hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen and dissolved organic matter triplet state in natural oxidation processes. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* 2010, 9, 78–86.
- (6) Zhan, M.; Yang, X.; Xian, Q.; Kong, L. Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A involving reactive oxygen species in the presence of humic substances. *Chemosphere* 2006, *63*, 378–386.
- (7) Zepp, R. G.; Schlotzhauer, P. F. Influence of algae on photolysis rates of chemicals in water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1983**, *17*, 462–468.
- (8) Kohn, T.; Nelson, K. L. Sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage via exogenous singlet oxygen produced by sensitizers in natural waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, 41, 192–197.
- (9) Romero, O. C.; Straub, A. P.; Kohn, T.; Nguyen, T. H. Role of temperature and Suwannee River natural organic matter on inactivation kinetics of rotavirus and bacteriophage MS2 by solar irradiation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 10385–10393.
- (10) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Bell, R. G.; Donnison, a M. Sunlight inactivation of enterococci and fecal coliforms in sewage effluent diluted in seawater. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1994**, *60*, 2049–2058.
- (11) Curtis, T. P.; Mara, D. D.; Silva, S. A. Influence of pH, Oxygen, and Humic Substances on Ability of Sunlight To Damage Fecal Coliforms in Waste Stabilization Pond Water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1992**, *58*, 1335–1343.

- (12) Mostafa, S.; Korak, J. A.; Shimabuku, K.; Glover, C. M.; Rosario-ortiz, F. L. Relation between Optical Properties and Formation of Reactive Intermediates from Different Size Fractions of Organic Matter. In Advances in the Physicochemical Characterization of Dissolved Organic Matter: Impact on Natural and Engineered Systems; 2014.
- (13) Sutton, R.; Sposito, G. Critical Review Molecular Structure in Soil Humic Substances : The New View. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *39*, 9009–9015.
- Brinkmann, T.; Abbt-Braun, G.; Karle, E.; Hesse, S.; Lungar, N.; Frimmel, F. H. Transformation of Wastewater-derived Dissolved Organic Matter below Leaky Sewers -Fate of Amino Acids and Carbohydrates. *Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol.* 2004, *32*, 316–327.
- (15) Greenwood, P. F.; Berwick, L. J.; Croué, J.-P. Molecular characterisation of the dissolved organic matter of wastewater effluents by MSSV pyrolysis GC-MS and search for source markers. *Chemosphere* **2012**, *87*, 504–512.
- (16) Quaranta, M. L.; Mendes, M. D.; MacKay, A. a. Similarities in effluent organic matter characteristics from Connecticut wastewater treatment plants. *Water Res.* 2012, 46, 284– 294.
- (17) Maynard, H. E.; Ouki, S. K.; Williams, S. C. Tertiary Lagoons: A Review of Removal Mechanisms and Performance. *Water Res.* **1999**, *33*, 1–13.
- (18) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Donnison, A. M.; Speed, D. J. Towards a mechanistic understanding of pond disinfection. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2000**, *42*, 149–158.
- (19) Vymazal, J. Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment : A Review. 2008, 965–980.
- (20) Jasper, J. T.; Nguyen, M. T.; Jones, Z. L.; Ismail, N. S.; Sedlak, D. L.; Sharp, J. O.; Luthy, R. G.; Horne, A. J.; Nelson, K. L. Unit Process Wetlands for Removal of Trace Organic Contaminants and Pathogens from Municipal Wastewater Effluents. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* 2013, *30*, 421–436.
- (21) Power, J. F.; Langford, C. H. Optical Absorbance of Dissolved Organic Matter in Natural Water Studies Using the Thermal Lens Effect. *Anal. Chem.* **1988**, *60*, 842–846.
- (22) Summers, R. S.; Cornel, P. K.; Roberts, P. V. Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic characterization of humic substances. *Sci. Total Environ.* **1987**, *62*, 27–37.
- (23) Cottrell, B. A.; Timko, S. A.; Devera, L.; Robinson, A. K.; Gonsior, M.; Vizenor, A. E.; Simpson, A. J.; Cooper, W. J. Photochemistry of excited-state species in natural waters: A role for particulate organic matter. *Water Res.* 2013, 47, 5189–5199.
- (24) Sharpless, C. M. Lifetimes of triplet dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) and the effect of NaBH4 reduction on singlet oxygen quantum yields: implications for DOM photophysics. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 4466–4473.

- (25) Dalrymple, R. M.; Carfagno, A. K.; Sharpless, C. M. Correlations between dissolved organic matter optical properties and quantum yields of singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 5824–5829.
- (26) Peterson, B. M.; McNally, A. M.; Cory, R. M.; Thoemke, J. D.; Cotner, J. B.; McNeill, K. Spatial and temporal distribution of singlet oxygen in Lake Superior. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 46, 7222–7229.
- (27) Fichot, C. G.; Benner, R. The spectral slope coefficient of chromophoric dissolved organic matter (S275-295) as a tracer of terrigenous dissolved organic carbon in river-influenced ocean margins. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **2012**, *57*, 1453–1466.
- (28) Helms, J. R.; Stubbins, A.; Ritchie, J. D.; Minor, E. C.; Kieber, D. J.; Mopper, K. Absorption spectral slopes and slope ratios as indicators of molecular weight, source, and photobleaching of chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 2008, *53*, 955–969.
- (29) Twardowski, M. S.; Boss, E.; Sullivan, J. M.; Donaghay, P. L. Modeling the spectral shape of absorption by chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Mar. Chem.* 2004, *89*, 69–88.
- (30) Mostafa, S.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Singlet oxygen formation from wastewater organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 8179–8186.
- (31) Wang, Z.-D.; Pant, B. C.; Langford, C. H. Spectroscopic and structural characterization of a Laurentian fulvic acid: notes on the origin of the color. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **1990**, *232*, 43– 49.
- (32) Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V. On the origin of the optical properties of humic substances. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 3885–3891.
- (33) Boyle, E. S.; Guerriero, N.; Thiallet, A.; Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V. Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: relation to structure. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, *43*, 2262–2268.
- (34) Ma, J.; Del Vecchio, R.; Golanoski, K. S.; Boyle, E. S.; Blough, N. V. Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: effects of borohydride reduction. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2010, 44, 5395–5402.
- (35) Stewart, A. J.; Wetzel, R. G. Fluorescence : absorbance ratios a molecular-weight tracer of dissolved organic matter. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **1980**, *25*, 559–564.
- (36) Stewart, A. J.; Wetzel, R. G. Asymmetrical relationships between absorbance, fluorescence, and dissolved organic carbon. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **1981**, *26*, 590–597.

- (37) Richard, C.; Trubetskaya, O.; Trubetskoj, O.; Reznikova, O.; Afanas'eva, G.; Aguer, J. P.; Guyot, G. Key role of the low molecular size fraction of soil humic acids for fluorescence and photoinductive activity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 2052–2057.
- (38) Richard, C.; Coelho, C.; Guyot, G.; Shaloiko, L.; Trubetskoj, O.; Trubetskaya, O. Fluorescence properties of the <5kDa molecular size fractions of a soil humic acid. *Geoderma* 2011, 163, 24–29.
- (39) Trubetskoj, O. a.; Trubetskaya, O. E.; Richard, C. Photochemical activity and fluorescence of electrophoretic fractions of aquatic humic matter. *Water Resour.* 2009, *36*, 518–524.
- (40) Lee, E.; Glover, C. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical Formation of Hydroxyl Radical from Effluent Organic Matter: Role of Composition. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**.
- (41) Coelho, C.; Guyot, G.; ter Halle, A.; Cavani, L.; Ciavatta, C.; Richard, C. Photoreactivity of humic substances: relationship between fluorescence and singlet oxygen production. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *9*, 447–451.
- (42) Bruccoleri, A.; Pant, B. C.; Sharma, D. K.; Langford, C. H. Evaluation of Primary Photoproduct Quantum Yields in Fulvic Acid. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1993**, *27*, 889–894.
- (43) Jasper, J. T.; Sedlak, D. L. Phototransformation of Wastewater-Derived Trace Organic Contaminants in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2013.
- (44) Miller, P. L.; Chin, Y.-P. Indirect photolysis promoted by natural and engineered wetland water constituents: processes leading to alachlor degradation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2005, 39, 4454–4462.
- (45) Chin, Y.-P.; Miller, P. L.; Zeng, L.; Cawley, K.; Weavers, L. K. Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A by dissolved organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2004, *38*, 5888–5894.
- (46) Curtis, T. P.; Mara, D. D.; Silva, S. A. The Effect of Sunlight on Faecal Coliforms in Ponds: Implications for Research and Design. *Water Sci. Technol.* **1992**, *26*, 1729–1738.
- (47) Mayo, A. W. Modeling Coliform Mortality in Waste Stabilization Ponds. J. Environ. Eng. 1995, 121, 140–152.
- (48) Dong, M. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical formation of hydroxyl radical from effluent organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 3788–3794.
- (49) Haag, W. R.; Hoigne, J. Singlet oxygen in surface waters. 3. Photochemical formation and steady-state concentrations in various types of waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 1986, 20, 341–348.

- (50) Kadlec, R. H. Pond and wetland treatment. *Water Sci. Technol.* 2003, 48, 1–8.
- (51) Brix, H. Wastewater Treatment in Constructed Wetlands: System Design, Removal Processes, and Treatment Performance. In *Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality Improvement*; Moshiri, G. A., Ed.; Lewis Publishers: Boca Raton, 1993.
- (52) Vymazal, J. The use constructed wetlands with horizontal sub-surface flow for various types of wastewater. *Ecol. Eng.* **2009**, *35*, 1–17.
- (53) WHO. Safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater; Geneva, 2006.
- (54) Kadlec, R. H. Wetland to pond treatment gradients. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *51*, 291–298.
- (55) Madge, B. A.; Jensen, J. N.; Ginn, T.; Loge, F.; Emerick, R.; Darby, J. L. Of: Modeling the Inactivation of Particle-Associated Coliform Bacteria. *Water Environ. Res.* 2001, 73, 504–507.
- (56) Parker, J. A.; Darby, J. L. Particle-Associated Coliform in Secondary Effluents : Shielding from Ultraviolet Light Disinfection Particle-associated effluents : coliform from shielding light disinfection in secondary ultraviolet. *Water Environ. Res.* **1995**, *67*, 1065–1075.
- (57) Templeton, M. R.; Andrews, R. C.; Hofmann, R. Inactivation of particle-associated viral surrogates by ultraviolet light. *Water Res.* **2005**, *39*, 3487–3500.
- (58) Kohn, T.; Grandbois, M.; McNeill, K.; Nelson, K. L. Association with natural organic matter enhances the sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage by singlet oxygen. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 4626–4632.
- (59) Latch, D. E.; McNeill, K. Microheterogeneity of singlet oxygen distributions in irradiated humic acid solutions. *Science* (80-.). **2006**, *311*, 1743–1747.
- (60) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Donnison, A. M.; Speed, D. J.; Ross, C. M.; Nagels, J. W. Inactivation of Faecal Indicator Micro-organisms in Waste Stabilisation Ponds: Interactions of Environmental Factors with Sunlight. *Water Res.* 1999, *33*, 1220–1230.
- (61) Mayo, a. W.; Kalibbala, M. Modelling faecal coliform mortality in water hyacinths ponds. *Phys. Chem. Earth, Parts A/B/C* **2007**, *32*, 1212–1220.
- (62) Kalibbala, M.; Mayo, A. W.; Asaeda, T.; Shilla, D. a. Modelling faecal streptococci mortality in constructed wetlands implanted with Eichhornia crassipes. *Wetl. Ecol. Manag.* 2008, *16*, 499–510.

Chapter 2 Singlet oxygen formation from wastewater organic matter

This chapter has been published as a journal article: Mostafa, S.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Environ. Sci. Technol. **2013**, 47, 8179–86

Abstract

Singlet oxygen (¹O₂) plays an important role in the inactivation of pathogens and the degradation of organic contaminants. The present study looks at the surface steady-state concentration of ¹O₂ and quantum yields (Φ_{SO}) for organic matter present in or derived from wastewater (WWOM), including those that are partially treated and after undergoing oxidation. The surface steady state concentrations ranged from 1.23 to 1.43×10^{-13} M for bulk wastewaters under simulated sunlight. The Φ_{SO} values for these samples varied from 2.8 % to 4.7 % which was higher than the values observed for the natural organic matter isolates evaluated (1.6 – 2.1 %). Size fractionation of WWOM resulted in Φ_{SO} increases, with a value of up to 8.6 % for one of the < 1 kDa fractions. Furthermore, oxidation of WWOM by hypochlorous acid (HOCI) and molecular ozone also resulted in an increase in Φ_{SO} , with the highest measured value being 8.1 %. This research further explores the correlations between the photosensitizing properties of WWOM and optical characteristics (e.g. absorbance, E2:E3 ratio). Making use of easily measured absorbance values, a model for the prediction of ¹O₂ steady-state concentrations is proposed.

Introduction

Organic matter (OM) in aquatic systems and its photochemical reactions are recognized to affect a number of processes of environmental significance, including serving as a source of carbon and energy as well as affecting the sequestration, transport, and chemistry of various inorganic constituents essential to ecosystems.^{1–4} A particular area of interest involves the role of

OM as a naturally occurring photosensitizer, enhancing the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as hydroxyl radicals (HO[•]) and singlet oxygen (¹O₂).⁵ While the formation of HO[•] has received a great deal of attention within this context due to its ability to degrade a wide range of organic contaminants,^{6–12} singlet oxygen (¹O₂) may also enhance the degradation of certain classes of organic compounds (e.g. furans and phenols⁷) and have a significantly higher impact upon microbes.^{13–19}

Most of the OM found in natural systems derives from the degradation of plants and microbial processes in the water column.^{4,6} However, OM present in wastewater (WWOM) contains a greater fraction of human- and microbially-derived material displaying distinct structure and chemical behaviors. This material includes organics associated with treatment biota as well as OM displaying a lesser degree of humification and a higher fraction of hydrophilic material as compared to OM isolates from soil and natural aquatic systems.^{1,20–22} Since wastewater streams likely contain higher concentrations of chemical and microbiological contaminants, expanding our knowledge regarding the photochemical behavior of WWOM and its potential impact upon such contaminants would provide a better understanding of their fate. This has important implications when considering the role of sunlight-mediated processes in natural surface waters systems in general, but particularly those impacted by wastewater and within non-conventional wastewater treatment (NC-WWT) systems, such as treatment ponds and constructed wetlands, as demonstrated by previously published works.^{14,18,23–26}

Sunlight-mediated processes can be of great importance within such NC-WWT systems where reduction of pathogens and other contaminants is a primary objective even in the absence of chemical disinfectants or any other energy- or chemically-intensive processes. Given the relatively high levels of photosensitizers within these systems (compared to un-impacted natural waters or conventionally-treated waters), indirect processes are expected to account for a greater fraction of all photochemical processes. While HO[•] formation has been shown to be higher in the presence of WWOM compared to OM isolates,²⁷ such information is more limited with regards to ¹O₂. Therefore, better quantification of the photosensitizing role played by OM present in wastewater (including effluent and partially treated streams) would improve our understanding of photochemical processes within natural, impacted, and treatment environments.

The formation rate of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is controlled by the amount photons absorbed (related to the amount of OM present and its absorptivity) and its quantum yield (Φ_{SO}), i.e., the number of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ molecules formed per photon absorbed. The steady-state concentration of this species would be equal to the formation rate divided by the sum of physical quenching and reactions with other species, according to equation 1:

$$\begin{bmatrix} {}^{1}O_{2} \end{bmatrix}_{SS} = \frac{k_{a} \Phi_{SO}[S]}{k_{x}[X] + k_{d}}$$
(1)

where k_a is the specific light absorbance of the water matrix (assumed to be dominated by OM), *S* represents a photosensitizing molecule with a singlet oxygen quantum yield of Φ_{SO} , k_x represents the reaction rate between singlet oxygen and any species *X* present in the water matrix (including but not limited to OM), while k_d is the rate of decay of oxygen back to its ground (triplet) state due to physical quenching without undergoing a reaction. In the case of ${}^{1}O_{2}$, the overall decay is dominated by physical quenching by the solvent, i.e. water ($k_{d,H2O} = 2.5 \times 10^{5} \text{ s}^{-1}$), and the physical or chemical quenching due to OM or other species can typically be ignored at environmentally relevant concentrations.²⁸ Thus, in general, higher concentrations of OM will lead to higher ${}^{1}O_2$ steady state concentrations ([${}^{1}O_2$]ss) as expected due to the role of OM predominantly as a photosensitizer but a relatively minor quencher. Not surprisingly, increasing absorbance, which is correlated to OM concentration, also relates to increasing steady state concentrations of singlet oxygen.¹¹ However, deviations from such correlations are observed due to differences in the efficiency of OM of different origins to photosensitize the formation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$, i.e. its Φ_{SO} values, which have been shown to vary by about an order of magnitude (~ 0.6 – 6 %).^{11,29,30} Due to the structural complexity and diversity in the nature of chemical moieties that make up OM, it can be quite challenging to identify specific characteristics that affect photochemical behaviors. However, recent experiments point to reducible moieties, such as aromatic ketones, playing an important role in photosensitized ${}^{1}O_{2}$ formation.^{31,32}

Different methods have been developed to measure the concentration of ${}^{1}O_{2}$, usually through the use of chemical probes.^{33–35} However, considering the importance of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ in surface waters (impacted or otherwise) and natural treatment systems, methods to estimate or predict its concentration via simpler methods would be of great use. This research explores the photosensitizing properties of WWOM and the correlations between such properties and optical measurements, molecular weight (MW) fractions, and oxidation. The potential applications and limitations of models to estimate ${}^{1}O_{2}$ formation based on optical properties are discussed.

Materials and Methods

<u>Sample collection/preparation.</u> Wastewater samples were collected from two different treatment facilities, in the cities of Louisville (LWW) and Boulder (BWW) in Colorado, USA. BWW samples were collected following secondary clarification (2C) and after final chlorination (eff). LWW undergoes UV disinfection (no HOCl addition). Samples were filtered using a 0.7 µm glass fiber filter and stored at 4 °C minimizing light exposure until use. All experiments were conducted within one month of collection. OM isolate samples included Suwannee River natural organic matter (SRNOM), humic (SRHA) and fulvic acids (SRFA), as well as Pony Lake fulvic acid (PLFA). Isolates were obtained from the International Humic Substances Society (catalog

numbers 1R101N, 2S101H, 1S101F, 1R109F). Stock solutions (50 mg/L) were prepared and diluted to a final concentration of 5 mg/L in a phosphate buffer solution (pH 7, 5 mM) before use. To evaluate the role of physical components of OM, the bulk samples were fractionated. Sample fractionation was performed using ultra-filtration (UF). Two membranes, with NMWCO of 10 kDa (Millipore) and 1 kDa (Omega), and a solvent resistant stir cell (Model XFUF 07601, Millipore, MA, USA) were used for this study. The membranes were first soaked in 1 L of Milli-Q water (resistance = 18.2 M Ω ·cm), with three water changes before use. Any remaining glycerin preservative was removed by passing 200 mL of Milli-Q water through the membrane under 75 psi N2.36 For the oxidation experiments, chlorine was added to the filtered WW samples (LWW and BWW-2C) in the form of NaOCl to obtain final Cl concentrations of 0.07-0.56 mM. Samples were stored at room temperature until no residual HOCl was observed (minimum detection level (MDL) = 0.05 mg/L) as measured using a HACH Pocket Colorimeter (Loveland, CO), thus requiring no addition of quenching agents. O₃ stock solution (with a concentration of 0.73 mM) was added to BWW-2C samples to obtain final concentrations of 0.044 - 0.176 mM. Ozonated samples were stored for at least 24 hours before exposure experiments, and no residual O_3 is expected to be present.

<u>Reagents and water quality analysis.</u> Furfuryl alcohol (FFA, obtained from TCI America, Portland, OR) and methanol (ACS grade, obtained from Honeywell, Morristown, NJ) were used as received. TOC (MDL = 0.2 mg C/L) was measured using a TOC-VSCH (Shimadzu Corp., Japan) analyzer. Absorbance was measured with a Cary 100 Bio UV/Vis spectrophotometer. The E2:E3 value denotes the ratio of a sample's absorbance at 254 nm to that at 365 nm.³⁷ The spectral slope (S₂₇₅₋₅₀₀) describes the slope of a linear regression applied in the range 275-500 nm to the log-transformed absorption spectrum of each sample.³⁸ All absorbance measurements (and

calculations derived from them) were carried out before the exposure experiments; thus, they represent the initial characteristics of the samples and do not account for potential light-induced changes over exposure time.

Singlet oxygen measurements. FFA was used as a probe to measure [¹O₂]_{SS}, following previously established procedures ^{33,39} and described here briefly. FFA was added to the samples at an initial concentration of 22.5 µM, and its concentration was monitored after exposure to solar-simulated light using liquid chromatography (Agilent, 1200 LC). Samples were placed in 2-mL clear glass vials and kept in a water bath at 20 °C during a four hour exposure to simulated sunlight. Plotting ln[FFA]/[FFA₀] versus irradiation time generates a straight line as expected from a pseudo-first order reaction rate (with ¹O₂ at steady state). The slope obtained is divided by the second-order reaction rate constant between ${}^{1}O_{2}$ and FFA of $1.2 \times 10^{8} \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ to obtain the $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$.^{33,40}A solar simulator (Model Sol1A, Oriel Instruments, Stratford, CT) was used for the exposure experiments, equipped either with a 450 W or 1000 W Xe lamp and 1.5 air mass filter (photon irradiance shown in Figure A.1). Methanol was also added (0.1 M) in order to quench HO[•] which may be formed during light exposure. Failure to add a HO' quencher would result in an overestimation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ concentration by up to ~ 20 % (data not shown) due to a second-order reaction rate constant between FFA and HO[•] of 1.5×10^{10} M⁻¹ s^{-1.9,41} Measured $^{1}O_{2}$ concentrations were corrected to account for differences in the total irradiance between the simulated light and a standard sunlight spectrum (ASTM G173). $^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields (Φ_{SO}) were calculated based on the ratio of the ¹O₂ formation rate, R^{SO}, divided by the total number of photons absorbed, taken as the sum of the absorbance per unit time across the wavelengths of the polychromatic light source used in this study ($\lambda = 290-400$ nm). As shown in equation 1, the

numerator represents the ¹O₂ formation rate (in M s⁻¹) which can be calculated as $R^{SO} = [^{1}O_{2}]_{SS} \times k_{d}$. The specific light absorbance is calculated by as per equation 2^{27} ,

$$k_{a} = \sum_{\lambda} \frac{E_{p}^{0} \varepsilon_{S}(\lambda) \left(1 - 10^{-(\alpha(\lambda) + \varepsilon_{S}(\lambda)[S])z}\right)}{(\alpha(\lambda) + \varepsilon_{S}[S])z}$$
 2

where E_p^0 is the near surface photon irradiance, ε_s is the apparent molar absorptivity, α is the unit absorbance of the background matrix, and z is the depth of the water. The specific light absorbance at each wavelength (1 nm increments) was multiplied by the concentration of OM, [S], obtained from the TOC measurements. The nitrate contribution to the total absorbance was removed by subtracting the nitrate spectrum corresponding to the concentrations found in the wastewater samples (15.8 and 4.0 mg-N/L for BWW and LWW, respectively). By summing up the resulting values, the total light absorbance of the organic matter was obtained, which represents the denominator in the quantum yield calculation. Due to the small depth of water (<1 cm) used in the solar exposure experiments, the [¹O₂]_{SS} and Φ_{SO} values reported represent those found at the water surface, i.e., without significant light screening.

Results and Discussion

Water quality. Some variation was observed for pH (7.3 – 8.4) since WW samples were not buffered or pH adjusted in order to maintain the sample characteristics expected in the environment. Table 2.1 shows the water quality parameter for each of the samples studied. TOC values ranged 3.1 - 11.5 mg/L for the wastewater samples evaluated. While particles were removed from all samples using 0.7 μ m filters, between 33 % and 75 % of the TOC was removed by UF during MW fractionation. E2:E3 values, [¹O₂]ss, and Φ_{SO} are also shown in Table 2.1 and are further discussed in the following sections. The absorbance spectra for all samples are shown in Figures A.2 and A.3 of the Supporting Information.

Table 2.1 Water quality parameters and ${}^{1}O_{2}$ formation for all samples studied. 95% confidence interval shown in parenthesis for $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{ss}$ and Φ_{so} .

Sample	TOC (mg/L)	E2:E3	[¹ O ₂] _{ss} × 10 ¹⁴ (M)	Ф _{so} (%)
SRNOM	2.26	3.94	6.2 (0.69)	2.02 (0.23)
PLFA	2.09	4.50	3.9 (0.52)	2.04 (0.27)
SRFA	2.15	4.77	5.6 (0.81)	2.11 (0.31)
SRHA	2.04	3.06	9.4 (0.46)	1.60 (0.08)
LWW-eff	11.50	4.79	14.3 (1.6)	2.77 (0.31)
LWW-eff < 10kDa	6.67	4.96	11.4 (1.5)	2.79 (0.37)
LWW-eff < 1kDa	4.14	5.27	8.5 (1.3)	3.88 (0.58)
LWW + 0.14 mM Cl		6.02	15.9 (1.4)	4.53 (0.40)
LWW + 0.28 mM Cl	11.50	7.25	16.8 (1.3)	6.11 (0.49)
LWW + 0.42 mM Cl		8.52	14.9 (1.7)	6.52 (0.75)
LWW + 0.56 mM Cl		10.11	15.3 (0.89)	8.01 (0.47)
BWW-2C	8.40	4.59	12.3 (1.6)	3.18 (0.41)
BWW-2C < 10 kDa	4.64	4.86	12.0 (1.1)	3.91 (0.35)
BWW-2C < 1 kDa	3.04	5.28	11.3 (1.4)	5.78 (0.72)
BWW-eff	7.55	5.71	13.2 (1.5)	4.66 (0.54)
BWW-eff < 10 kDa	5.07	5.70	14.6 (2.3)	5.62 (0.89)
BWW-eff < 1 kDa	3.93	6.51	14.6 (2.0)	8.59 (1.19)
BWW-2C + 0.07 mM Cl		5.19	12.4 (1.3)	3.82 (0.39)
BWW-2C + 0.14 mM Cl		6.46	12.4 (1.1)	5.09 (0.43)
BWW-2C + 0.21 mM Cl		8.22	11.6 (0.88)	6.67 (0.51)
BWW-2C + 0.28 mM Cl		10.16	9.3 (0.56)	7.13 (0.43)
BWW-2C + 0.42 mM Cl	8.40	15.84	5.1 (0.40)	7.36 (0.57)
BWW-2C + 0.56 mM Cl	1	17.63	3.1 (0.11)	5.74 (0.21)
BWW-2C + 0.044 mM O₃		7.39	7.0 (0.72)	4.38 (0.45)
BWW-2C + 0.088 mM O ₃		11.12	3.6 (0.32)	5.18 (0.47)
BWW-2C + 0.132 mM O ₃		17.21	2.1 (0.19)	7.91 (0.71)
BWW-2C + 0.176 mM O ₃		16.77	1.9 (0.37)	9.32 (1.82)

Singlet oxygen formation from bulk wastewaters and fractions. Table 2.1 shows the $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ and Φ_{SO} observed for a number of effluents and partially treated wastewaters, after undergoing fractionation as well as different degrees of oxidation (with HOCl and O₃). Results for the formation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ in the presence of OM isolates are also presented here as a reference, allowing for a wider set of OM types to be evaluated.

In general, ${}^{1}O_{2}$ surface concentrations in these WW samples fall within the range of values originally measured by Haag et al. for rivers, eutrophic lakes, and WW samples.⁴⁰ However, when comparing the values presented here to others found in the more recent literature, the ${}^{1}O_{2}$ concentrations in WW (1.23 × 10⁻¹³ – 1.43 × 10⁻¹³ M) tended to be higher than those found in lakes^{8,11} but lower than those of rivers¹¹, and comparable to those found in waste stabilization ponds.¹⁴ Thus, the impact that WW discharges may have on receiving bodies in terms of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ concentrations is dependent upon the characteristics of the receiving body as well as other factors, such as dilution. On the other hand, Φ_{SO} serves as a property that is independent of OM concentrations and tends to be higher for bulk WWOM samples (2.8 - 4.7 %) than the OM isolates studied here (1.6 - 2.1 %). Such Φ_{SO} values are also higher than or comparable to natural lake waters previously studied.^{11,29,30}

It must be noted that due to the complexity and diversity of OM derived from different sources, broad generalizations should be avoided. OM must be understood as a broad category of molecules that will display distinct subcomponents and functional groups which affect its properties, depending on its origin and a variety of factors that may affect its fate.⁴ Thus, measured behaviors for OM arise from complex interactions of such components that are difficult (and rather unpractical) to isolate. Despite such complications, trends observed at such a

broad level can still provide useful information regarding the expected impacts such components



may have within water systems.

Figure 2.1 Φ_{s0} for various WW size fractions. Bulk samples are filtered using 0.7 µm glass fiber filter and fractions obtained by UF. Φ_{s0} is defined as the number of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ molecules per photon absorbed over the 290-400 nm range under a solar simulator

The results shown in Figure 2.1 show that within each WW sample set, an increase in Φ_{SO} is observed with decreasing MW. Also, final effluent samples of BWW (after chlorination) display higher Φ_{SO} compared to second clarifier effluent, and this will be discussed in the section below in the context of oxidation. Two distinct phenomena may explain the observed trends related to varying MW. One possibility is that the lower MW fractions are intrinsically more

efficient photosensitizers than the higher MW fractions, and thus the bulk samples. Another explanation is that, due to geometric effects, lower MW fractions are less susceptible to selfquenching of excited species, i.e., the process by which species generated within the OM structure are quenched before escaping to the bulk solution. The effects of self-quenching have been established⁴² and given the fact that a hydrophilic probe (FFA- $k_{ow} = 0.28$) has been used to measure ¹O₂ concentrations, only those molecules present in the bulk phase are accounted for. Thus, when considering the impact of size upon the concentration distribution, one would expect that excited species generated within smaller OM molecules would undergo a lesser degree of internal quenching resulting in higher (measured) concentrations and apparent formation efficiencies. It must be noted, however, that evidence of the geometric effects of OM size fractions, does not rule out the hypothesis of higher intrinsic formation efficiencies. While this topic is beyond the scope of this study, further research is currently underway to address this question. In general, these results correspond to trends previously observed when evaluating OM isolates of varying sizes (either MW-fractionated samples^{43,44} or of different origins⁴⁵), and extend such observations to WWOM, indicating that similar phenomena influence the photosensitizing efficiency of these samples.

Effect of WWOM oxidation. As shown in Figure 2.1, final effluent samples (after chlorination for BWW) display higher Φ_{SO} than the secondary clarifier effluent samples from the same treatment facility. In order to systematically evaluate this phenomenon, WWOM was oxidized by introducing two different oxidants, namely O₃ and Cl (added as NaOCl) at doses between 0.07 and 0.56 mM (with no residual present). The goal was to elucidate the changes in the optical and photosensitizing properties following such alterations. Figure 2.2 shows the changes in the


absorption spectra of samples due to oxidation while Figure 2.3 shows the corresponding E2:E3

Figure 2.2 Change in absorbance for BWW (A(λ) – A₀(λ)) upon oxidation with 0.044-0.176 mM O₃ (a) and 0.14-0.56 mM HOCl (b) and for LWW with 0.14-0.56 mM HOCl (c). Samples were stored until no residual oxidant was observed before conducting final absorbance measurements. Arrows indicate the direction of increasing oxidant dose.

reported by Li et al.⁴⁶ Such changes are likely due to the incorporation into or cleavage of aromatic rings by the oxidants present, leading to a loss of light absorbing structures. It can be observed that samples oxidized with O₃ present a reduction of absorbance over a broader range of wavelengths as compared to samples oxidized with Cl, indicating that the former is a less selective oxidant. Along with a reduction in absorbance, E2:E3 values increased, as shown in Figure 2.3.

Despite the different oxidation patterns (Figure 2.2a-c) and the spread in the optical alterations represented by E2:E3 (Figure 2.3), the variation in quantum yield is very similar for all except the highest oxidant doses, as shown in Figure 2.4a. For all samples, Φ_{SO} increases upon oxidation (regardless of the oxidant used). One possible explanation for this trend is those sites which are less important in the energy transfer processes necessary for the formation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ (as compared to their contribution to light absorbance) are being preferentially oxidized. However, the same may not be said about OM molecules undergoing reduction, for which quantum yields remained virtually unchanged despite absorbance loss and E2:E3 increase.³¹ Another possible explanation derives from the effect that oxidation may have upon average OM molecular size, since both chlorination⁴⁷ and ozonation⁴⁸ have been shown to promote the formation of smaller OM molecules. This phenomenon would give rise to similar effects as those observed due to fractionation, namely increased E2:E3 and measured quantum yields. Furthermore, it is also possible that upon oxidation, those sites within the OM molecule more susceptible to this process would be readily oxidized. Since these may also be the most likely to react with ¹O₂ before it escapes the photosensitizing molecule, the decreased quenching would also generate higher levels of FFA degradation, leading to higher measured ¹O₂ concentrations and quantum yields.



Figure 2.3 E2:E3 values (absorbance at 254 nm divided by absorbance at 365 nm) for bulk WW samples as a function of oxidant dose after addition of HOCl for BWW (\blacksquare) and LWW (\blacklozenge) and of O₃ for BWW (\blacktriangle).

Finally, it is possible that the changes in the trends of Φ_{SO} at the highest levels of oxidation (either decrease or flattening) is caused by significant changes to the WWOM sites which affect its photosensitizing properties, but had not been preferentially oxidized at lower doses. These trends can also be explained by considering that the different mechanisms explained above may be more or less relevant as function of oxidant dose. For example, disaggregation may play a greater role at lower oxidant concentrations, whereas destruction of chromophores could be more prevalent at the higher doses with less significant increases in quantum yields.



Figure 2.4 Φ_{S0} (a) and surface ${}^{1}O_{2}$ steady-state concentration (b) as a function of oxidant dose with addition of HOCl for BWW (**n**) and LWW (**A**) and of O_{3} for BWW (**+**), with no residual oxidant present at the time of irradiation experiment. Similar increases in the Φ_{S0} are observed for all samples, but the impact upon $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ is more difficult to predict, due to simultaneous increase in Φ_{S0} and decrease in absorbance.

Given the decrease in absorption and the increase in quantum yields upon oxidation, the net effect upon singlet oxygen formation rates (and thus steady-state concentrations) is difficult to predict as illustrated in Figure 2.4b, where the overall change in $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ varies considerably from one sample to another. While $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ appears to remain relatively unchanged or to decrease with oxidation in the small depth represented by our samples, the overall formation through the depth of the water column is likely to increase with the increasing Φ_{SO} values.

Relation between optical and photosensitizing properties. Certain OM characteristics influence optical properties and photosensitizing efficiency, causing these parameters to vary simultaneously. Such co-variation, originating primarily from structural and electronic behavior characteristics within the OM molecules, can become a useful tool for assessing certain photochemical properties. Thus, correlations emerge as shown in Figure 2.5 where Φ_{SO} tend to increase with increasing E2:E3 values (except for highly oxidized samples, as discussed below). In the case of E2:E3, both geometric and charge transfer (CT) effects may influence the (measured) formation rates of singlet oxygen. According to the model proposed by Sharpless³¹ the co-variation between E2:E3 and quantum yields relates to the CT behavior of OM molecules. This model suggests those species that participate in CT processes are less likely to undergo intersystem crossing necessary for the formation of the OM triplet and subsequent energy transfer to molecular oxygen. Thus, an increase in CT absorption (and associated decrease in E2:E3) corresponds to lower observed photosensitizing efficiency. As discussed above, the origin of such correlation could just as well be explained by variations in CT behavior for different types of OM or by geometric effects, yet such explanations are not mutually exclusive. In the latter case, the increase in E2:E3 associated with decreasing particle size (caused by either

fractionation or oxidation) related to intra-molecular interactions,^{49,50} provides a suitable explanation for the observed results.



Figure 2.5 Φ_{S0} for all samples plotted against E2:E3. Circled samples are those BWW samples exposed to the highest oxidant doses. Inset: Plot of all samples except those circled in the main figure, showing correlation between quantum yield (Φ_{S0}) and absorbance spectrum characteristics (E2:E3). Fit is a linear regression ($\Phi_{S0} = 0.72 \times (E2:E3) + 0.20$, P-value = 5.3×10^{-5}) with slope falling within range of values previously reported in the literature.

The Φ_{SO} vs. E2:E3 correlation, however, becomes weaker when the WWOM undergoes a certain degree of oxidation as shown in Figure 2.5. The data points contained within the circle are those BWW samples that underwent the highest oxidation. However, if these samples are excluded from the plot (as shown in the inset), a trend appears that corresponds well with previously published data sets which correlate quantum yields to E2:E3. The fitting line displays a slope of 0.72 (P-value = 5.3×10^{-5}), which falls within the relatively wide range of reported values (0.196-0.871).^{11,30}

These results, in conjunction with previous reports, indicate that while there is a correlation between optical properties and photosensitizing behavior, such correlations should be used with caution, especially as a broader set of OM sources are considered. In this case,

processes such as abiotic oxidation appear to alter the optical properties to a degree where the established correlations no longer apply. This points to the explanation stated above, where properties such as size and CT mechanisms lead to co-variation of optical and apparent photochemical properties, yet cannot fully account for other types of chemical alterations. Furthermore, the presence of other WW constituents, e.g. nitrate, may alter the optical properties in ways not accounted for in the preceding discussion. Subtraction of the nitrate contribution to light absorbance did not significantly alter the results presented here (as shown in Figure A.4); however, it may play a greater role under different conditions.

Steady-state concentration modeling. The formation rate of singlet oxygen is the product of the number of photons absorbed by OM and its Φ_{SO} values and, as discussed above, it is proportional to [${}^{1}O_{2}$]_{SS}. Thus, it follows that the multiplication of parameters that serve as surrogates to those properties would allow for the ${}^{1}O_{2}$ surface concentrations to be estimated making use of relatively simple methods, e.g. absorbance measurements. An example of such correlation is shown in Figure 2.6, where proportionality can be established between steady-state concentrations and the product of two optical properties, one positively correlated to quantum yield and another to total absorbance. Figure 2.6a shows [${}^{1}O_{2}$]_{SS} plotted against the product of the absorbance at 300 nm (related to total absorbance) and the spectral slope, S₂₇₅₋₅₀₀ (related to photosensitizing efficiency). On the other hand, in Figure 2.6b [${}^{1}O_{2}$]_{SS} is plotted against the product of E2:E3 and the absorbance at 365 nm, or simply the absorbance at 254 nm. In both cases, all measured values fall within a factor of two from the predicted values. It must be noted that the fit in Figure 2.6b is not an indication of simple proportionality where higher absorbance leads to higher ${}^{1}O_{2}$]_{SS} vs.

absorbance at 300 nm or 365 nm (not shown). Furthermore, wavelengths < 290 nm do not actually reach the sample since they are blocked by the glass vial used during the exposure.



Figure 2.6 $[^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ plotted against [S₂₇₅₋₅₀₀ x ABS300] (a) and ABS254 (or E2:E3 × ABS365) (b), with linear regressions. The equations associated with these fits are (S₂₇₅₋₅₀₀ × ABS300)·(1.3 × 10⁻¹⁰) – 1.8 × 10⁻¹⁴ for the first and (ABS254)·(9.7 × 10⁻¹³) – 2.7 × 10⁻¹⁵ for the second (P-values are 1.1 × 10⁻⁸ and 1.8 × 10⁻⁷, respectively).

Environmental implications

The results presented here point to important trends with regards to the photochemical behavior of OM present in wastewater streams. In cases where the main concern lies in the role of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ in its environment, bulk steady state concentrations represent an appropriate measure of the concentrations that are expected to be present within the water column. This phenomenon may have important implications in treatment systems, where association with particles leads to the shielding of solar UV light which may substantially reduce the impact of direct photolysis processes.^{51–53} However, hydrophobic contaminants or particle-associated microbes may encounter significantly higher concentrations since they would tend to be found closer to the singlet oxygen source.^{6,13,42}

Knowledge of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ formation rates (and further improvements of predictive models) helps to better understand the role of ROS within WW streams and the potential impacts of such streams upon receiving water bodies. However, due to the complexity and variability of OM molecules and of the composition of WW streams, caution should be used when attempting to predict the photochemical behavior of OM based on surrogate optical properties. Models should only be used to establish expected qualitative trends rather than as quantitative predictive models. Overall, the quantum yields of WWOM tend to be comparable or higher than those of OM standard isolates and natural water samples, and increase with chemical oxidation, e.g., chlorination during treatment. While variations in steady-state concentrations are likely be more dependent upon factors such as degree of dilution, in general, WW-impacted bodies are expected to display higher concentration of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ than un-impacted ones and more so for WW streams that undergo chemical oxidation.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge support from the United States EPA (STAR Fellowship # FP 91748801) and the National Science Foundation (CBET #1235288). We thank the Rosario group for their help and the reviewers for their constructive comments. S.M. also thanks Mario Benedetti and Dr. Carl Sagan for their words of wisdom and hope.

Supporting Information Available

Solar simulator photon irradiance, absorbance spectra for all samples, and [¹O₂]ss correlation to optical properties (after nitrate absorbance subtraction) are shown in Appendix A: Supplemental Information.

References

- (1) Barber, L. B.; Leenheer, J. a; Noyes, T. I.; Stiles, E. a Nature and transformation of dissolved organic matter in treatment wetlands. *Environmental science & technology* **2001**, *35*, 4805–16.
- (2) Leenheer, J.; Croué, J.-P. Characterizing dissolved aquatic organic matter. *Environmental science & technology* **2003**, *37*, 18A–26A.
- (3) Fimmen, R.; Cory, R.; Chin, Y.; Trouts, T.; Mcknight, D. Probing the oxidation–reduction properties of terrestrially and microbially derived dissolved organic matter. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* **2007**, *71*, 3003–3015.
- (4) Sutton, R.; Sposito, G. Critical Review Molecular Structure in Soil Humic Substances: The New View. *Environmental Science & Technology* **2005**, *39*, 9009–9015.
- (5) Blough, N. V; Zepp, R. G. Reactive Oxygen Species in Natural Waters. In Active Oxygen: Reactive Oxygen Species in Chemistry; Foote, C. S.; Valentine, J. S.; Greenberg, A.; Liebman, J. F., Eds.; NY, 1995; pp. 280–333.
- (6) Hassett, J. P. Chemistry. Dissolved natural organic matter as a microreactor. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **2006**, *311*, 1723–4.
- (7) Scully, F. E.; Hoigne, J. Rate constants for reactions of singlet oxygen with phenols and other compounds in water. *Chemosphere* **1987**, *16*, 681–694.
- (8) Al Housari, F.; Vione, D.; Chiron, S.; Barbati, S. Reactive photoinduced species in estuarine waters. Characterization of hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen and dissolved organic matter triplet state in natural oxidation processes. *Photochemical & photobiological sciences: Official journal of the European Photochemistry Association and the European Society for Photobiology* **2010**, *9*, 78–86.
- (9) Vione, D.; Bagnus, D.; Maurino, V.; Minero, C. Quantification of singlet oxygen and hydroxyl radicals upon UV irradiation of surface water. *Environmental Chemistry Letters* 2009, 8, 193–198.
- (10) Zhan, M.; Yang, X.; Xian, Q.; Kong, L. Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A involving reactive oxygen species in the presence of humic substances. *Chemosphere* 2006, 63, 378–86.
- (11) Peterson, B. M.; McNally, A. M.; Cory, R. M.; Thoemke, J. D.; Cotner, J. B.; McNeill, K. Spatial and temporal distribution of singlet oxygen in Lake Superior. *Environmental science & technology* **2012**, *46*, 7222–9.

- (12) Zepp, R. G.; Schlotzhauer, P. F. Influence of algae on photolysis rates of chemicals in water. *Environmental science & technology* **1983**, *17*, 462–468.
- (13) Kohn, T.; Grandbois, M.; McNeill, K.; Nelson, K. L. Association with natural organic matter enhances the sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage by singlet oxygen. *Environmental science & technology* **2007**, *41*, 4626–32.
- (14) Kohn, T.; Nelson, K. L. Sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage via exogenous singlet oxygen produced by sensitizers in natural waters. *Environmental science & technology* 2007, *41*, 192–7.
- (15) Romero, O. C.; Straub, A. P.; Kohn, T.; Nguyen, T. H. Role of temperature and Suwannee River natural organic matter on inactivation kinetics of rotavirus and bacteriophage MS2 by solar irradiation. *Environmental science & technology* **2011**, *45*, 10385–93.
- (16) Love, D. C.; Silverman, A.; Nelson, K. L. Human virus and bacteriophage inactivation in clear water by simulated sunlight compared to bacteriophage inactivation at a southern California beach. *Environmental science & technology* **2010**, *44*, 6965–70.
- (17) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Bell, R. G.; Donnison, a M. Sunlight inactivation of enterococci and fecal coliforms in sewage effluent diluted in seawater. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **1994**, *60*, 2049–58.
- (18) Curtis, T. P.; Mara, D. D.; Silva, S. A. The Effect of Sunlight on Faecal Coliforms in Ponds: Implications for Research and Design. *Water science and technology* 1992, 26, 1729–1738.
- (19) Curtis, T. P.; Mara, D. D.; Silva, S. a Influence of pH, Oxygen, and Humic Substances on Ability of Sunlight To Damage Fecal Coliforms in Waste Stabilization Pond Water. *Applied and environmental microbiology* **1992**, *58*, 1335–43.
- (20) Brinkmann, T.; Abbt-Braun, G.; Karle, E.; Hesse, S.; Lungar, N.; Frimmel, F. H. Transformation of Wastewater-derived Dissolved Organic Matter below Leaky Sewers -Fate of Amino Acids and Carbohydrates. *Acta hydrochimica et hydrobiologica* 2004, *32*, 316–327.
- (21) Greenwood, P. F.; Berwick, L. J.; Croué, J.-P. Molecular characterisation of the dissolved organic matter of wastewater effluents by MSSV pyrolysis GC-MS and search for source markers. *Chemosphere* **2012**, *87*, 504–12.
- (22) Quaranta, M. L.; Mendes, M. D.; MacKay, A. a Similarities in effluent organic matter characteristics from Connecticut wastewater treatment plants. *Water research* **2012**, *46*, 284–94.

- (23) Jasper, J. T.; Sedlak, D. L. Phototransformation of Wastewater-Derived Trace Organic Contaminants in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands. *Environmental science & technology* 2013.
- (24) Miller, P. L.; Chin, Y.-P. Indirect photolysis promoted by natural and engineered wetland water constituents: processes leading to alachlor degradation. *Environmental science & technology* **2005**, *39*, 4454–62.
- (25) Chin, Y.-P.; Miller, P. L.; Zeng, L.; Cawley, K.; Weavers, L. K. Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A by dissolved organic matter. *Environmental science & technology* **2004**, *38*, 5888–94.
- (26) Mayo, A. W. Modeling Coliform Mortality in Waste Stabilization Ponds. *Journal of environmental engineering* **1995**, *121*, 140–152.
- (27) Dong, M. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical formation of hydroxyl radical from effluent organic matter. *Environmental science & technology* **2012**, *46*, 3788–94.
- (28) Cory, R. M.; Cotner, J. B.; McNeill, K. Quantifying interactions between singlet oxygen and aquatic fulvic acids. *Environmental science & technology* **2009**, *43*, 718–23.
- (29) Haag, W. R.; Hoigné, J.; Gassman, E.; Braun, A. Singlet oxygen in surface waters Part II: Quantum yields of its production by some natural humic materials as a function of wavelength. *Chemosphere* **1984**, *13*, 641–650.
- (30) Dalrymple, R. M.; Carfagno, A. K.; Sharpless, C. M. Correlations between dissolved organic matter optical properties and quantum yields of singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. *Environmental science & technology* **2010**, *44*, 5824–9.
- (31) Sharpless, C. M. Lifetimes of triplet dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) and the effect of NaBH4 reduction on singlet oxygen quantum yields: implications for DOM photophysics. *Environmental science & technology* **2012**, *46*, 4466–73.
- (32) Golanoski, K. S.; Fang, S.; Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V Investigating the mechanism of phenol photooxidation by humic substances. *Environmental science & technology* 2012, 46, 3912–20.
- (33) Haag, W. R.; Hoigné, J.; Gassman, E.; Braun, A. Singlet oxygen in surface waters Part I: Furfuryl alcohol as a trapping agent. *Chemosphere* **1984**, *13*, 631–640.
- (34) Song, B.; Wang, G.; Tan, M.; Yuan, J. A europium(III) complex as an efficient singlet oxygen luminescence probe. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **2006**, *128*, 13442–50.

- (35) Macmanus-spencer, L. A.; Latch, D. E.; Kroncke, K. M.; Mcneill, K. Stable Dioxetane Precursors as Selective Trap-and-Trigger Chemiluminescent Probes for Singlet Oxygen been developed for the detection and quantitation of. **2005**, *77*, 1200–1205.
- (36) Dong, M. M.; Mezyk, S. P.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Reactivity of effluent organic matter (EfOM) with hydroxyl radical as a function of molecular weight. *Environmental science* & technology 2010, 44, 5714–20.
- (37) Peuravuori, J.; Pihlaja, K. Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **1997**, *337*, 133–149.
- (38) Twardowski, M. S.; Boss, E.; Sullivan, J. M.; Donaghay, P. L. Modeling the spectral shape of absorption by chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Marine Chemistry* **2004**, *89*, 69–88.
- (39) Burns, J. M.; Cooper, W. J.; Ferry, J. L.; King, D. W.; DiMento, B. P.; McNeill, K.; Miller, C. J.; Miller, W. L.; Peake, B. M.; Rusak, S. a.; Rose, A. L.; Waite, T. D. Methods for reactive oxygen species (ROS) detection in aqueous environments. *Aquatic Sciences* 2012, 74, 683–734.
- (40) Haag, W. R.; Hoigne, J. Singlet oxygen in surface waters. 3. Photochemical formation and steady-state concentrations in various types of waters. *Environmental science & technology* 1986, 20, 341–8.
- (41) Buxton, G. V; Greenstock, C. L.; Helman, P.; Ross, A. B. Critical Review of Rate Constants for Reactions of Hydrated Electrons, Hydrogen Atoms and Hydroxyl Radicals (· OH /· O-) in Aqueous Solution. **1988**, *17*.
- (42) Latch, D. E.; McNeill, K. Microheterogeneity of singlet oxygen distributions in irradiated humic acid solutions. *Science* **2006**, *311*, 1743–7.
- (43) Sandvik, S. L. H.; Bilski, P.; Pakulski, J. D.; Chignell, C. F.; Coffin, R. B. Photogeneration of singlet oxygen and free radicals in dissolved organic matter isolated from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya River plumes. *Marine Chemistry* 2000, 69, 139– 152.
- (44) Cavani, L.; Halladja, S.; Ter Halle, A.; Guyot, G.; Corrado, G.; Ciavatta, C.; Boulkamh, a; Richard, C. Relationship between photosensitizing and emission properties of peat humic acid fractions obtained by tangential ultrafiltration. *Environmental science & technology* 2009, 43, 4348–54.
- (45) Paul, A.; Hackbarth, S.; Vogt, R. D.; Roder, B.; Burnison, B. K.; Steinberg, C. E. W. Photogeneration of singlet oxygen by humic substances: comparison of humic substances of aquatic and terrestrial origin. *Photochemical & photobiological sciences* 2004, *3*, 273– 280.

- (46) Li, C.-W.; Benjamin, M. M.; Korshin, G. V. Use of UV Spectroscopy To Characterize the Reaction between NOM and Free Chlorine. *Environmental Science & Technology* 2000, 34, 2570–2575.
- (47) Zhang, H.; Zhang, Y.; Shi, Q.; Hu, J.; Chu, M.; Yu, J.; Yang, M. Study on transformation of natural organic matter in source water during chlorination and its chlorinated products using ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry. *Environmental science & technology* 2012, 46, 4396–4402.
- (48) These, A.; Reemtsma, T. Structure-dependent reactivity of low molecular weight fulvic acid molecules during ozonation. *Environmental science & technology* **2005**, *39*, 8382–7.
- (49) Boyle, E. S.; Guerriero, N.; Thiallet, A.; Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: relation to structure. *Environmental science & technology* 2009, 43, 2262–8.
- (50) Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V On the origin of the optical properties of humic substances. *Environmental science & technology* **2004**, *38*, 3885–91.
- (51) Madge, B. A.; Jensen, J. N.; Ginn, T.; Loge, F.; Emerick, R.; Darby, J. L. Of: Modeling the Inactivation of Particle-Associated Coliform Bacteria. *Water Environment Research* 2001, 73, 504–507.
- (52) Parker, J. A.; Darby, J. L. Particle-Associated Coliform in Secondary Effluents : Shielding from Ultraviolet Light Disinfection Particle-associated effluents : coliform from shielding light disinfection in secondary ultraviolet. *Water Environment Research* 1995, 67, 1065– 1075.
- (53) Templeton, M. R.; Andrews, R. C.; Hofmann, R. Inactivation of particle-associated viral surrogates by ultraviolet light. *Water research* **2005**, *39*, 3487–500.

Chapter 3 Relation between optical properties and formation of reactive intermediates from different size fractions of organic matter

This chapter has been published as a book chapter: Mostafa, S.; Korak, J. A.; Shimabuku, K.; Glover, C. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. In Advances in the Physicochemical Characterization of Dissolved Organic Matter: Impact on Natural and Engineered Systems. Vol. 1160. Ed. F. L. Rosario-Ortiz; American Chemical Society, 2014; pp 159–179.

Abstract

The photophysics and photochemistry of aquatic organic matter (OM) are of interest due to their role in defining the reactivity of this material in the environment. Studies have demonstrated that molecular size and composition are important determinants of the photochemical behavior of OM, including the formation of reactive intermediates (RIs). The present study expands on previous works by evaluating both photophysical and photochemical processes of OM of distinct origins and molecular sizes through the analysis of absorbance and fluorescence along with the formation of various RIs of interest (³OM, HO⁺, ¹O₂). In general, larger size fractions displayed higher absorptivity that extends further into the visible region. On the other hand, smaller components displayed higher quantum yields for fluorescence and all RIs measured. In accordance with hypotheses previously formulated, possible explanations for the observed results are proposed based on the increased prevalence of non-radiative energy decay processes in larger OM molecules.

Introduction

Organic matter (OM) of various origins is present in all water bodies and plays an important role in a number of natural processes, affecting the fate and transport of water constituents,^{1–3} light absorption and the depth of the photic zone,^{4,5} as well as the photochemical production of reactive intermediates (RIs),^{6–9} including excited states, hydroxyl radicals (HO[•])

40

and singlet oxygen (${}^{1}O_{2}$). RIs are known to react at relatively high rates with various organic contaminants as well as microbes.^{3,10–17} Following light-induced excitation, the excited state of an OM chromophore may return to its ground state via a radiative transition, i.e. luminescence, or undergo non-radiative processes (internal conversion, IC or intersystem crossing, ISC). ISC leads to the formation of a triplet excited state (3OM), which can be followed by phosphorescence or ${}^{1}O_{2}$ formation. These processes are illustrated in Scheme 1.



Scheme 1. Conceptual illustration of photoinduced processes within organic matter. Light excitation and various possible decay processes are shown, including vibrational relaxation (VR), intersystem crossing (ISC), radiationless decay via internal conversion (IC), luminescence (hvf, hvp), energy and charge transfer from donor (D) to acceptor (A) species, as well as formation of reactive intermediates. The relative position of the various energy levels is meant for illustration purposes only and does not represent energy values of specific excited state molecules.

The photochemistry and photophysics of OM are of interest to environmental scientists and engineers; yet, due to its molecular complexity, it is difficult to isolate and study individual compounds and their behavior. Instead, measuring bulk characteristics and relevant processes offers an insight into the overall properties of the material. The relative efficiency at which each of these processes occurs is measured by its quantum yield (Φ), which is defined as the number of occurrences of a given process per photon absorbed.¹⁸

Previous works have explored how photophysical behavior of OM is affected by its molecular size. In this regard, differences in absorbance spectra have been reported (and partially attributed to molecular size) and characterized by increased tailing into longer wavelength regions for larger molecules.¹⁹ Quantification of this optical phenomenon has been achieved by measuring the E4:E6 ratio,¹⁹⁻²¹ E2:E3 ratio,²¹⁻²⁴ and spectral slope (S).²⁴⁻²⁸ Early on, these observations were associated with intramolecular interactions and the formation of donoracceptor complexes.^{19,29} Such models have since been expanded, elucidating the types of species involved in the charge transfer (CT) donor-acceptor pairs.^{30–32} Consistent with the increase in CT processes expected from increased molecular size, decreases in the apparent fluorescence efficiency have been correlated to increasing OM size.^{29,31,33–37} Size effects have also been linked to the formation efficiencies of various RIs in the presence of OM. For example, previous studies by our group have shown that across size fractions of wastewater-derived OM (WWOM), fluorescence quantum yields correlate to those of HO• radicals³⁸ while E2:E3 ratios are positively correlated to singlet oxygen quantum yields.²⁸ Similar correlations to singlet oxygen formation have been reported for fluorescence of various humic and fulvic acids³⁹ as well as for absorbance spectral characteristics.^{22–24} Furthermore, the formation of triplet states have also been reported to increase with decreasing size of OM.^{35,40}

In this contribution, we expand on the work of our group and others by assessing the formation rates of various RIs and conducting detailed optical measurements simultaneously on various OM size fractions. Evaluating the behavior of OM samples with very different compositions (Suwannee River natural organic matter and WWOM) that still display similar trends as a function of size provides a more complete picture of the photophysics of these molecules and of the underlying mechanisms. These results are combined with previously

proposed mechanisms to put forward an explanation of OM photophysical and photochemical behaviors based on relevant intramolecular processes. It is proposed here that increasing molecular size of OM leads to an increase in the prevalence of non-radiative decay relative to other processes, such as luminescence and the formation RIs.

Materials and methods

Sample collection and preparation. Two different sets of samples were used for this study representing OM of different origins, namely Suwannee River natural organic matter (SRNOM) and treated wastewater effluent (BWW). SRNOM isolate was obtained from the International Humic Substances Society (catalog number 1R101N). After dissolving the SRNOM, the stock solution was diluted to a final concentration of 8.8 mgC/L in a phosphate buffer solution (10 mM, pH 7.2). Wastewater effluent was obtained from the Boulder Wastewater Treatment Facility after undergoing complete treatment (no chemical disinfection, e.g. chlorination, was performed). Within 8 hours of collection, samples were filtered through a 0.7 μ m glass fiber filters that were muffled at 550 °C for 3 hours and rinsed. Filtered samples were kept refrigerated at a temperature of 4 °C in the dark until further use.

Each source water was fractionated using ultrafiltration membranes into three size fractions: less than 1 kDa, 1-10 kDa, and greater than 10 kDa. To achieve this, the OM with MW < 1 kDa was separated in a Millipore tangential flow ultrafiltration system with an Amicon regenerated cellulose cartridge with a nominal molecular weight cut-off (NMWCO) of 1 kDa. The retentate was further fractionated in a solvent-resistant stir cell (Model XFUF 07601, Millipore, MA, USA) using a regenerated cellulose membrane with a NMWCO of 10 kDa (Millipore), resulting in a fraction with MW > 10 kDa (retentate) and an intermediate fraction with 1 kDa < MW < 10 kDa (permeate). Initially, retentate solutions were diluted by three times the initial volume with the phosphate buffer solution and then filtered so that the initial volume remained in the retentate. In an attempt to remove OM from the retentate that was less than the NMWCO, the retentate from each fractionation step was rinsed by diluting in 10 mM phosphate buffer and filtering again. The rinsing steps were repeated until there was a less than 5% change in the permeate absorbance at 254 nm (~ 4-5 rinses), but likely did not remove all the DOM that could potentially pass through the membrane. Concentrations of Cl- and Br- in the WW samples were measured by ICP-MS. All WW samples were adjusted to the same concentration of these ions (72.5 mg/L for Cl- and 0.3 mg/L for Br-) by addition of NaCl and KBr to allow for an accurate inter-comparison of fractions considering the impact of halides on the formation of RIs.⁴¹

<u>Characterization and optical measurements</u>. Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) measurements were conducted using a TOC-VCSH (Shimadzu Corp., Japan) analyzer while nitrite (NO2-) and nitrate (NO3-) were measured using FIA-IC (Lachat QuikChem 8500 Flow Injection Analyzer).

Size exclusion chromatography (SEC) was performed using an Agilent 1200 series high performance liquid chromatograph with a Waters Protein-PakTM 125 7.8 x 300 mm column (Milfrod, MA). The detector was an Agilent diode array that monitored UV absorbance at a wavelength of 254 nm. The mobile phase buffer consisted of 0.0024 M NaH2PO4, 0.0016 M Na2HPO4, and 0.025 M NaSO4, and the flow rate was 0.7 ml/min.

For the optical measurements, the concentrated fractions were diluted with 10 mM phosphate buffer to an absorbance less than 0.05 at 350 nm. UV-Vis absorption was measured in triplicate from 200 to 600 nm in 1 nm increments in a 1 cm pathlength quartz cuvette (Cary 100, Agilent Technologies CA). The E2:E3 value denotes the ratio of absorbance at 254 nm and 365 nm. Absorption coefficient, $a(\lambda)$, was calculated according to equation 1, where A is the

absorbance at wavelength λ in nanometers, and L is the path length in centimeters. The spectral slope (S) was determined by fitting the non-linear regression to the absorption coefficients from 300 to 600 nm following equation 2, where λr is the reference wavelength (350 nm).^{27,42}

$$a(\lambda)=2.303A(\lambda)/L$$
(1)

$$a(\lambda)=a(\lambda r) e^{-S(\lambda-\lambda r)}$$
(2)

Fluorescence excitation-emission matrices (EEMs) were measured in triplicate for each sample (Fluoromax-4, John Yvon Horiba, NJ). Excitation wavelengths ranged from 240 to 450 nm in 5 nm increments, and the emission wavelengths ranged from 300 to 560 nm in 2 nm increments. Both the excitation and emission bandpasses were set to 4 nm, and the integration time was 0.25 s. Fluorescence intensities were measured in ratio mode (signal divided by reference). Lamp scans, cuvette contamination checks and Raman scans were performed daily to verify calibration. Fluorescence data were corrected for inner filter effects, normalized to the area under Raman peak for 18 M Ω lab-grade water at 370 nm excitation and blank subtracted, according to published methods.⁴³

The fluorescence quantum yields were determined for each sample relative to a 1 mg/L quinine sulfate standard in 0.1N H2SO4 following previously published methods except that the quinine sulfate absorbance and fluorescence were measured at the same excitation wavelength as the DOM sample.^{44–46} Quantum yields were calculated as a function of excitation wavelength from 290 to 380 nm. The calculation assumes a quinine sulfate quantum yield of 0.51, and the uncertainty reported is based on the error propagation of both fluorescence and absorption measurements between triplicates. The fluorescence index (FI) is reported for each fraction as a measure of compositional differences. FI is defined as the ratio of emission intensities at 470 and 520 nm at an excitation wavelength of 370 nm.^{47,48}

<u>Reactive species measurements.</u> Furfuryl alcohol (FFA), benzene, and 2,4,6-trimethylphenol (TMP) were used as probes for reactive intermediates ${}^{1}O_{2}$, HO[•], and ${}^{3}OM$, respectively.^{28,49} FFA was added to the samples at an initial concentration of 22.5 μ M along with methanol (0.1 M) in order to quench HO•, which may be formed during light exposure. For the HO• experiments, benzene (99.8% Alpha Aesar, MA, USA) was added at a concentration of 3 mM, causing it to be the main HO• scavenger in the system⁴⁹ and leading to the formation of phenol. Bovine liver catalase (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA) was added at a concentration of 20 unit/mL to prevent the formation of hydrogen peroxide, thus preventing HO• formation via photo-Fenton processes. TMP was used as a probe to assess the formation of 3.67 µmol/L.

All samples were placed in 2-mL clear glass vials and kept in a water bath at 20 °C during exposure to simulated sunlight. A solar simulator (Model Sol1A, Oriel Instruments, Stratford, CT) was used for the exposure experiments, equipped with a 1000 W Xe lamp and 1.5 air mass filter. Probe concentrations were monitored after light exposure using liquid chromatography (Agilent, 1200 LC). Quantum yields for ${}^{1}O_{2}$ (Φ_{SO}), HO[•] (Φ_{HO}), and TMP degradation (Φ_{TMP} , indicative ${}^{3}OM$ formation) were calculated based on the ratio of the reactive species formed (${}^{1}O_{2}$, HO[•]) or TMP degraded, divided by the total number of photons absorbed per unit time over the wavelength range of the polychromatic light source used in this study ($\lambda = 290-400$ nm). The contribution of nitrate to the formation of HO• was factored out for the calculation of Φ HO. Details of the methodology used can be found in previous publications,^{28,49} except for TMP degradation experiments. In this case, analysis was similar to that of FFA degradation, where pseudo-first order kinetics are assumed and the degradation rate, k_{TMP} , represents the slope of the linear regression curve of ln[TMP]/[TMP]₀ versus irradiation time.

Results and discussion

Water quality and molecular size. The results of the water quality analyses, including pH and DOC concentration are shown in Tables 3.1 and 3.2 for SRNOM and BWW, respectively, along with optical parameters including spectral slope, E2:E3 ratio, and specific absorbance at 254 and 350 nm. Figure 3.1 displays the results of the SEC measurements normalized to the total area. The weighted average of the elution time (t_{SEC}) of the chromophoric dissolved OM, as calculated from the SEC measurements, is shown in Tables 3.1 and 3.2 with increasing times corresponding to decreasing OM size. While each fraction has a different tSEC,, there is overlap between the specta due to the heterogeneity of DOM. Ultrafiltration membranes are typically designed to retain 90% of a protein solution near the reported NMWCO. Considering that DOM is chemically different from the proteins used by the manufacturer for size calibration, it is expected that a portion of DOM greater than the NMWCO will still pass through the filters. As a result, some of the OM molecules will reside outside of the stated NMWCOs following ultrafiltration.⁵³



Figure 3.1 Size exclusion chromatograms with UV_{254} detection for SRNOM and BWW size fractions. <u>Optical properties</u>. Absorbance spectra for all the samples studied are presented in Figure 3.2 and display typical featureless curves of decreasing absorbance with increasing wavelength.



Figure 3.2 Specific absorption spectra for each size fraction. Absorption coefficients calculated using equation 1 are normalized to the sample DOC concentration.

For both OM sources, smaller molecular size fractions had higher spectral slope values (0.024 and 0.017 for the <1 kDa fraction of BWW and SRNOM, respectively) compared to the bulk, unfractionated samples (~ 0.014 for both), as shown in the tables below. Furthermore, specific absorbance at 254 and 350 nm generally increased with increasing size, in agreement with previous reports,^{53,54} except for the specific absorbance at 254 nm being higher for the smallest than for the mid fraction in BWW. These results could be explained in part by differences in composition across the various fractions, with increasing concentration of phenolic groups in the larger size fractions as has been reported, for example, in the case of Laurentian fulvic acid.²⁹

Sample	SRNOM				
Fraction	Bulk	> 10 kDa	1-10 kDa	< 1 kDa	
рН	7.2	7.2	7.2	7.2	
$\frac{DOC}{(mg C/L)^a}$	4.9	1.9	3.5	3.0	
SUVA ₂₅₄ (L/mg C-m)	3.16	5.65	4.60	2.40	
SUVA350 (L/mg C-m)	0.99	2.17	1.44	0.56	
S	0.014	0.012	0.014	0.017	
E2:E3	4.11	3.25	4.18	5.83	
FI	1.29	1.06	1.19	1.47	
t _{SEC} (min)	14.8	12.4	14.0	16.1	
	0.007	0.001	0.005	0.023	
$arPsi_{\it FL}(\%)$	(0.00017)	(0.00004)	(0.00014)	(0.00063)	
	1.85	0.44	1.44	4.39	
$\Phi_{SO}\left(\% ight)$	(0.15)	(0.05)	(0.11)	(0.33)	
	0.0041	0.0035	0.0028	0.0068	
$\Phi_{HO}\left(\% ight)$	(0.0020)	(0.0013)	(0.0008)	(0.0015)	
	0.0131	0.0049	0.0062	0.0284	
$\Phi_{TMP}\left(\% ight)$	(0.0009)	(0.0003)	(0.0005)	(0.0029)	

Table 3.1 SRNOM samples characteristics and quantum efficiencies of various processes. The standard deviation between analytical triplicates is listed in parentheses.

^aThe DOC values for the size fractions do not add up to the bulk concentration since volume of each fraction was different.

Sample	BWW				
Fraction	Bulk	> 10 kDa	1-10 kDa	< 1 kDa	
рН	7.4	7.3	7.2	7.7	
$\frac{DOC}{(mg C/L)^a}$	5.0	10.0	11.7	1.5	
SUVA ₂₅₄ (L/mg C-m)	2.43	2.59	2.01	2.48	
SUVA350 (L/mg C-m)	0.70	0.99	0.69	0.50	
S	0.014	0.010	0.012	0.024	
E2:E3	4.62	3.19	3.70	7.80	
FI	2.05	1.51	1.54	2.14	
t _{SEC} (min)	16.0	13.9	15.2	17.8	
Φ_{FL} (%)	0.027 (0.00102)	0.004 (0.00015)	0.008 (0.00037)	0.048 (0.00190)	
$\Phi_{SO}\left(\% ight)$	3.29 (0.63)	1.15 (0.07)	1.91 (0.16)	6.18 (0.64)	
$\Phi_{HO}\left(\% ight)$	0.0032 (0.0005)	0.0018 (0.0003)	0.0016 (0.0001)	0.0497 (0.0111)	
$\Phi_{TMP}\left(\% ight)$	0.0435 (0.0034)	0.0014 (0.0001)	0.0027 (0.0002)	0.1327 (0.0130)	

Table 3.2 BWW samples characteristics and quantum efficiencies of various processes. The standard deviation between analytical triplicates is listed in parentheses.

^aThe DOC values for the size fractions do not add up to the bulk concentration since volume of each fraction was different.

The fluorescence EEMs for all samples are shown in Figures 3.3 and 3.4. Since the DOC concentration of each fraction was different, the intensities were normalized per unit carbon to be able to directly compare them. On a per unit carbon basis, the smallest molecular size fraction has the highest intensities compared to the large size fractions. For SRNOM, the bulk sample intensities fall closest to the the 1-10 kDa fraction whereas the bulk BWW sample intensity falls between those of the <1 kDa and 1-10 kDa fractions.



Figure 3.3 Fluorescence EEMs for SRNOM and each size fraction. Each EEM is the average EEM from three replicates. The intensities have been normalized to the DOC concentration.



Figure 3.4 Fluorescence EEMs for BWW and each size fraction. Each EEM is the average EEM from three replicates. Note the different scales used for the various samples

The fluorescence quantum yields (Φ_f) as a function of excitation wavelength are presented in Figures 3.5a and 3.5b and show that for both OM sources the Φ_f increases with decreasing molecular size. The bulk quantum yield is influenced by the relative contribution of each size fraction. Low molecular weight species make the greatest relative contribution towards the overall fluorescence of unfractionated BWW and the Φ_f of this unfractionated sample falls in between that of the <1 kDa and 1-10 kDa fractions. Unfractionated SRNOM Φ_f , however, is closer to that of the mid-size fraction. The maximum Φ_f occurred at an excitation of 350 nm for all samples except for the <1 kDa BWW (360 nm). The position of max Φ_f with respect to excitation energy appears to be independent of size, as suggested elsewhere.³¹



Figure 3.5 Fluorescence quantum yields as a function of excitation wavelength is presented for each size fraction in a) SRNOM and b) BWW. Peak emission wavelength as a function of excitation wavelength is depicted for each size fraction for c) SRNOM and d) BWW.

The correlation between excitation wavelength (λ_{ex}) and peak emission wavelength (λ_{em}) has been suggested as evidence for CT interactions as the source of fluorescence in the visible

range^{30,31} and is depicted in Figures 3.5c and 3.5d. Such interpretation is derived from the assumption that a red shift in the peak emission with increasing excitation wavelength indicates that the set of fluorophores emitting upon excitation with longer wavelengths represents a subgroup of those excited at shorter wavelengths. This behavior is in contrast to regions where λ_{em} is independent of λ_{ex} and is attributed to individual fluorophores that behave independently from other processes, i.e., emission from local excited states.^{30,31} All fractions exhibit a region where excitation and emission wavelengths are correlated. The larger molecular weight fractions (>10 kDa and 1-10 kDa) both show a region where λ_{em} is independent of λ_{ex} , which occurs at $\lambda_{ex}<350$ nm. Both <1 kDa fractions show a continued correlation at $\lambda_{ex}<350$ nm. The bulk waters display characteristics of both size fraction behaviors. Past work suggests that the region where λ_{em} is independent of λ_{ex} occurs at excitation wavelengths less than that of the maximum $\Phi_{f.}^{30,31}$. These samples suggest that this trend is violated in the low molecular weight fractions, which may be an indication of different fluorescence mechanisms.

The wastewater samples exhibit a behavior not reported elsewhere. The BWW <1 kDa fraction has a small shoulder at λ_{ex} of 310-320 nm (Figure 3.5d), which may be due to local state emissions from the blue-shifted fluorescence commonly attributed to the Peak M region.⁵⁵ A fluorescence plateau in the Peak M region is apparent in Figure 3.4. Finally, both the unfractionated and <1 kDa BWW fraction exhibit a region where emission wavelength is independent of λ_{ex} between 400 and 420 nm, suggesting the presence of low molecular weight species emitting from local states that dominate the fluorescence relative to charge transfer interactions.

Formation of reactive intermediates. Figure 3.6 shows the Φ for the reactive intermediates measured (HO[•], ¹O₂) and TMP degradation (³OM) as well as the maximum fluorescence quantum yield. In this figure, quantum yields for each photochemical process have been normalized to the quantum yield measured in the corresponding bulk water for comparison on the same numeric scale (all Φ values are shown in Tables 3.1 and 3.2).



Figure 3.6 Quantum yields for the formation of reactive intermediates (¹O₂, HO[•]), TMP degradation (³OM), and maximum fluorescence for the different size fractions normalized to the values of the unfractionated samples of SRNOM and BWW. Quantum yields for bulk samples are assigned a value of 1 for each specific species and the relative values for the fractions are displayed

Clear trends emerge for both sets of samples (SRNOM, BWW) where quantum yields increase with decreasing size. In all cases, the <1 kDa fraction shows the highest value and the >10 kDa the lowest. These trends for HO[•] and ${}^{1}O_{2}$ have previously been reported for similar samples^{28,38} and the same behavior is shown here for the ${}^{3}OM$, consistent with results reported

for fulvic acid⁴⁰ and humic acid triplet states.³⁵ These results, together with fluorescence, suggest that the lower MW fractions are more reactive in terms of fluorescence relaxation and photochemical production of RIs.

<u>Relation between measured properties.</u> Since the various parameters discussed above increase with decreasing size, it is not surprising that monotonic positive relations emerge when comparing the formation efficiency of the various reactive species and optical properties. Such trends are shown in Figures 3.7 and 3.8, where the efficiency of the various photochemical processes positively correlates to S and fluorescence index (FI) values, respectively (similar trends were found for E2:E3, not shown).



Figure 3.7 Quantum yields of the various processes measured as a function of sample spectral slope. Values for the unfractionated samples and three size fractions for both SRNOM and BWW are displayed.



Figure 3.8 Quantum yields as a function of fluorescence index. Values for the unfractionated samples and three size fractions for both SRNOM and BWW are displayed.

While the trends observed across sample sets may vary, the emergence of such clear trends within each set of size fractions suggests that similar underlying mechanisms are involved. Furthermore, Figure 3.9 shows the efficiency of the various processes as a function of average elution time for the SEC measurements. A clear positive relationship is observed where increasing elution time (indicating lower average sizes) corresponds to higher quantum efficiencies. It should be noted that both sets of samples show very similar changes as a function of elution time, despite their distinct composition, indicating that size plays a major role in the fate of light-induced processes.



Figure 3.9 Quantum yields as a function of SEC retention time weighted average. Values for the unfractionated samples and three size fractions for both SRNOM and BWW are displayed

Interpretation of observed results. Various conceptual interpretations could satisfactorily explain the results presented here. First, differences in the photophysics of large and small size fractions could be attributed simply to differences in composition among the different fractions. In this case, it could be argued that chromophoric species displaying high absorbance but relatively low fluorescence yields are preferentially found in the larger size fractions with the opposite trend expected in the lower fractions. While this phenomenon could have an impact, it is unlikely to be the only factor at play, considering how consistent the correlations between size and photochemical activity appear to be, even when considering OM samples of very different origins.

Another possible explanation derives from the fact that DOM has exhibited correlations between molecular weight fractions and aromaticity, which may be an indication of greater degrees of conjugation in the higher molecular weight fraction.⁵⁶ Such increased conjugation would lead to the formation of singlet excited states that possess lower energies as compared to those present in smaller molecules. Such lower energy states are more prone to non-radiative decay³⁰ and are also expected to have shorter lifetimes.³¹ Furthermore, the ³OM formed are likely to have lower energies as well since they are formed via ISC from singlets of relatively low energy. Thus, they will display shorter lifetimes than those of smaller molecules, which decreases the probability of reacting with species of interest before decaying to the ground state. This would lead to the lower formation rates of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ and lower TMP degradation rates observed.

Another factor contributing to the observed results is that increasing size may lead to an increased number of donor-acceptor pairs, leading to enhanced CT processes (see Scheme 1). Such transfers would be reflected in longer absorbance spectrum tailing and associated decreased S values, as observed here, indicating that spectral characteristics could serve as indicators of
increased prevalence of such processes. It should be noted, however, that CT processes are likely still present in lower MW fractions as suggested by the fluorescence data. Such processes may compete with both fluorescence and ISC, in accordance with the model developed by Sharpless^{22,23} for explaining the observed relation between E2:E3 ratio and ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields. This model is further supported by a decrease in fluorescence quantum yields for larger size fractions, while the impact on the relative prevalence of ISC is reflected by a decrease in the formation of not only ${}^{1}O_{2}$ but also triplets (i.e. lower TMP decay rates). Similarly, HO[•] formation decreases with increasing size due to an increase in radiationless decay and CT processes, since this leads to lower probability of excited species (whether in the singlet or triplet state) forming HO[•] radicals before decaying to the ground state.

It is likely that a combination of these factors affect the OM photophysics to different degrees. The conceptual explanations presented allow for a new way of understanding the intramolecular photophysics of OM where fluorescence and ISC are not competing processes to the extent that one would significantly inhibit the other. Instead, they may both be similarly affected by the increase in radiationless decay (i.e. IC processes) or other processes (e.g. CT) observed to increase with increasing size and that inhibit the occurrence of measurable (and generally more environmentally relevant) photophysical and photochemical processes. While precise quantification of the phenomena discussed above remains elusive, the qualitative descriptions presented provide a satisfactory explanation to the general trends observed here and elsewhere.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge support from the United States EPA STAR Fellowship for Simón Mostafa (FP91748801) and the National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship Program for Caitlin M. Glover (115198) and Julie A. Korak (1144083). Support is also acknowledged from the National Science Foundation (CBET #1235288). We also thank Sarah Al-Mutlaq and Cristina Tillberry for their assistance with laboratory procedures. Water quality analyses were performed at the Kiowa Environmental Chemistry Laboratory in Boulder, CO and the Laboratory for Environmental and Geological Studies at CU-Boulder.

References

- Barber, L. B.; Leenheer, J. A.; Noyes, T. I.; Stiles, E. A. Nature and transformation of dissolved organic matter in treatment wetlands. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2001, *35*, 4805– 4816.
- (2) Fimmen, R.; Cory, R.; Chin, Y.; Trouts, T.; Mcknight, D. Probing the oxidation-reduction properties of terrestrially and microbially derived dissolved organic matter. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* **2007**, *71*, 3003–3015.
- (3) Hassett, J. P. Dissolved natural organic matter as a microreactor. *Science* **2006**, *311*, 1723–1724.
- (4) Bidigare, R. R.; Ondrusek, M. E.; Brooks, J. M. Influence of the Orinoco River Outflow on Distributions of Algal Pigments in the Caribbean Sea. *J. Geophys. Res.* **1993**, *98*, 2259–2269.
- (5) Arrigo, K.; Brown, C. Impact of chromophoric dissolved organic matter on UV inhibition of primary productivity in the sea. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **1996**, *140*, 207–216.
- (6) Canonica, S.; Jans, U. R. S.; Stemmler, K.; Hoigne, J. Transformation Kinetics of Phenols in Water: Photosensitization by Dissolved Natural Organic Material and Aromatic Ketones. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1995**, *29*, 1822–1831.
- (7) Cooper, W. J.; Zika, R. G. Photochemical Formation of Hydrogen Peroxide in Surface and Ground Waters Exposed to Sunlight. *Science* **1983**, *220*, 711–712.
- (8) Mopper, K.; Zhou, X. Hydroxyl radical photoproduction in the sea and its potential impact on marine processes. *Science* **1990**, *250*, 661–664.
- (9) Zepp, R. G.; Baughman, G. L.; Schlotzhauer, P. F. Comparison of Photochemical Behavior of Various Humic Substances in Water: II. Photosensitized Oxygenations. *Chemosphere* **1981**, *10*, 119–126.
- (10) Scully, F. E.; Hoigne, J. Rate constants for reactions of singlet oxygen with phenols and other compounds in water. *Chemosphere* **1987**, *16*, 681–694.
- (11) Al Housari, F.; Vione, D.; Chiron, S.; Barbati, S. Reactive photoinduced species in estuarine waters. Characterization of hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen and dissolved organic matter triplet state in natural oxidation processes. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* 2010, 9, 78–86.
- (12) Zhan, M.; Yang, X.; Xian, Q.; Kong, L. Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A involving reactive oxygen species in the presence of humic substances. *Chemosphere* 2006, 63, 378–386.

- (13) Zepp, R. G.; Schlotzhauer, P. F. Influence of algae on photolysis rates of chemicals in water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1983**, *17*, 462–468.
- (14) Kohn, T.; Nelson, K. L. Sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage via exogenous singlet oxygen produced by sensitizers in natural waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, 41, 192–197.
- (15) Romero, O. C.; Straub, A. P.; Kohn, T.; Nguyen, T. H. Role of temperature and Suwannee River natural organic matter on inactivation kinetics of rotavirus and bacteriophage MS2 by solar irradiation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 10385–10393.
- (16) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Bell, R. G.; Donnison, a M. Sunlight inactivation of enterococci and fecal coliforms in sewage effluent diluted in seawater. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 1994, 60, 2049–2058.
- (17) Curtis, T. P.; Mara, D. D.; Silva, S. A. Influence of pH, Oxygen, and Humic Substances on Ability of Sunlight To Damage Fecal Coliforms in Waste Stabilization Pond Water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1992**, *58*, 1335–1343.
- (18) IUPAC. Compendium of Chemical Terminology, 2nd ed. (the "Gold Book"). Compiled by A. D. McNaught and A. Wilkinson. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford (1997). XML on-line corrected version: http://goldbook.iupac.org (2006).
- (19) Power, J. F.; Langford, C. H. Optical Absorbance of Dissolved Organic Matter in Natural Water Studies Using the Thermal Lens Effect. *Anal. Chem.* **1988**, *60*, 842–846.
- (20) Summers, R. S.; Cornel, P. K.; Roberts, P. V. Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic characterization of humic substances. *Sci. Total Environ.* **1987**, *62*, 27–37.
- (21) Cottrell, B. A.; Timko, S. A.; Devera, L.; Robinson, A. K.; Gonsior, M.; Vizenor, A. E.; Simpson, A. J.; Cooper, W. J. Photochemistry of excited-state species in natural waters: A role for particulate organic matter. *Water Res.* 2013, 47, 5189–5199.
- (22) Sharpless, C. M. Lifetimes of triplet dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) and the effect of NaBH4 reduction on singlet oxygen quantum yields: implications for DOM photophysics. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 4466–4473.
- (23) Dalrymple, R. M.; Carfagno, A. K.; Sharpless, C. M. Correlations between dissolved organic matter optical properties and quantum yields of singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 5824–5829.
- (24) Peterson, B. M.; McNally, A. M.; Cory, R. M.; Thoemke, J. D.; Cotner, J. B.; McNeill, K. Spatial and temporal distribution of singlet oxygen in Lake Superior. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 46, 7222–7229.

- (25) Fichot, C. G.; Benner, R. The spectral slope coefficient of chromophoric dissolved organic matter (S275-295) as a tracer of terrigenous dissolved organic carbon in river-influenced ocean margins. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **2012**, *57*, 1453–1466.
- (26) Helms, J. R.; Stubbins, A.; Ritchie, J. D.; Minor, E. C.; Kieber, D. J.; Mopper, K. Absorption spectral slopes and slope ratios as indicators of molecular weight, source, and photobleaching of chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 2008, *53*, 955–969.
- (27) Twardowski, M. S.; Boss, E.; Sullivan, J. M.; Donaghay, P. L. Modeling the spectral shape of absorption by chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Mar. Chem.* 2004, *89*, 69– 88.
- (28) Mostafa, S.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Singlet oxygen formation from wastewater organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 8179–8186.
- (29) Wang, Z.-D.; Pant, B. C.; Langford, C. H. Spectroscopic and structural characterization of a Laurentian fulvic acid: notes on the origin of the color. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **1990**, *232*, 43– 49.
- (30) Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V. On the origin of the optical properties of humic substances. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 3885–3891.
- (31) Boyle, E. S.; Guerriero, N.; Thiallet, A.; Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V. Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: relation to structure. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2009, 43, 2262–2268.
- Ma, J.; Del Vecchio, R.; Golanoski, K. S.; Boyle, E. S.; Blough, N. V. Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: effects of borohydride reduction. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2010, 44, 5395–5402.
- (33) Stewart, A. J.; Wetzel, R. G. Fluorescence : absorbance ratios a molecular-weight tracer of dissolved organic matter. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **1980**, *25*, 559–564.
- (34) Stewart, A. J.; Wetzel, R. G. Asymmetrical relationships between absorbance, fluorescence, and dissolved organic carbon. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **1981**, *26*, 590–597.
- (35) Richard, C.; Trubetskaya, O.; Trubetskoj, O.; Reznikova, O.; Afanas'eva, G.; Aguer, J. P.; Guyot, G. Key role of the low molecular size fraction of soil humic acids for fluorescence and photoinductive activity. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2004**, *38*, 2052–2057.
- (36) Richard, C.; Coelho, C.; Guyot, G.; Shaloiko, L.; Trubetskoj, O.; Trubetskaya, O. Fluorescence properties of the <5kDa molecular size fractions of a soil humic acid. *Geoderma* 2011, 163, 24–29.

- (37) Trubetskoj, O. a.; Trubetskaya, O. E.; Richard, C. Photochemical activity and fluorescence of electrophoretic fractions of aquatic humic matter. *Water Resour.* 2009, *36*, 518–524.
- (38) Lee, E.; Glover, C. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical Formation of Hydroxyl Radical from Effluent Organic Matter: Role of Composition. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**.
- (39) Coelho, C.; Guyot, G.; ter Halle, A.; Cavani, L.; Ciavatta, C.; Richard, C. Photoreactivity of humic substances: relationship between fluorescence and singlet oxygen production. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* **2010**, *9*, 447–451.
- (40) Bruccoleri, A.; Pant, B. C.; Sharma, D. K.; Langford, C. H. Evaluation of Primary Photoproduct Quantum Yields in Fulvic Acid. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1993**, *27*, 889–894.
- (41) Glover, C. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Impact of Halides on the Photoproduction of Reactive Intermediates from Organic Matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**.
- (42) Stedmon, C. a.; Markager, S.; Kaas, H. Optical Properties and Signatures of Chromophoric Dissolved Organic Matter (CDOM) in Danish Coastal Waters. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 2000, *51*, 267–278.
- (43) Murphy, K. R.; Butler, K. D.; Spencer, R. G. M.; Stedmon, C. A.; Boehme, J. R.; Aiken, G. R. Measurement of dissolved organic matter fluorescence in aquatic environments: an interlaboratory comparison. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2010**, *44*, 9405–9412.
- (44) Lakowicz, J. R. Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy; Springer, 2006.
- (45) Green, S. A.; Blough, N. V. Optical absorption and fluorescence properties of chromophoric dissolved organic matter in natural waters. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 1994, *39*, 1903–1916.
- (46) Vodacek, A.; Green, S. A.; Blough, N. V. An experimental model of the solar-stimulated fluorescence of chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 1994, 39, 1– 11.
- McKnight, D. M.; Boyer, E. W.; Westerhoff, P. K.; Doran, P. T.; Kulbe, T.; Andersen, D. T. Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic material and aromaticity. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 2001, *46*, 38–48.
- (48) Cory, R. M.; Miller, M. P.; Mcknight, D. M.; Guerard, J. J.; Miller, P. L. Effect of instrument-specific response on the analysis of fulvic acid fluorescence spectra. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods* 2010, *8*, 67–78.
- (49) Dong, M. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical formation of hydroxyl radical from effluent organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 3788–3794.

- (50) Canonica, S.; Freiburghaus, M. Electron-rich phenols for probing the photochemical reactivity of freshwaters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2001**, *35*, 690–695.
- (51) Golanoski, K. S.; Fang, S.; Del Vecchio, R.; Blough, N. V. Investigating the mechanism of phenol photooxidation by humic substances. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2012, 46, 3912– 3920.
- (52) Cawley, K. M.; Hakala, J. A.; Chin, Y. P. Evaluating the triplet state photoreactivity of dissolved organic matter isolated by chromatography and ultrafiltration using an alkylphenol probe molecule. *Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods* **2009**, *7*, 391–398.
- (53) Belzile, C.; Guo, L. Optical properties of low molecular weight and colloidal organic matter: Application of the ultrafiltration permeation model to DOM absorption and fluorescence. *Mar. Chem.* **2006**, *98*, 183–196.
- (54) Ged, E. C.; Boyer, T. H. Molecular weight distribution of phosphorus fraction of aquatic dissolved organic matter. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *91*, 921–927.
- (55) Coble, P. G. Characterization of marine and terrestrial DOM in seawater using excitationemission matrix spectroscopy. *Mar. Chem.* **1996**, *51*, 325–346.
- (56) Chin, Y. P.; Aiken, G.; O'Loughlin, E. Molecular weight, polydispersity, and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 1994, 28, 1853–1858.

Chapter 4 Relative impact of light screening and photosensitizers on *E. faecalis*

inactivation in surface waters

Abstract

Sunlight irradiation is known to contribute to microbial inactivation in natural treatment systems (NTS) and surface waters via both direct and indirect processes. Direct and endogenous photoinactivation is hindered with increasing depth due to light screening by natural and anthropogenic organic matter (OM). Additionally, indirect exogenous processes, predominantly involving singlet oxygen (¹O₂), are anticipated to be important for disinfection in NTS, with OM serving as a photosensitizer. This study investigated the influence of OM on endogenous and exogenous photoinactivation of Enterococcus faecalis upon exposure to simulated sunlight in surface waters, wastewater, and in the presence of natural organic matter (OM) isolates or a $^{1}O_{2}$ sensitizer, methylene blue. The presence of OM resulted in increases inactivation rates of 17-67% compared to sensitizer-free experiments. This suggests that the role of OM as a photosensitizer for the formation of reactive intermediates is greater than its negative impact due to light screening at levels typically found in NTS. Specifically, an increase in light absorbance (particularly at shorter wavelengths) are estimated to reduce direct and endogenous processes by up to 41% under our experimental conditions while the presence of external photosensitizers enhances exogenous inactivation processes. An approach is presented to help estimate the endogenous and exogenous inactivation rates of E. faecalis as a function of depth in the presence of OM based on common optical measurements. These results are important in informing the design parameters (e.g. depth, retention time) of NTS by providing a measure of inactivation kinetics as impacted by depth in the presence of diverse types of OM.

Introduction

All surface waters contain a variety of microorganisms and contaminants that vary depending on waste inputs and various environmental conditions. Both wastewater-impacted natural water bodies and systems built for treating these streams are expected to undergo a decrease in the concentration of pathogens and other contaminants over time due to various naturally-occurring processes. Treatment ponds and constructed wetlands are examples of technologies that rely on natural processes, thus called natural treatment systems (NTS), to achieve treatment levels that are comparable to secondary treatment in conventional treatment systems such as activated sludge.¹ Treatment is achieved with low or no chemical and energy inputs, deeming them particularly appropriate for low-resource or isolated communities. Pathogens are removed in these systems to levels that typically range between 0.5-3 log₁₀ via various processes including sedimentation, predation, adsorption and natural die-off as well as photoinduced inactivation processes.^{2–5}

Photoinduced processes include both exogenous and endogenous mechanisms, and the latter can be further classified as direct and indirect (sensitized) processes.⁶ In the case of direct processes, solar irradiance is absorbed by the target compound in the microbe, causing (or contributing to) damage that leads to inactivation, as in the case of DNA damage upon UV exposure.⁷ Indirect endogenous processes involve light absorption by microbial structures or chromophores that are not necessarily damaged but that act as internal photosensitizers in the formation of reactive species that lead to inactivating damage.⁶ Previous research (conducted in seawater samples under oxic conditions) has pointed to oxidative stress, rather than membrane or direct DNA damage, as a dominant mechanism in endogenous damage under simulated sunlight.⁸

Light absorbance by different water constituents would generally reduce the inactivation efficiency by preventing direct interaction between the incoming light and the target microorganisms, thus creating a shielding effect. Such shielding effect would become more important with increasing distance from the light source or depth (in the case of solar irradiation). This effect is expected to be more prevalent in NTS than within engineered systems or water undergoing SODIS for drinking purposes, since higher loadings of organic matter (OM) present in NTS systems will increase light absorbance. While such light absorbance is likely to have a net negative effect upon direct and endogenous microbe inactivation, light absorbance by chromophoric OM can lead to the formation of reactive intermediates (RI),^{9–12} including singlet oxygen (¹O₂), hydroxyl radical (HO[•]), and excited triplet states (³OM), among others. Such RI can then come in contact with either suspended or particle-associated microbes, leading to indirect exogenous photoinactivation.

Several studies have reported enhanced inactivation of bacteria^{6,13–15} and viruses^{14,16–18} due to indirect exogenous photochemical processes, with ¹O₂ playing a key role in microbial inactivation.^{13,15–20} Given that lower wavelengths (i.e. below approximately 320 nm),⁶ typically responsible for direct inactivation penetrate shorter depths relative to longer wavelengths, their contribution to microbe inactivation is expected to decrease with depth. On the other hand, longer wavelengths, although relatively unimportant in the direct inactivation of microbes, are expected to travel to greater depths and their relative contribution to disinfection via indirect photoinactivation is expected to increase with depth. As a result, knowledge regarding exogenous photochemical processes becomes increasingly relevant for the design of NTS.

In this work, inactivation of *Entorococcus faecalis* was studied under simulated sunlight. This microorganism was chosen due to its importance as an indicator of fecal contamination and of treatment efficacy, ease of use, and gaps of knowledge found in the literature regarding endogenous and exogenous inactivation kinetics. While both processes are known to take place, the relative contribution of each to overall inactivation has not been fully established, particularly for *E. faecalis*. This study examines the impacts of a variety of important OM types including wastewater OM, environmental surface waters OM, and OM isolates, as well as a singlet oxygen photosensitizer (methylene blue, MB), on the photoinactivation kinetics of *E. faecalis*. The contribution of endogenous and exogenous inactivation for each sample is presented along with a discussion on the implications for the design of NTS.

Methods

Sample preparation and characterization. Four natural water samples were collected to represent a range of water quality characteristics of surface waters or NTS. Two wastewater samples were collected (Boulder Wastewater Treatment Facility, Boulder, CO, USA): primary clarification effluent (BWW-1C) and final effluent (BWW-eff). Surface water samples were collected from Boulder Creek and Greeley Reservoir (both in Colorado, USA). These four natural samples were filtered upon arrival to the laboratory using a 0.7 μm glass fiber filter and stored at 4 °C until use. OM isolate samples included Suwannee River humic (SRHA) and fulvic acids (SRFA), obtained from the International Humic Substances Society (catalog numbers 2S101H and 1S101F, respectively), prepared at concentrations of 20 ppm. For the MB samples, a stock solution was diluted into PBS to concentrations of 0.3 and 1 ppm.

Dissolved organic carbon (DOC) measurements were conducted using a TOC-VCSH (Shimadzu Corp., Japan) analyzer and UV-Vis absorption was measured from 200 to 600 nm in 1 nm increments in a 1 cm pathlength quartz cuvette (Cary 100, Agilent Technologies CA). Furfuryl alcohol (FFA) was used as a probe for ${}^{1}O_{2}$ measurements, as previously described.^{21,22}

Briefly, FFA was added to the samples at an initial concentration of 22.5 μ M along with methanol (0.1 M) in order to quench HO[•] which may be formed during light exposure. FFA degradation was monitored in 30-minute increments by extracting 1-mL aliquots in duplicate and using liquid chromatography (Agilent, 1200 LC) to measure concentration.

<u>Enterococcus faecalis inactivation</u>. Bacteria were grown overnight from a frozen culture in trypticase soy broth at 37 °C to a concentration of ~ 10^8 CFU/mL. In order to remove any traces of growth media, this broth was centrifuged (Eppendorf Centrifuge 5424) at 12000 RPM for 2 minutes and then re-suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) after removing the supernatant. This step was repeated three times and 1 mL of the washed solution containing *E. faecalis* was added to 99 mL of each of the water matrices studied (including PBS), resulting in a concentration of ~ 10^6 CFU/mL at the beginning of the exposure experiments.

Samples were placed in a 150-mL stirred beaker (4.45 cm water depth) under a solar simulator OrielSol1A (Oriel Instruments, Stratford, CT) equipped with a 1000 W Xe lamp and a 1.5 air mass filter. Temperature was controlled for the duration of the experiment at 20 ± 3 °C by placing the beaker within a custom designed water bath with recirculating water from a cooling device. Total exposure times were 3-4 hours as necessary to achieve inactivation levels greater than 3 log₁₀ for all samples. Samples taken every 30 minutes (1-mL aliquots) were diluted and plated using a spread plate method. *E. faecalis* procedures were similar to USEPA-approved Standard Methods #9230,²³ with incubation at 34 °C for 24 h immediately following plating on trypticase soy agar. The accuracy of plate counts was warranted by duplicate plating for each time step sample as well as the plating of numerous dilutions for each sample. Each experiment was repeated 2-3 times and results shown represent the average of those runs.

Inactivation data analysis. Experiments conducted in PBS represent sensitizer-free conditions; thus the inactivation rate observed is considered to involve direct and/or endogenous processes alone.²⁴ It is assumed that endogenous inactivation in PBS remains constant regardless of depth, which would be the case for a completely non-absorbing solution. In the presence of light-absorbing matter, average irradiation will decrease with depth as established by Morowitz²⁵ based on the Beer-Lambert law. While the original calculation deals with a single wavelength, the screening factor (SF) used here is calculated as the fraction of the incoming light that is present through the water column in the wavelength range of 290-600nm, as such

$$SF = \frac{\sum_{\lambda=290nm}^{600nm} I_L(\lambda)}{\sum_{\lambda=290nm}^{600nm} I_0(\lambda)} = \frac{\sum_{\lambda=290nm}^{600nm} I_0(\frac{1-10^{(-\alpha L)}}{(2.303)(\alpha L)})(\lambda)}{\sum_{\lambda=290nm}^{600nm} I_0(\lambda)}$$
(1)

where I_0 and I_L are the incoming radiation and the average radiation in a cell of depth L, respectively, α is the decadic absorption coefficient, and (λ) indicates the calculation is over a range of wavelengths.

In addition, an action spectrum is used to account for the fact that photoinactivation efficiency varies with wavelength. Considering both the decrease in average irradiance for different wavelengths and the action spectrum for *E. faecalis*, a weighted screening factor (WSF) is calculated as

$$WSF = \frac{\sum_{\lambda=290nm}^{600nm} PI_L(\lambda)}{\sum_{\lambda=290nm}^{600nm} PI_0(\lambda)}$$
(2)

where P is the wavelength-dependent sensitivity coefficient (photoaction spectrum, m²/W*h) for *E. faecalis* in DI water, which decreases with increasing wavelengths (P = $60*e^{-0.02*\lambda} + 0.025$).²⁶ Thus, the WSF represents the fraction of direct and endogenous inactivation expected to take place at a given depth compared to that at the surface or within a clear medium.

On the other hand, as RI formation decreases with depth (due to light screening), exogenous processes are expected to decrease to the same degree. The wavelength dependence of exogenous inactivation is more difficult to account for because ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields appear to be only weakly dependent on wavelength (or at least difficult to generalize across diverse OM types)^{27–31} and because other species may also play a role in inactivation. Therefore, it is assumed for the sake of this analysis that all wavelengths contribute equally to exogenous inactivation. Following this assumption, the rate of exogenous inactivation decreases to the same extent as the average light irradiance (described by SF) due to screening of photosensitizing irradiance with depth.

Results and discussion

<u>*E. faecalis inactivation rate.*</u> The results of the inactivation experiments in each water sample are presented in Fig. 4.1 as the log_{10} inactivation of *Enterococcus faecalis* as a function of irradiation time under simulated sunlight. These results can also be reported as inactivation as a function of applied dose or fluence (in MJ m⁻²) over the range 290-600 nm based on the irradiance of the solar simulator (Fig B.1). All samples studied exhibit a lag before any inactivation is observed. To account for this behavior, the data were fitted using the equation³²

$$\frac{N}{N_0} = 1 - (1 - e^{-kt})^m \qquad (3)$$

where N_0 and N represent respectively the concentration of culturable bacteria in CFU/mL at the beginning of the experiment and at time t, k represents the first order inactivation rate, and m is a fitting parameter. The k values calculated from these fits are reported in Table 4.1 and the error reported represents the 95% confidence interval for these fitted k values. The lag time was calculated as³²

$$t_{lag} = \frac{\ln m}{k} \quad (4)$$

The inactivation rate observed for the experiments conducted in PBS are assumed to be representative of endogenous processes, i.e., not involving exogenous photosensitizers. The inactivation rate constant measured in these experiments (4.81 h^{-1}) was higher than that reported for E. faecalis in PBS by Kadir et al. (2.15 h^{-1}) .¹⁵ This difference is likely due in part to their use of an atmospheric attenuation filter, which blocks the shorter wavelengths in the solar simulator irradiance spectrum to a greater degree than the air mass filter alone used here. Since the distinction between direct and indirect endogenous processes is not possible from the data obtained here and the environmental implications of such knowledge are limited (i.e. conditions affecting these processes can be difficult to assess or modify in NTS), the subsequent discussion is focused on the distinction between bulk endogenous and exogenous processes.

In the presence of OM, the inactivation rates are 17-67 % higher and the lag times up to 54 % lower than those observed in PBS (Table 4.1). These results can be explained by the fact that OM serves as an exogenous photosensitizer in the formation of RI. Although OM can hinder endogenous processes by shielding microbes from irradiation, particularly in the short-wavelength range most critical for inactivation,⁶ the role of OM as a photosensitizer increases inactivation to a greater degree that it hinders it.



Figure 4.1. *E. faecalis* log₁₀ inactivation as a function of simulated solar irradiation time.

Interestingly samples containing OM isolates exhibited less enhanced inactivation compared to the wastewater and surface waters samples, or methylene blue. This behavior may be due to relatively high absorbance by OM isolates (lower WSF) compared to their RI formation rates (e.g. $[^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ in Table 4.1). For example, the irradiation time required to reach 3-log₁₀ inactivation (t_{3-log}), shows a negative correlation to the ratio of $[^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ /ABS300 (i.e. the ratio of the bulk steady-state $^{1}O_{2}$ concentration over the absorbance at 300 nm), as shown in Fig B.2. Since increasing RI will tend to enhance inactivation while light screening would generally decrease it, it makes sense that the irradiation time or dose required for inactivation would decrease (due to higher inactivation rates) as this ratio increases.

Label	Sample description	Inactivation rate constant, k (h ⁻¹)	Lag time (h)	DOC (mg/L)	Weighted screening factor (WSF)	[¹ O ₂] _{SS, ave} × 10 ¹³ (M)
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline	4.81 (0.44)	2.18	0.0	1.00*	n.a.
BWW-eff	Boulder WWTF effluent	6.68 (1.13)	1.07	6.9	0.92	1.66
BWW-1C	Boulder WWTF primary clarifier	8.05 (1.79)	1.00	8.5	0.90	2.07
BC	Boulder Creek	5.94 (0.84)	1.05	4.7	0.90	1.98
Res	Greeley Reservoir	7.86 (0.96)	1.36	6.7	0.96	0.88
SRFA	Suwannee River fulvic acid (20 ppm)	5.61 (0.44)	2.28	8.6	0.78	2.62
SRHA	Suwannee River humic acid (20 ppm)	6.48 (1.26)	2.04	8.2	0.59	3.11
MB 0.3ppm	Methylene blue (0.3 ppm)	6.74 (3.32)	2.01	0.0	1.00*	1.04
MB 1ppm	Methylene blue (1 ppm)	7.28 (0.91)	1.43	0.1	1.00*	4.77

Table 4.1. Inactivation kinetics and water quality parameters for the studied samples

* Assumed due to negligible light absorbance over wavelength range of 290-600 nm

<u>Relative contribution of exogenous inactivation</u>. Knowing the overall inactivation rate constants (k, from Equation 1) and calculating the contribution of endogenous processes under our experimental conditions (k_{end}), the balance of the inactivation can be assumed to be the result of exogenous processes (k_{exo}),²⁴ calculated as such

$$k = k_{end} + k_{exo} = k_{PBS}(WSF) + k_{exo}$$
(5)

The results of this analysis are shown in Fig. 4.2, which presents the overall inactivation rate constant of each sample as well as the contribution of both endogenous and exogenous mechanisms, with the assumption that inactivation taking place in PBS (k_{PBS}) is due to endogenous processes alone. All the other samples display a decrease in the endogenous contribution as compared to PBS due to light screening. At the same time, the contribution of

exogenous processes is shown to be greater than the corresponding decrease in endogenous activity for each sample, thus leading to overall inactivation rates that are higher than those in non-RI producing samples.



Figure 4.2. Inactivation rate constants detailing contribution from endogenous and exogenous pathways. Inactivation in PBS is assumed to represent endogenous processes alone which decrease for other samples due to light screening.

Interestingly, the rate of exogenous inactivation does not seem to correlate strongly with $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ (Fig B.3), despite the fact that previous reports had pointed to this molecule as being very important in the inactivation of microbes.^{13,15–20} While these results do not rule out the role of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ as an important species in microbial inactivation, they indicate that $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ may be a poor predictor of inactivation kinetics. Reasons for such lack of correlation may point to the complexity of exogenous inactivation processes for *E. faecalis*. Interactions between the photosensitizer and the target microbe, including proximity and membrane permeability, may play a role. For example, previous reports have shown that increased particle association between OM and viruses increased inactivation kinetics.³³ Membrane permeability could also play a role, where smaller sensitizers (that could potentially further penetrate the membrane) would enhance inactivation. Both of these phenomena, particle association and membrane

permeability, are also affected by surface charges which further complicates the interactions between RI and the target microorganisms.

Different degrees of quenching/scavenging of RI by different types of OM may also impact the concentration of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ that the microbes actually experience and such variability may not be fully captured by the ¹O₂ probe used here (i.e. FFA).³⁴ Other RI, e.g., HO[•] and OM excited triplet states could potentially play a role,³⁵ yet their behavior would be similarly affected by the complexities mentioned above. The role of HO[•] was specifically assessed here by measuring inactivation in the presence of environmentally relevant concentrations (1 mM) of NO₃ (a selective HO' sensitizer) and no difference was observed compared to inactivation rates in PBS (data not shown). Under these conditions, HO \cdot is expected to be in the order of 10⁻¹⁴ M,³⁶ which is 1-2 orders of magnitude higher than it would be in the environment due to the presence of scavengers such as OM.^{22,37} This points to the fact that HO[•] is unlikely to play a significant role in E. faecalis inactivation under environmentally relevant conditions, at least compared to other processes within the timeframes tested. Synergistic effects between the various processes (i.e. direct and indirect endogenous and exogenous) may also play a role³⁸ but are yet to be fully elucidated. As a result of the complexity of these interactions, attempts to estimate inactivation rates using second order reaction rate constants between ¹O₂ and *E. faecalis* or CT values (assuming Chick's law behavior) is likely to yield erroneous estimations.

However, one important result derived from this analysis is that the most environmentally relevant samples (i.e. surface and wastewaters) display a relatively narrow range of inactivation rates and t_{3-log} values. Samples derived from surface and wastewaters all require solar exposure dose of 3-4 MJ m⁻² to reach 3-log inactivation under the conditions tested. While this observation needs to be tested in full-scale systems, it provides some confidence that the hydraulic retention

times necessary to reach the desired treatment level in NTS, will not change dramatically as a function of influent water characteristics.

Inactivation as a function of depth. Both the light absorption spectrum of OM and the action spectrum of *E. faecalis* show a decrease with increasing wavelength, which results in the most effective inactivating wavelengths being preferentially blocked. As a result, the WSF decreases more sharply as a function of depth than the overall SF (e.g. Fig. B.4). As described in the Methodology section, endogenous processes are assumed to decrease with depth as described by the WSF while the exogenous is assumed to decrease with the SF, while the the fitting value *m* (as calculated in Eq. 1) is assumed to remain constant irrespective of depth for a given sample. This assumption is justified on the basis that *m* is a factor used to fit the inactivation curves (in Fig. 4.1) assuming a multi-target model,³² and the factors it describes (e.g. number of targets) are not expected to be vary with depth. Following this assumption and based on the dose-response kinetics of endogenous and exogenous inactivation processes (k_{end} and k_{exo}), rates at different depths can be estimated.

Fig 4.3 illustrates the results of two samples, displaying the lowest (BC) and highest (BWW-1C) inactivation rates among the natural water samples studied here. The data in this figure model the decrease in the overall inactivation rate as a function of depth for these two samples, as well as the relative contributions of endogenous and exogenous processes. For both samples, rates decrease to half of the rate at the surface, at a depth of 40-50 cm. As expected, the endogenous processes decrease more sharply with depth, leading to an increase in the relative contribution of exogenous processes, even as the overall rate decreases. In the case of BWW-1C, exogenous processes may be responsible for 46-55 % of the total inactivation but may account for only 26-35 % of inactivation in the BC sample within one meter of the water surface.



Figure 4.3. Calculated overall inactivation rate and relative contribution of endogenous and exogenous processes as a function of depth for Boulder Creek (BC) and primary clarifier effluent (BWW-1C) samples. Contribution of exogenous processes to overall inactivation plotted on secondary axis.

Environmental implications

The data presented provide an estimation of inactivation kinetics for *E. faecalis* as well as an approach for estimating the contribution of different mechanisms, i.e. endogenous and exogenous, which can be applied to other microorganisms of interest. These bench-scale experiments provide useful information that can be complemented by field studies to gain a wider understanding of the factors affecting microbial inactivation. For example, while the times required to reach a certain degree of inactivation in the natural samples fall within a relatively narrow range (i.e. 1.9-2.2 hours to achieve 3-log₁₀ removal under our experimental conditions), this may not be the case in full-scale systems due to variability in flow/mixing or seasonal/diurnal fluctuations in environmental conditions that may affect inactivation kinetics. Furthermore, indigenous bacteria are more resistant to sunlight disinfection than pure strains grown in the laboratory. Thus, further research that utilizes indigenous and pathogenic microorganisms (as opposed to lab-cultured indicators) would improve our estimations of disinfection kinetics under environmental conditions. During NTS design, the microorganisms and conditions that require the greatest exposure times to achieve a given goal of treatment would dictate the required HRT. However, it is important to acknowledge that the necessary exposure times will increase with increasing depth due to decreasing photoinactivation rates. This points to the notion that HRT should not be increased by increasing depth alone, but that a maximum or optimal depth should be established based on optimizing the mechanisms of solar inactivation given the absorbance conditions in the NTS.²⁴ Furthermore, the NTS design geometry must take into account not only the desired treatment level (influenced by HRT and depth) but also land availability/cost.³⁹ While this is an optimization question that is beyond the scope of this article, improved knowledge of inactivation kinetics and mechanisms of various microbes of concern would serve as more reliable input variables for the calculation of design parameters.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge support from the United States EPA (STAR Fellowship # FP 91748801) and the National Science Foundation (CBET awards 1235288 and 1344382).

Supporting Information

This information is shown in Appendix B: Supporting Information.

References

- Mahmood, Q.; Pervez, A.; Zeb, B. S.; Zaffar, H.; Yaqoob, H.; Waseem, M.; Afsheen, S. Natural Treatment Systems as Sustainable Ecotechnologies for the Developing Countries. 2013, 2013.
- (2) Brix, H. Wastewater Treatment in Constructed Wetlands: System Design, Removal Processes, and Treatment Performance. In *Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality Improvement*; Moshiri, G. A., Ed.; Lewis Publishers: Boca Raton, 1993.
- (3) Vymazal, J. The use constructed wetlands with horizontal sub-surface flow for various types of wastewater. *Ecol. Eng.* **2009**, *35*, 1–17.
- (4) WHO. Safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater; Geneva, 2006.
- (5) Kadlec, R. H. Wetland to pond treatment gradients. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2005**, *51*, 291–298.
- (6) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Donnison, A. M.; Speed, D. J. Towards a mechanistic understanding of pond disinfection. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2000**, *42*, 149–158.
- (7) Calkins, J.; Buckles, J. D.; Moeller, J. R. Role of solar ultraviolet radiation in natural water purification. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **1976**, *24*, 49–57.
- (8) Sassoubre, L. M.; Nelson, K. L.; Boehm, A. B. Mechanisms for photoinactivation of Enterococcus faecalis in seawater. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **2012**, *78*, 7776–7785.
- (9) Canonica, S.; Jans, U. R. S.; Stemmler, K.; Hoigne, J. Transformation Kinetics of Phenols in Water: Photosensitization by Dissolved Natural Organic Material and Aromatic Ketones. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1995**, *29*, 1822–1831.
- (10) Cooper, W. J.; Zika, R. G. Photochemical Formation of Hydrogen Peroxide in Surface and Ground Waters Exposed to Sunlight. *Science* **1983**, *220*, 711–712.
- (11) Mopper, K.; Zhou, X. Hydroxyl radical photoproduction in the sea and its potential impact on marine processes. *Science* **1990**, *250*, 661–664.
- (12) Zepp, R. G.; Baughman, G. L.; Schlotzhauer, P. F. Comparison of Photochemical Behavior of Various Humic Substances in Water: II. Photosensitized Oxygenations. *Chemosphere* **1981**, *10*, 119–126.
- (13) Curtis, T. P.; Mara, D. D.; Silva, S. A. Influence of pH, Oxygen, and Humic Substances on Ability of Sunlight To Damage Fecal Coliforms in Waste Stabilization Pond Water. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **1992**, *58*, 1335–1343.

- (14) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Donnison, A. M.; Speed, D. J.; Ross, C. M.; Nagels, J. W. Inactivation of Faecal Indicator Micro-organisms in Waste Stabilisation Ponds: Interactions of Environmental Factors with Sunlight. *Water Res.* 1999, 33, 1220–1230.
- (15) Kadir, K.; Nelson, K. L. Sunlight mediated inactivation mechanisms of Enterococcus faecalis and Escherichia coli in clear water versus waste stabilization pond water. *Water Res.* **2014**, *50*, 307–317.
- (16) Kohn, T.; Nelson, K. L. Sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage via exogenous singlet oxygen produced by sensitizers in natural waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2007, 41, 192–197.
- (17) Romero, O. C.; Straub, A. P.; Kohn, T.; Nguyen, T. H. Role of temperature and Suwannee River natural organic matter on inactivation kinetics of rotavirus and bacteriophage MS2 by solar irradiation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2011, 45, 10385–10393.
- (18) Rule Wigginton, K.; Menin, L.; Montoya, J. P.; Kohn, T. Oxidation of virus proteins during UV(254) and singlet oxygen mediated inactivation. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2010, 44, 5437–5443.
- (19) Dahl, T. A.; Midden, W. R.; Hartman, P. E. Pure Singlet Oxygen Cytotoxicity for Bacteria. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **1987**, *46*, 345–352.
- (20) Dahl, T. a; Midden, W. R.; Hartman, P. E. Comparison of killing of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria by pure singlet oxygen. *J. Bacteriol.* **1989**, *171*, 2188–2194.
- (21) Mostafa, S.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Singlet oxygen formation from wastewater organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2013**, *47*, 8179–8186.
- (22) Dong, M. M.; Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. Photochemical formation of hydroxyl radical from effluent organic matter. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 3788–3794.
- (23) APHA; AWWA; WEF. Membrane Filter Technique for Members of the Coliform Group Standard. In *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater*; American Public Health Association: Washington, D.C., 2005.
- (24) Silverman, A. I.; Nguyen, M. T.; Schilling, I. E.; Wenk, J.; Nelson, K. L. Sunlight Inactivation of Viruses in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands: Modeling Endogenous and Exogenous Inactivation Rates. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2015, 49, 2757– 2766.
- (25) Morowitz, H. J. Absorption Effects in Volume Irradiation of Microorganisms. *Science* (80-.). **1950**, *111*, 229–230.
- (26) Kadir, K. Sunlight-Mediated Inactivation Mechanisms of Enteroccocus faecalis and Escherichia coli in Waste Stabilization Ponds, 2010.

- (27) Sharpless, C. M. Lifetimes of triplet dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) and the effect of NaBH4 reduction on singlet oxygen quantum yields: implications for DOM photophysics. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 4466–4473.
- (28) Paul, A.; Hackbarth, S.; Vogt, R. D.; Roder, B.; Burnison, B. K.; Steinberg, C. E. W. Photogeneration of singlet oxygen by humic substances: comparison of humic substances of aquatic and terrestrial origin. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* **2004**, *3*, 273–280.
- (29) Haag, W. R.; Hoigné, J.; Gassman, E.; Braun, A. Singlet oxygen in surface waters Part II: Quantum yields of its production by some natural humic materials as a function of wavelength. *Chemosphere* **1984**, *13*, 641–650.
- (30) Zepp, R.; Schiotzhauer, P. F.; Slnk, R. M. Photosensitized Transformations Involving Electronic Energy Transfer in Natural Waters : Role of Humic Substances. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 1985, 19, 74–81.
- (31) Marchisio, A.; Minella, M.; Maurino, V.; Minero, C.; Vione, D. Photogeneration of reactive transient species upon irradiation of natural water samples: Formation quantum yields in different spectral intervals, and implications for the photochemistry of surface waters. *Water Res.* 2015, 73, 145–156.
- (32) Wegelin, M.; Canonica, S.; Mechsner, K.; Fleischmann, T.; Pesaro, F.; Metzler, A. Solar water disinfection: scope of the process and analysis of radiation experiments. *J. Water Supply Res. Technol.* **1994**, *43*, 154–169.
- (33) Kohn, T.; Grandbois, M.; McNeill, K.; Nelson, K. L. Association with natural organic matter enhances the sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage by singlet oxygen. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2007**, *41*, 4626–4632.
- (34) Latch, D. E.; McNeill, K. Microheterogeneity of singlet oxygen distributions in irradiated humic acid solutions. *Science (80-.).* **2006**, *311*, 1743–1747.
- (35) Romero-maraccini, O. C.; Sadik, N. J.; Rosado-lausell, S. L.; Pugh, C. R.; Niu, X.; Croue, J.; Nguyen, T. H. Rotaviruses in the Presence of Exogenous Photosensitizers. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2013, 47, 11004–11012.
- (36) Brezonik, P. L.; Fulkerson-Brekken, J. Nitrate-Induced Photolysis in Natural Waters : Controls on Concentrations of Hydroxyl Radical Photo-Intermediates by Natural Scavenging Agents. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1998**, *32*, 3004–3010.
- (37) Zepp, R. G.; Hoigné, J.; Bader, H. Nitrate-Induced Photooxidation of Trace Organic Chemicals in Water. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1987**, *21*, 443–450.
- (38) Sinton, L. W.; Hall, C. H.; Lynch, P. A.; Davies-colley, R. J. Sunlight Inactivation of Fecal Indicator Bacteria and Bacteriophages from Waste Stabilization Pond Effluent in Fresh and Saline Waters. **2002**, *68*, 1122–1131.

(39) Sarikaya, H. Z.; Arabia, S. Optimum pond depths for bacterial die-off. *Water Res.* **1988**, *22*, 1047–1054.

Chapter 5 Challenges and opportunities for wastewater treatment and reuse in developing communities

Introduction

Worldwide population growth and increased per capita consumption of natural resources have led to scarcity of valuable resources as well as the associated increases in waste streams.¹ The impacts of such changes in the global flow of materials are particularly noticeable in the developing world due to a combination of demographic, socio-economic, and environmental factors. For instance, population growth is taking place at a greater rate in developing countries around the world, whereas populations have plateaued or even slightly decreased in the developed world. Furthermore, in many countries, the development of infrastructure to accommodate for the changing needs of the population and regulations to control the extraction and disposal of materials have not been adequate. This has led to the overexploitation of natural resources and uncontrolled waste disposal, which have detrimental impacts upon environmental and health conditions.¹

As a necessary (yet often scarce) resource, water is of particular concern and presents an important example of the problems described above. Water is fundamental to sustain life as it is necessary not only for hydration but also for cooking, hygiene practices, and irrigation. Particularly in rural communities, agricultural irrigation accounts for a majority of water necessities. On the other hand, water can also become a vector for diseases caused by pathogenic or toxic agents. This is particularly true of waters receiving untreated (or improperly treated) waste streams. In the case of wastewater streams, their magnitude can be assumed to increase in relation to increases in water consumption, particularly in sewered systems. Thus, whereas

increased water usage has generated shortages in supply, improper management of waste has further compromised the quality of freshwater sources.

Due to the high microbial concentrations present in raw sewage, the removal of pathogens is one of the primary objectives in wastewater treatment (WWT). Without it, soil, crops, and water sources (both groundwater and surface water bodies) may become contaminated when coming in contact with untreated water streams leading to detrimental health and environmental impacts. Thus, it becomes clear that the development, optimization, and introduction of decentralized, non-conventional wastewater treatment systems that do not rely on high energy, chemical, and labor inputs and that are socially and environmentally sound would be highly beneficial to those communities that do not have access to conventional treatment technologies common in more developed regions. Waste stabilization ponds (WSP) and constructed wetlands (CW) are some of the systems considered to be appropriate for this purpose, evidenced in part by the fact that they are already widely used for treating waste streams in wide range of conditions and geographical locations.²

Furthermore, the reuse or recycling of materials presents an opportunity to turn waste into valuable resources, thus addressing both the issue of scarcity and that of increased waste. The use of wastewater for irrigation purposes is one of such instances which allows the reuse of both water and nutrients, potentially minimizing environmental and health impacts of wastewater and improving (or decreasing the cost of) agricultural practices. This concept is certainly not new and has been practiced in both the developing and developed world under different circumstances. For instance, in the United States and Europe, strict regulations have been implemented to ensure treated wastewater being reused meets health and environmental standards, while exploiting the benefits of this practice. However, such practices in the developing regions mostly take place in

an informal (possibly illegal) manner, and thus remain unregulated. Due to lack of regulation and its predominantly informal nature, quantification of the extent of this practice remains a difficult task, however it is estimated that approximately 20 million hectares worldwide are irrigated using raw, or partially diluted, sewage.³ Issues surrounding this topic in developing countries are discussed in this chapter by considering both the benefits and potential health impacts of such practices, realistic goals for minimizing such impacts, and various options for improving wastewater management, including treatment in natural treatment systems (NTS).

Benefits and risks of wastewater irrigation

When assessing the issue of wastewater irrigated crops, it is important to consider both the potential benefits and risks associated with this practice. The benefits of using wastewater as a source for irrigation are directly linked to the necessity of different communities to meet their basic needs. A water supply that is adequate in terms of both quantity and reliability is a valuable resource for communities which depend on agriculture, either for subsistence or commercial purposes. Such a fundamental resource may not always be available, possibly due to environmental reasons, e.g., in arid or semi-arid areas, or more complex issues regarding, for instance, increased water extraction/allocation for urban centers. The latter case presents an example where a steady supply of water to urban regions effectively guarantees a reliable supply of wastewater for urban, peri-urban, or nearby rural agriculture. This presents farmers an opportunity to address their water needs in a reliable and relatively inexpensive way. Sufficient water available for irrigation enables the adequate supply of crops, potentially enhancing food security and nutrition for farmers and communities.⁴ Furthermore, the increased organic content in the soil resulting from wastewater application enhances its water-holding capacity, thus potentially requiring less water than otherwise needed.⁵

Urban agriculture, which may significantly depend on wastewater for irrigation, is becoming an important economic activity and an important contribution to vegetable supply in urban centers. Economic analyses regarding the different agricultural methods have been conducted, for instance, in different regions of Africa, based on surveys and data related to revenue generated. Studies have found that year-round irrigated urban vegetable farming could move households in Dakar, Senegal⁵ and Kumasi, Ghana⁶ above the poverty line of \$1 per day, while rainfed and/or dry-season irrigation schemes would not be sufficient to surpass this threshold, according to the latter study. Another important aspect regarding urban agriculture is the significant role it plays in supplying perishable vegetable goods to city dwellers. For instance, it is estimated that 60% of the vegetables consumed in Dakar are produced in or near the city.7 This proximity between the point of production and consumption is of particular importance in regions that do not posses systems of sufficient capacity for refrigerated transportation and storage of vegetables. In this regard, urban agriculture can potentially present benefits not only for the farmers and their families but for urban populations as a whole by contributing to meet their food demands.

In addition, wastewater presents a significant advantage compared to freshwater due to its nutrient content, including nitrogen, phosphorus, and potassium (NPK). The economic benefits of such nutrient availability can be understood in terms of either increased yields or the value of fertilizer saved.⁸ These benefits translate into increased household income for farmers and a greater food supply to the market (with the potential decrease in price related to this increased supply). In addition to the economic benefits of decreased fertilizer needs, the environmental aspects should also be considered. Production of inorganic fertilizer is an energy intensive and environmentally detrimental process due to the need for atmospheric nitrogen fixation as well as

phosphorus and potassium extraction (predominantly from mining). Thus, reusing these valuable nutrients by means of wastewater irrigation contributes to decreasing the needs for inorganic fertilizer production.

Despite all its potential benefits, uncontrolled use of raw sewage for crop irrigation presents a series of health risks for farmers, consumers, and communities at large. Untreated domestic wastewater carries with it significant amounts of microorganisms, a portion of which are likely to be pathogenic agents, thus becoming a potential vector for transmittance of disease when used for irrigation. However, due to the predominantly informal nature of wastewater irrigation practices, the characteristics of the water being used can be hard to establish as would be its potential health impacts.

Studies have provided evidence of increased incidence of infection and disease in farm workers and their families as a result of exposure to raw or diluted sewage. For instance, in Ouakam in the Dakar region, Senegal, where only wastewater is available for irrigation, 60% of farmers were infected with intestinal parasites; while 40% were infected in the nearby city of Pikine, where diluted wastewater is used as a source.⁵ Hookworm infections affecting as much as 80% of farm workers using wastewater were reported in Haroonabad, Pakistan; compared to infections levels of ~ 40% for farmers using other water sources. In addition, farmers who irrigate their crops with wastewater, and their children, were 2-3 times as likely to suffer from diarrheal diseases as compared to the control group.⁹ In general, parasitic infections are more common among farmers who use wastewater for irrigation (and their children), especially those who do not wear shoes. Increased incidence of diarrheal diseases and bacterial infections have been reported in adults coming in contact with raw or partially treated water during irrigation.¹⁰

Another group of concern with regards to wastewater irrigation is consumers. This group represents a greater population than farmers and their families and is estimated to be more than 10% of the world population.¹¹ They may not come in direct contact with raw sewage but may be directly affected (possibly without their knowledge) by the practice of wastewater irrigation. In some instances, the health risks become evident when disease outbreaks that can be traced back to wastewater usage in agriculture are reported. Such was the case of the 1987 typhoid epidemic which made hundreds of people in Dakar seriously ill.⁵ In most cases, however, the direct health impacts are not as obvious and may require extensive studies to establish a correlation between the source of irrigation water and epidemiological trends in a population. However, studies point to elevated risks of helminth infections and diarrheal diseases for both children and adults while outbreaks of cholera and shigellosis (a possible cause of dysentery) have also been reported in relation to wastewater irrigation.¹⁰ In addition, evidence of crop surfaces contaminated with protozoa has been reported, although no direct correlation to increased infection rates was established.¹⁰ It is important to consider that consumers of raw vegetables are particularly at risk since the process of cooking may significantly decrease the potentially negative health impacts. For instance, vegetables such as lettuce, onions, and tomatoes may be eaten in salads and are usually consumed uncooked. Increased frequency of consumption of such crops has been shown to cause a twofold or higher increase in diarrheal and viral infections when irrigated with wastewater or contaminated river water.^{12,13}

Suggested practices for wastewater irrigation

The question is then, while understanding the potential need and benefit of wastewater irrigation, how can health risks be reduced? While treating wastewater could be ideal if appropriate systems are available (further discussed below), other practices can be implemented to decrease health risks in the absence WWT.

Changes in the way crops are irrigated may decrease the incidence of disease for both farmers and consumers. Sprinkler and furrow or flood irrigation may have significant impacts upon the health of farmers, their families, and nearby communities as they increase their probability of being in direct contact with the wastewater. On the other hand, bubbler, drip, or trickle irrigation present a reduced risk of exposure to those surrounding the cultivated land. In addition, the use of shoes and other protective equipment by farmers and their families should be encouraged as they create barriers that minimize direct skin contact to the wastewater. Another practice that would lower the risk for consumers would be to stop irrigation a few days or weeks before harvesting. Although this method may not always be applicable, e.g. lettuce should be irrigated until the time of harvest to remain fresh, it may be useful for certain crops as it allows for pathogen die-off before consumption or handling.¹⁴

Crop restriction refers to the selection of crops that may include non-food crops or those that are processed or cooked before consumption. In places where agricultural practices are not well regulated it would be hard to promote such practices if the market conditions were unfavorable. However, there are several examples where shifts to farming of restricted crops have being carried out without affecting farmers in cases where the demand for these crops exists.¹⁰ As mentioned above, cooking eradicates practically all pathogens present in vegetables due to high temperatures but other food preparation methods can significantly reduce the presence of pathogens as well. For instance, washing with water and/or disinfectant solution as well as peeling fruits and vegetables can achieve 1-2 log reduction of pathogens, while similar reductions in the amounts of helminth eggs can be achieved by use of a detergent solution and

rinsing with water.¹⁰ Such practices may be effective in reducing pathogenic infections and relatively inexpensive but rely on education of food handlers, vendors, and consumers to be effectively implemented.

It can be observed that several factors and practices may have an impact upon the health risks associated with wastewater irrigation. This demonstrates that it would be very useful to develop a comprehensive approach to minimize the prevalence of disease. Such an approach should involve all the participants in the process of food production and consumption. With sufficient information, and when possible, various practices can have a cumulative effect that result in sufficient pathogen avoidance or reduction (e.g., log 6 removal of rotavirus). Starting with the selection of crops to the way they are grown, handled, and finally consumed, the opportunities to decrease health risks should be exploited by everyone involved. Making the public aware of these issues is important, not only because knowledge is necessary for proper hygiene measures to be practiced, but also because consumers can put pressure on vegetable and cooked food vendors to practice hygienic measures themselves and ensure their food comes from a sufficiently safe source. Farmers would then have an additional incentive to practice safer irrigation methods and minimize the negative health impacts of consumers.

Wastewater treatment in natural treatment systems

Due to the high microbial concentrations present in raw sewage, the removal of pathogens is one of the primary objectives in WWT. The concentrations of microbes in WW streams may vary depending on geographic location and other conditions; however typical concentrations for thermotolerant coliforms are 10⁶-10¹⁰/100 mL, 10-10³/100 mL for helminth eggs, 1-10⁵ for protozoa, and 10²-10⁶ for various types of viruses.¹⁰ NTS are considered appropriate technologies for a wide range of conditions as they are more economical to build and

maintain as compared to more advanced WWT processes, while holding the potential benefits of water reuse. For example, recognizing the natural processes that take place within wetlands, they have been used for centuries as receiving bodies for wastewater.¹⁵ However, this led in many instances to their eventual degradation when the loads applied exceeded their capacity to absorb them. Thus, attempts have been made to replicate such natural processes in a controlled setting while avoiding the potential impacts upon such valuable natural systems through the construction of artificial wetlands and ponds dedicated to perform various forms of water treatment.

The first experiments using plants as part of a water treatment process are credited to Dr. Käthe Seidel in 1952. Numerous experiments were carried out in the following years, and the first constructed wetland was built in the Netherlands in 1967, while their use spread at a relatively slow pace through the 1970s in Europe and North America.¹⁶ In the following decades, the research, implementation, and applications of constructed wetlands would greatly expand to the point where today there are "thousands of applications in all parts of the world".¹⁶ Constructed wetlands are generally classified into two types based on where the water surface is found with respect to the supporting media. Free water surface (FWS) wetlands, also known as surface flow wetlands, are those in which the water remains exposed while flowing above the supporting media. On the other hand, sub-surface flow (SSF) wetlands, also known as reed beds and planted soil filters, are designed in such a way that the media, e.g. sand, gravel, extends above the water surface. This latter type presents advantages with respect to FWS since it avoids possible problems associated with vector breeding and odors in open waters as well as increased surface area in the media which enhances biological growth and filtration mechanisms. On the other hand, they may be more susceptible to clogging and are not exposed to direct sunlight,

which may enhance microbial inactivation in FWS wetlands. SSF CW can be further classified with respect to flow direction as vertical (upflow or downflow) or horizontal flow.

CWs have proved to be an appropriate technology for the treatment of wastewater streams derived from various sources, including municipal and domestic wastewater (these being the most common), various industrial applications (e.g. chemical, paper, and textile factories), runoff streams (e.g. airports, highways, greenhouses), agricultural wastewater, as well as landfill leachate.¹⁷ Raw sewage contains high levels of suspended solids (120-400 mg/L), organic matter that would impose an oxygen demand upon receiving bodies (110-350 mg/L BOD₅), nutrients (20-70 mg/L-N, 4-12 mg/L-P), numerous pathogens (bacteria, viruses, protozoa, and helminths), as well as other contaminants of concern.¹⁸ However, in most instances some form of pretreatment (e.g. septic tank, sedimentation pond) is required before entering the CW, leading to influent values lower than those present in raw WW. The mechanisms leading to the removal of suspended solids in CWs include sedimentation and filtration with average removal efficiencies of approximately 70%. BOD and nutrient removal take place due to a combination of physical and biological processes. Microbial degradation and sedimentation are the dominant processes in BOD removal, which leads to an average efficiency of $\sim 80\%$ for wastewater influents containing more than 40 mg/L BOD₅. Nitrogen removal (average TN removal ~40%) takes place due to ammonification followed by microbial nitrification/denitrification or by ammonia volatilization, while plant uptake usually plays a smaller role. Due to a lack of biological processes leading to phosphorus volatilization, reduction in total phosphorus in the effluent (~40%) occurs due to soil sorption (possibly aided by adsorption-precipitation reactions with other water constituents) or by plant uptake. In the case of pathogens, mechanical and biological processes lead to reductions in pathogen concentrations ranging between 0.5 to 3 log,^{10,17,19} although they are rarel designed
with this specific purpose in mind.²⁰ Higher removals of coliforms are usually found in hybrid systems combining some form of FWS and SSF CWs. The removal efficiency has been found to be related to various factors, including hydraulic retention time (HRT), presence of vegetation, porous media, and temperature, among others.²⁰ The physical and chemical mechanisms responsible for microbe removal include filtration, sedimentation, oxidation, UV radiation (for FWS CWs only), biocidal plant exudates and adsorption to organic matter. In addition, biological processes involved in microbial removal include predation, antibiotic interaction with other organisms, and natural die-off.²⁰

The removal of pathogens related to chemical and biological processes which take place in the presence of macrophytes involves a series of complex interactions. As mentioned above, the rhizosphere is characterized by increased amounts of oxygen and other compounds which enhance biological activity. While some oxygen diffuses into to water column through the airwater interface, photosynthetic processes and oxygen leakage from plant roots contribute to oxygen availability as well.¹⁹ Apart from oxygen, other compounds may be secreted from plant roots to fulfill various functions, including signaling and recruiting microbes that may be beneficial to their survival. The enhanced biological activity found in these vegetated systems enhances biodegradation of organics and adsorption of various contaminants, including pathogens, and is therefore an important characteristic of CWs.

In the case of treatment ponds, many of the processes described above are also important in the removal of contaminants. However, adsorption and filtration processes will be reduced due to a lack of significant plant coverage and contact with roots and other plant surfaces. On the other hand, such lack of vegetation increases solar exposure leading to enhanced photo-induced inactivation processes and, as a result, inactivation of microbes via solar processes may be the most important mechanism for microbial removal in treatment ponds.²¹ Despite extensive research, there is still debate in the literature regarding the influence of various physico-chemical factors on inactivation and removal kinetics for both dark and solar-induced processes.^{21,22} This uncertainty may be due to the fact that different microbes are inactivated by different mechanisms. Thus, models that take into account specific parameters (e.g. pH, dissolved oxygen) based on observed effects on one or more microbes of concern may yield highly inaccurate predictions when applied to other organisms. This points to the need for better understanding of the mechanisms and conditions that affect specific microbes (or at least classes of microbes) as the basis for the development of empirical models that better account for these fundamental processes.

Applications and concluding remarks

The results presented in this thesis contribute to the understanding of photochemical processes in NTS and other surface waters, regarding the formation of RI and inactivation kinetics *E. faecalis*. While the specific mechanisms and kinetics would vary in different contexts, this approach can better inform the prediction of microbial inactivation and indirect photolysis of other water constituents. Models have been developed to predict the removal of fecal coliform in treatment ponds that account for water depth²³ and the light attenuation,²⁴ acknowledging the importance of solar irradiance for the inactivation of this bacterial population. As more knowledge is gathered regarding the inactivation kinetics and mechanisms of other microbes, models can be modified (or developed) to account for a wider range of organisms. For example, trade-offs between HRT and depth (which are inversely proportional with constant area) can be better evaluated to achieve removal goals as more accurate removal kinetics are obtained. Specifically, in context where area is limited, HRT can be increased by increasing depth. This

may be beneficial for those removal processes that do not rely as heavily on sunlight-driven processes, e.g. sedimentation, adsorption, but may affect disinfection more significantly. Furthermore, considerations for other parameters such land availability and cost may also be important components of design that require knowledge of how various processes are affected by depth.²⁵ Thus, a better understanding of the removal goals and the conditions required to achieve them would be of great use in optimizing NTS design.

In a broader sense, it is safe to assume that for the next few decades (i) water will continue to be a sought-after resource for many communities around the world, (ii) the development and capacity of large-scale, centralized wastewater treatment facilities will continue to lag behind population growth and wastewater generation in developing communities, and thus (iii) wastewater will continue to grow as a valuable source of water and nutrients that should be properly managed, treated, and (if possible) reused for irrigation or other purposes.

While the use of wastewater for irrigation emerged as a solution to the challenge of water scarcity, it brought with it its own set of challenges in the form of health and environmental risks. Thus, the promotion of relatively simple and inexpensive systems such as treatment ponds and wetlands to promote pathogen die-off and settlement of solids before wastewater reaches community members, crops, or is returned to the environment is very important. For instance, information, funding, and other resources and incentives can be presented to farmers and the broader community to encourage them to engage in safer practices.

With this in mind, wastewater management and reuse should be considered within the greater scheme of sustainability where the recovery of useful resources, i.e. water, nutrients, and organic matter, is encouraged in order to minimize resource extraction and optimize resource utilization. This addresses the issues of scarcity of resources as well as waste management while

potentially improving the livelihoods of subsistence or commercial farmers and improving food security for their communities.

References

- (1) Rockström, J.; Steffen, W.; Noone, K.; Persson, Å.; Chapin, F. S.; Lambin, E.; Lenton, T. M.; Scheffer, M.; Folke, C.; Schellnhuber, H. J.; et al. Planetary boundaries: Exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecol. Soc.* **2009**, *14*.
- (2) Verbyla, M. E.; Mihelcic, J. R. A review of virus removal in wastewater treatment pond systems. *Water Res.* **2014**, *71*, 107–124.
- (3) Scott, C.; Faruqui, N.; Raschid-Sally, L. Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Management challenges in developing countries. In *Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Confronting the livelihood and environmental realities.*; CABI Publishing: Oxfordshire, 2004.
- (4) Jiménez, B.; Mara, D.; Carr, R.; Brissaud, F. Wastewater Treatment for Pathogen Removal and Nutrient Conservation: Suitable Systems for Use in Developing Countries. In *Wastewater Irrigation and Health*; Earthscan: London, 2011; pp 149– 170.
- (5) Faruqui, N.; Niang, S.; Redwood, M. Untreated wastewater use in market gardens: A case study of Dakar, Senegal. In *Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Confronting the livelihood and environmental realities*; CABI Publishing: Oxfordshire, 2004.
- (6) Danso, G.; Drechsel, P.; Wiafe-Antwi, T.; Gyiele, L. Income of farming systems around Kumasi. *Urban Agric. Mag.* **2002**, 5–7.
- (7) Niang, S.; Diop, A.; Faruqui, N.; Redwood, M.; Gaye, M. Reuse of untreated wastewater in market gardens in Dakar, Senegal. *Urban Agric. Mag.* **2002**, 35–36.
- (8) Hussain, I.; Raschid, L.; Hanjra, M.; Marikar, F.; van der Hoek, W. *Wastewater use in agriculture: Review of impacts and methodological issues in valuing impact*; Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- (9) Feenstra, S.; Hussain, R.; van der Hoek, W. *Health risks of irrigation with untreated urban wastewater in the Southern Punjab, Pakistan*; Lahore, Pakistan, 2000.
- (10) WHO. Safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater; Geneva, 2006.
- (11) Smit, J.; Nasr, J. Urban agriculture for sustainable cities: using wastes and idle lands and water bodies as resources. *Environ. Urban.* **1992**, 141–152.
- (12) Blumenthal, U. . *Risk of enteric infections through consumption of vegetables with contaminated river water*; London, 2003.

- (13) Cifuentes, E. The epidemiology of enteric infections in agricultural communities exposed to wastewater irrigation: Perspectives for risk control. *Int. J. Environ. Health Res.* **1998**, 203–213.
- (14) Carr, R. M.; Blumenthal, U. J.; Mara, D. D. Health guidelines for the use of wastewater in agriculture: Developing realistic guidelines. In *Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Confronting the livelihood and environmental realities*; CABI Publishing: Oxfordshire, 2004.
- (15) Vymazal, J.; Kropfelova, L. *Wastewater Treatment in Constructed Wetlands with Horizontal Sub-Surface Flow*; Springer Science and Business Media B.V.: New York, NY, 2008.
- (16) Vymazal, J. Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment: five decades of experience. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 61–69.
- (17) Vymazal, J. The use constructed wetlands with horizontal sub-surface flow for various types of wastewater. *Ecol. Eng.* **2009**, *35*, 1–17.
- (18) Asano, T.; Burton, F.; Leverenz, H.; Tsuchihashi, R.; Tchobanoglous, G. *Water Reuse: Issues, Technologies, and Applications*; McGraw-Hill Professional, 2007.
- (19) Brix, H. Wastewater Treatment in Constructed Wetlands: System Design, Removal Processes, and Treatment Performance. In *Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality Improvement*; Moshiri, G. A., Ed.; Lewis Publishers: Boca Raton, 1993.
- (20) Vymazal, J. Removal of Enteric Bacteria in Constructed Treatment Wetlands with Emergent Macrophytes: A Review. *J. Environ. Sci. Heal. Part A* **2005**, *40*, 1355–1367.
- (21) Davies-Colley, R. J.; Donnison, A. M.; Speed, D. J. Towards a mechanistic understanding of pond disinfection. *Water Sci. Technol.* **2000**, *42*, 149–158.
- (22) Maynard, H. E.; Ouki, S. K.; Williams, S. C. Tertiary Lagoons: A Review of Removal Mechanisms and Performance. *Water Res.* **1999**, *33*, 1–13.
- (23) Von Sperling, M. Modelling of coliform removal in 186 facultative and maturation ponds around the world. *Water Res.* **2005**, *39*, 5261–5273.
- (24) Mayo, A. W. Modeling Coliform Mortality in Waste Stabilization Ponds. *J. Environ. Eng.* **1995**, *121*, 140–152.
- (25) Sarikaya, H. Z.; Arabia, S. Optimum pond depths for bacterial die-off. *Water Res.* **1988**, *22*, 1047–1054.

Chapter 6 Conclusions

Concluding remarks

The work presented in this dissertation explored the photochemical processes involving organic matter (OM) in surface waters. It provides a better understanding of the fundamental interactions between sunlight and other water constituents and their implications in the performance and design of natural treatment systems (NTS), considered to be appropriate technologies for wastewater treatment, particularly in isolated or low-resource communities.

Quantifying the fluorescence and photosensitizing efficiency of organic matter shines light into the underlying mechanisms dictating its behavior. The absorbance of light by OM chromophores and subsequent formation of excited states leads to enhanced reactivity of these molecules and alters its interactions with its surroundings. Different pathways of energy relaxation will impact such interactions and thus affect a variety of environmentally relevant processes.^{1–4} For example, excited states of OM can help degrade organic contaminants present in the environment or within treatment systems via direct interactions or through the formation of other reactive intermediates (RI) such as singlet oxygen (¹O₂) or hydroxyl radicals (HO[•]). Thus, a better understanding of these underlying processes provides insight into the behavior and impact of OM in the environment. It also allows for the establishing of relations between photochemical behaviors and optical properties of OM. As such, ¹O₂ quantum yields and steady-state concentrations of different types of organic matter can be estimated based on relatively simple absorbance measurements.

The photochemical behavior of OM in natural systems also affects the concentrations of microbes in surface waters. In general, the dual role of OM as a light shield and photosensitizer must be understood to fully account for its impact on microbial populations. In the specific case

of *Enterococcus faecalis* it is observed that the role of OM as a photosensitizer in the formation of RI leading to inactivation is greater than the inactivation decrease related to this shielding effect. While similar processes are expected to affect other microbes, these results cannot be widely generalized since the relative contribution of these processes may lead to overall increases or decreases in inactivation rates depending on the specific microbe and conditions being studied. Nonetheless, the accumulation of results for different microbial species and types does improve our overall understanding of the relevant mechanisms for inactivation in natural and engineered systems and should continue to be expanded. While results obtained in benchscale experiments provide useful insights into relevant mechanisms, aided by more controlled conditions, validating and complementing these results in pilot- and full-scale systems will continue to improve our understanding of the most relevant factors affecting inactivation kinetics. This will ultimately improve the prediction of environmental processes and the design of treatment systems by accounting for the removal of pathogens and other constituents of concern.⁵

Furthermore, NTS should also be considered as options for the treatment of wastewater streams, particularly within low-resource communities, since they are less expensive to build and maintain than more sophisticated treatment systems, such as activated sludge. Beyond the immediate purpose of sanitation, such NTS should be thought of as part of broader water management practices that take into account the desires and needs of the communities they serve. For example, the use of treated streams for irrigation or other purposes may present additional benefits by enhancing water and nutrient recovery. It is also important to note that the potential applications of these systems are not limited to so-called developing countries, as they have been implemented in many industrialized countries as well.^{6,7} Though certainly not

exclusively, they would be particularly appropriate for more isolated or traditionally underserved communities within higher-income countries that would benefit from less expensive treatment options. Furthermore, the use of less energy- and chemical-intensive treatment options is in line with the broader goals of environmental sustainability that all societies (including those with higher income) should embrace. Thus, it makes sense that this type of treatment should be more broadly adopted in the so-called developed countries, not necessarily out of necessity but as part of efforts to minimize their environmental footprint.

Comments on hypotheses

I. Photochemical formation of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ is correlated to the optical properties and affected by molecular size and oxidation of WWOM

a) Decreasing MW leads to increased ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields.

- b) WWOM oxidation leads to increases in ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields
- c) ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields are positively correlated to the OM spectral slope and its multiplication by absorbance allows for estimations of $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$

Experiments were conducted to measure the quantum yields and steady-state concentrations of ${}^{1}O_{2}$ under simulated sunlight for various wastewater-derived samples, including size fractions and wastewaters undergoing oxidation. Higher quantum yields and E2:E3 values were observed for the smaller size fractions as well as those undergoing oxidation by both chlorine and ozone. Significant losses in absorbance were also observed for the oxidized samples, with O3 acting as a less selective oxidant. Generally, the quantum yield is positively correlated to the E2:E3 ratios, except for the highest oxidation doses. Multiplying this ratio, or the spectral slope, by the sample absorbance at a given wavelength (365 or 300 nm) results in values that are positively correlated to the measured ${}^{1}O_{2}$ steady-state concentrations.

II. Quantum yields of fluorescence and RIs increase concomitantly with decreasing MW of OM due to decreasing prevalence of non-radiative transitions

Fractionation of two distinct types of OM, namely Suwannee River natural organic matter (SRNOM) and treated wastewater effluent (BWW), was conducted and the photophysical and photochemical behaviors of these samples were studied. Similar trends emerged in both samples where fluorescence and photosensitizing efficiency in the formation of reactive intermediates (¹O₂, HO[•], and ³OM) increased with decreasing size. These trends can be explained by increases in radiationless decay (internal conversion) or other processes (e.g. charge transfer) with increasing size, which compete with fluorescence and intersystem crossing, leading to decreases in the quantum yields for fluorescence and the RI studied here.

III. Photoinactivation of enterococci is enhanced in NTS waters due to higher RI concentrations

a) Overall inactivation rates of Enterococcus faecalis increase in the presence of OM

b) The relative contribution of indirect exogenous photoinactivation increases with depth Inactivation rates of *Enterococcus faecalis* were measured in sensitizer-free experiments (PBS) as well as in the presence of various types of organic matter under simulated sunlight. The sensitizer-free experiments displayed the lowest inactivation rates, pointing to the photochemical formation of RI as enhancing inactivation. While a portion of the light is absorbed by the OM in the samples (and thus prevented from reaching the microbes) the net effect is an increase in inactivation due to enhanced exogenous processes. Since the lower wavelengths are preferentially absorbed by OM and they are also the most effective in the direct and/or endogenous inactivation, the relative contribution of indirect exogenous processes increases with depth even as the overall rate decreases.

Further questions

While the photochemical behaviors of various OM types were evaluated through this work, there are additional questions that would justify further research and complement the results presented here. The wavelength dependence of the ${}^{1}O_{2}$ quantum yields was not established since all experiments were conducted using a polychromatic source (i.e. solar simulator). Previous studies have shown that the photosensitizing efficiency may increase with decreasing wavelength for certain samples, though weakly for many, and it is difficult to generalize this behavior across very distinct OM types.⁸⁻¹² Thus, studying this behavior in the context of wastewaters, OM size fractions, and other samples that have been less studied would contribute to a better understanding of this phenomenon. Such knowledge would have aided specifically in the development of the model presented in chapter 4 for estimating the contribution of exogenous inactivation processes as a function of depth as the photosensitizing efficiency of different wavelengths (which are absorbed to different) could be better accounted for.

Another relevant question that emerges during experiments relates to the specific parameters responsible for certain observed behaviors. Specifically, as OM samples are fractionated according to size, different photosensitizing efficiencies are measured. However, it is difficult to assess whether such differences are due to different sample compositions present in the different fractions or whether similar OM sub-structures are present but in smaller sized molecules. For instance, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy could provide information regarding the relative prevalence of various bond structures. Comparing these data across samples could help determine how composition may be changing due to fractionation. More broadly, better characterization of the samples with respect to composition, size, and other characteristics would aid in understanding the underlying mechanisms that affect the observed bulk behaviors.

While the inactivation experiments pointed to the difference between endogenous and exogenous processes affecting bacterial survival, complementary analysis could provide more precise information regarding the inactivation mechanisms. For example, it is not clear however, whether exogenously produced RI can significantly affect the microorganism's genes or if they act predominantly on other essential cell components, such as the membrane. While QPCR can help assess the DNA damage leading to inactivation on viruses, its applications would be more limited for bacterial inactivation. Thus, the development and application of new techniques that further this knowledge would be of great use. It would also be interesting to see how these various processes vary as a function of depth as well as investigating possible repair mechanisms after undergoing the different types of inactivating damage.

Finally, while models were developed to predict the ¹O₂ steady-state concentration and the inactivation rates at different depths, this was done based on the results obtained under our specific experimental conditions. As such, this analysis could be complemented by pilot- or fullscale systems. For example, formation of 1O2 and inactivation kinetics could be evaluated within columns where the water depth can be varied, e.g. up to 1 meter. The role of particulate OM and other solids could also be evaluated by comparing the results of filtered vs. unfiltered samples. These conditions may better reflect those found in environmental and treatment systems and could then be validated by comparing results to the degradation rates of certain compounds or native microbial populations in full-scale systems. Ultimately, this improved knowledge should be translated into models and other means of informing the design of NTS to improve their performance, reliability, and acceptability.⁵ This would lead to a better utilization of resources and optimization in the treatment of wastewater streams by expanding and improving the use of such systems.

References

- (1) Canonica, S.; Jans, U. R. S.; Stemmler, K.; Hoigne, J. Transformation Kinetics of Phenols in Water: Photosensitization by Dissolved Natural Organic Material and Aromatic Ketones. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1995**, *29*, 1822–1831.
- (2) Cooper, W. J.; Zika, R. G. Photochemical Formation of Hydrogen Peroxide in Surface and Ground Waters Exposed to Sunlight. *Science* **1983**, *220*, 711–712.
- (3) Mopper, K.; Zhou, X. Hydroxyl radical photoproduction in the sea and its potential impact on marine processes. *Science* **1990**, *250*, 661–664.
- (4) Zepp, R. G.; Baughman, G. L.; Schlotzhauer, P. F. Comparison of Photochemical Behavior of Various Humic Substances in Water: II. Photosensitized Oxygenations. *Chemosphere* **1981**, *10*, 119–126.
- Jasper, J. T.; Nguyen, M. T.; Jones, Z. L.; Ismail, N. S.; Sedlak, D. L.; Sharp, J. O.; Luthy, R. G.; Horne, A. J.; Nelson, K. L. Unit Process Wetlands for Removal of Trace Organic Contaminants and Pathogens from Municipal Wastewater Effluents. *Environ. Eng. Sci.* 2013, *30*, 421–436.
- (6) Vymazal, J. Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment: five decades of experience. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2011**, *45*, 61–69.
- (7) Mara, D. Waste stabilization ponds : Past, present and future. *Desalin. Water Treat.* **2009**, *4*, 85–88.
- (8) Sharpless, C. M. Lifetimes of triplet dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) and the effect of NaBH4 reduction on singlet oxygen quantum yields: implications for DOM photophysics. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2012**, *46*, 4466–4473.
- (9) Paul, A.; Hackbarth, S.; Vogt, R. D.; Roder, B.; Burnison, B. K.; Steinberg, C. E. W. Photogeneration of singlet oxygen by humic substances: comparison of humic substances of aquatic and terrestrial origin. *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* **2004**, *3*, 273–280.
- (10) Haag, W. R.; Hoigné, J.; Gassman, E.; Braun, A. Singlet oxygen in surface waters Part II: Quantum yields of its production by some natural humic materials as a function of wavelength. *Chemosphere* **1984**, *13*, 641–650.

- (11) Zepp, R.; Schiotzhauer, P. F.; Slnk, R. M. Photosensitized Transformations Involving Electronic Energy Transfer in Natural Waters : Role of Humic Substances. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1985**, *19*, 74–81.
- (12) Marchisio, A.; Minella, M.; Maurino, V.; Minero, C.; Vione, D. Photogeneration of reactive transient species upon irradiation of natural water samples: Formation quantum yields in different spectral intervals, and implications for the photochemistry of surface waters. *Water Res.* **2015**, *73*, 145–156.

References

- Al Housari, F., Vione, D., Chiron, S., & Barbati, S. (2010). Reactive photoinduced species in estuarine waters. Characterization of hydroxyl radical, singlet oxygen and dissolved organic matter triplet state in natural oxidation processes. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 9(1), 78–86. doi:10.1039/b9pp00030e
- APHA, AWWA, & WEF. (2005). Membrane Filter Technique for Members of the Coliform Group Standard. In *Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater* (21st ed.). Washington, D.C.: American Public Health Association.
- Arrigo, K., & Brown, C. (1996). Impact of chromophoric dissolved organic matter on UV inhibition of primary productivity in the sea. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 140, 207–216. doi:10.3354/meps140207
- Asano, T., Burton, F., Leverenz, H., Tsuchihashi, R., & Tchobanoglous, G. (2007). *Water Reuse: Issues, Technologies, and Applications*. McGraw-Hill Professional.
- Barber, L. B., Leenheer, J. A., Noyes, T. I., & Stiles, E. A. (2001). Nature and transformation of dissolved organic matter in treatment wetlands. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *35*(24), 4805–16.
- Belzile, C., & Guo, L. (2006). Optical properties of low molecular weight and colloidal organic matter: Application of the ultrafiltration permeation model to DOM absorption and fluorescence. *Marine Chemistry*, 98(2-4), 183–196. doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2005.08.009
- Bidigare, R. R., Ondrusek, M. E., & Brooks, J. M. (1993). Influence of the Orinoco River Outflow on Distributions of Algal Pigments in the Caribbean Sea. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, *98*(92), 2259–2269.
- Blough, N. V, & Zepp, R. G. (1995). Reactive Oxygen Species in Natural Waters. In C. S. Foote, J. S. Valentine, A. Greenberg, & J. F. Liebman (Eds.), *Active Oxygen: Reactive Oxygen* Species in Chemistry (pp. 280–333). NY.
- Blumenthal, U. (2003). *Risk of enteric infections through consumption of vegetables with contaminated river water*. London.
- Boyle, E. S., Guerriero, N., Thiallet, A., Del Vecchio, R., & Blough, N. V. (2009). Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: relation to structure. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(7), 2262–8.

- Brezonik, P. L., & Fulkerson-Brekken, J. (1998). Nitrate-Induced Photolysis in Natural Waters : Controls on Concentrations of Hydroxyl Radical Photo-Intermediates by Natural Scavenging Agents. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *32*(19), 3004–3010.
- Brinkmann, T., Abbt-Braun, G., Karle, E., Hesse, S., Lungar, N., & Frimmel, F. H. (2004).
 Transformation of Wastewater-derived Dissolved Organic Matter below Leaky Sewers
 Fate of Amino Acids and Carbohydrates. *Acta Hydrochimica et Hydrobiologica*, 32(4-5), 316–327. doi:10.1002/aheh.200400542
- Brix, H. (1993). Wastewater Treatment in Constructed Wetlands: System Design, Removal Processes, and Treatment Performance. In G. A. Moshiri (Ed.), *Constructed Wetlands for Water Quality Improvement*. Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.
- Bruccoleri, A., Pant, B. C., Sharma, D. K., & Langford, C. H. (1993). Evaluation of Primary Photoproduct Quantum Yields in Fulvic Acid. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *27*, 889–894.
- Burns, J. M., Cooper, W. J., Ferry, J. L., King, D. W., DiMento, B. P., McNeill, K., ... Waite, T. D. (2012). Methods for reactive oxygen species (ROS) detection in aqueous environments. *Aquatic Sciences*, 74(4), 683–734. doi:10.1007/s00027-012-0251-x
- Buxton, G. V, Greenstock, C. L., Helman, P., & Ross, A. B. (1988). Critical Review of Rate Constants for Reactions of Hydrated Electrons, Hydrogen Atoms and Hydroxyl Radicals (• OH /• O-) in Aqueous Solution, *17*(2).
- Calkins, J., Buckles, J. D., & Moeller, J. R. (1976). Role of solar ultraviolet radiation in natural water purification. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, *24*, 49–57.
- Canonica, S., & Freiburghaus, M. (2001). Electron-rich phenols for probing the photochemical reactivity of freshwaters. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *35*(4), 690–5.
- Canonica, S., Jans, U. R. S., Stemmler, K., & Hoigne, J. (1995). Transformation Kinetics of Phenols in Water: Photosensitization by Dissolved Natural Organic Material and Aromatic Ketones. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *29*(7), 1822–1831.
- Carr, R. M., Blumenthal, U. J., & Mara, D. D. (2004). Health guidelines for the use of wastewater in agriculture: Developing realistic guidelines. In Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Confronting the livelihood and environmental realities. Oxfordshire: CABI Publishing.
- Cavani, L., Halladja, S., ter Halle, A., Guyot, G., Corrado, G., Ciavatta, C., ... Richard, C. (2009). Relationship between photosensitizing and emission properties of peat humic acid fractions obtained by tangential ultrafiltration. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *43*(12), 4348–54.

- Cawley, K. M., Hakala, J. A., & Chin, Y. P. (2009). Evaluating the triplet state photoreactivity of dissolved organic matter isolated by chromatography and ultrafiltration using an alkylphenol probe molecule. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, *7*, 391–398. doi:10.4319/lom.2009.7.391
- Chin, Y. P., Aiken, G., & O'Loughlin, E. (1994). Molecular weight, polydispersity, and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *28*(11), 1853–8. doi:10.1021/es00060a015
- Chin, Y.-P., Miller, P. L., Zeng, L., Cawley, K., & Weavers, L. K. (2004). Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A by dissolved organic matter. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *38*(22), 5888–94.
- Cifuentes, E. (1998). The epidemiology of enteric infections in agricultural communities exposed to wastewater irrigation: Perspectives for risk control. *International Journal of Environmental Health Research*, 203–213.
- Coble, P. G. (1996). Characterization of marine and terrestrial DOM in seawater using excitation-emission matrix spectroscopy. *Marine Chemistry*, *51*(4), 325–346. doi:10.1016/0304-4203(95)00062-3
- Coelho, C., Guyot, G., ter Halle, A., Cavani, L., Ciavatta, C., & Richard, C. (2010). Photoreactivity of humic substances: relationship between fluorescence and singlet oxygen production. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 9(3), 447–451. doi:10.1007/s10311-010-0301-3
- Cooper, W. J., & Zika, R. G. (1983). Photochemical Formation of Hydrogen Peroxide in Surface and Ground Waters Exposed to Sunlight. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 220*(7), 711– 712.
- Cory, R. M., Cotner, J. B., & McNeill, K. (2009). Quantifying interactions between singlet oxygen and aquatic fulvic acids. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(3), 718–23.
- Cory, R. M., Miller, M. P., Mcknight, D. M., Guerard, J. J., & Miller, P. L. (2010). Effect of instrument-specific response on the analysis of fulvic acid fluorescence spectra. *Limnology and Oceanography: Methods*, *8*, 67–78. doi:10.4319/lom.2010.8.67
- Cottrell, B. A., Timko, S. A., Devera, L., Robinson, A. K., Gonsior, M., Vizenor, A. E., ... Cooper, W. J. (2013). Photochemistry of excited-state species in natural waters: A role for particulate organic matter. *Water Research*, 47(14), 5189–99. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2013.05.059
- Curtis, T. P., Mara, D. D., & Silva, S. A. (1992a). Influence of pH, Oxygen, and Humic Substances on Ability of Sunlight To Damage Fecal Coliforms in Waste Stabilization Pond Water. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *58*(4), 1335–43.

- Curtis, T. P., Mara, D. D., & Silva, S. A. (1992b). The Effect of Sunlight on Faecal Coliforms in Ponds: Implications for Research and Design. *Water Science and Technology*, *26*(7), 1729–1738.
- Dahl, T. a, Midden, W. R., & Hartman, P. E. (1989). Comparison of killing of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria by pure singlet oxygen. *Journal of Bacteriology*, *171*(4), 2188–94.
- Dahl, T. A., Midden, W. R., & Hartman, P. E. (1987). Pure Singlet Oxygen Cytotoxicity for Bacteria. *Photochemistry and Photobiology*, *46*(3), 345–352.
- Dalrymple, R. M., Carfagno, A. K., & Sharpless, C. M. (2010). Correlations between dissolved organic matter optical properties and quantum yields of singlet oxygen and hydrogen peroxide. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(15), 5824–9. doi:10.1021/es101005u
- Danso, G., Drechsel, P., Wiafe-Antwi, T., & Gyiele, L. (2002). Income of farming systems around Kumasi. *Urban Agriculture Magazine*, 5–7.
- Davies-Colley, R. J., Bell, R. G., & Donnison, a M. (1994). Sunlight inactivation of enterococci and fecal coliforms in sewage effluent diluted in seawater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 60(6), 2049–58.
- Davies-Colley, R. J., Donnison, A. M., & Speed, D. J. (2000). Towards a mechanistic understanding of pond disinfection. *Water Science and Technology*, 42(10), 149–158.
- Davies-Colley, R. J., Donnison, A. M., Speed, D. J., Ross, C. M., & Nagels, J. W. (1999).
 Inactivation of Faecal Indicator Micro-organisms in Waste Stabilisation Ponds:
 Interactions of Environmental Factors with Sunlight. *Water Research*, 33(5), 1220–1230.
- Del Vecchio, R., & Blough, N. V. (2004). On the origin of the optical properties of humic substances. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *38*(14), 3885–91.
- Dong, M. M., Mezyk, S. P., & Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. (2010). Reactivity of effluent organic matter (EfOM) with hydroxyl radical as a function of molecular weight. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(15), 5714–20. doi:10.1021/es1004736
- Dong, M. M., & Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. (2012). Photochemical formation of hydroxyl radical from effluent organic matter. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(7), 3788–94. doi:10.1021/es2043454
- Faruqui, N., Niang, S., & Redwood, M. (2004). Untreated wastewater use in market gardens: A case study of Dakar, Senegal. In *Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Confronting the livelihood and environmental realities*. Oxfordshire: CABI Publishing.

- Feenstra, S., Hussain, R., & van der Hoek, W. (2000). *Health risks of irrigation with untreated urban wastewater in the Southern Punjab, Pakistan*. Lahore, Pakistan.
- Fichot, C. G., & Benner, R. (2012). The spectral slope coefficient of chromophoric dissolved organic matter (S275-295) as a tracer of terrigenous dissolved organic carbon in river-influenced ocean margins. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *57*(5), 1453–1466. doi:10.4319/lo.2012.57.5.1453
- Fimmen, R., Cory, R., Chin, Y., Trouts, T., & Mcknight, D. (2007). Probing the oxidation– reduction properties of terrestrially and microbially derived dissolved organic matter. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 71(12), 3003–3015. doi:10.1016/j.gca.2007.04.009
- Ged, E. C., & Boyer, T. H. (2013). Molecular weight distribution of phosphorus fraction of aquatic dissolved organic matter. *Chemosphere*, *91*(7), 921–7. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.01.113
- Glover, C. M., & Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. (2013). Impact of Halides on the Photoproduction of Reactive Intermediates from Organic Matter. *Environmental Science & Technology*. doi:10.1021/es4026886
- Golanoski, K. S., Fang, S., Del Vecchio, R., & Blough, N. V. (2012). Investigating the mechanism of phenol photooxidation by humic substances. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(7), 3912–20. doi:10.1021/es300142y
- Green, S. A., & Blough, N. V. (1994). Optical absorption and fluorescence properties of chromophoric dissolved organic matter in natural waters. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *39*(8), 1903–1916. doi:10.4319/lo.1994.39.8.1903
- Greenwood, P. F., Berwick, L. J., & Croué, J.-P. (2012). Molecular characterisation of the dissolved organic matter of wastewater effluents by MSSV pyrolysis GC-MS and search for source markers. *Chemosphere*, *87*(5), 504–12. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.12.051
- Haag, W. R., & Hoigne, J. (1986). Singlet oxygen in surface waters. 3. Photochemical formation and steady-state concentrations in various types of waters. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *20*(4), 341–8. doi:10.1021/es00146a005
- Haag, W. R., Hoigné, J., Gassman, E., & Braun, A. (1984a). Singlet oxygen in surface waters -Part I: Furfuryl alcohol as a trapping agent. *Chemosphere*, *13*(5), 631–640.
- Haag, W. R., Hoigné, J., Gassman, E., & Braun, A. (1984b). Singlet oxygen in surface waters -Part II: Quantum yields of its production by some natural humic materials as a function of wavelength. *Chemosphere*, *13*(5), 641–650.
- Hassett, J. P. (2006). Dissolved natural organic matter as a microreactor. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *311*(5768), 1723–4. doi:10.1126/science.1123389

- Helms, J. R., Stubbins, A., Ritchie, J. D., Minor, E. C., Kieber, D. J., & Mopper, K. (2008).
 Absorption spectral slopes and slope ratios as indicators of molecular weight, source, and photobleaching of chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *53*(3), 955–969. doi:10.4319/lo.2008.53.3.0955
- Hussain, I., Raschid, L., Hanjra, M., Marikar, F., & van der Hoek, W. (n.d.). *Wastewater use in agriculture: Review of impacts and methodological issues in valuing impact*. Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- IUPAC. Compendium of Chemical Terminology, 2nd ed. (the "Gold Book"). Compiled by A. D. McNaught and A. Wilkinson. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford (1997). XML online corrected version: http://goldbook.iupac.org (2006). (n.d.).
- Jasper, J. T., Nguyen, M. T., Jones, Z. L., Ismail, N. S., Sedlak, D. L., Sharp, J. O., ... Nelson, K. L. (2013). Unit Process Wetlands for Removal of Trace Organic Contaminants and Pathogens from Municipal Wastewater Effluents. *Environmental Engineering Science*, 30(8), 421–436. doi:10.1089/ees.2012.0239
- Jasper, J. T., & Sedlak, D. L. (2013). Phototransformation of Wastewater-Derived Trace Organic Contaminants in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands. *Environmental Science & Technology*. doi:10.1021/es304334w
- Jiménez, B., Mara, D., Carr, R., & Brissaud, F. (2011). Wastewater Treatment for Pathogen Removal and Nutrient Conservation: Suitable Systems for Use in Developing Countries. In *Wastewater Irrigation and Health* (pp. 149–170). London: Earthscan.
- Kadir, K. (2010). Sunlight-Mediated Inactivation Mechanisms of Enteroccocus faecalis and Escherichia coli in Waste Stabilization Ponds.
- Kadir, K., & Nelson, K. L. (2014). Sunlight mediated inactivation mechanisms of Enterococcus faecalis and Escherichia coli in clear water versus waste stabilization pond water. *Water Research*, *50*, 307–17. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2013.10.046
- Kadlec, R. H. (2003). Pond and wetland treatment. *Water Science and Technology : A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, 48(5), 1–8.
- Kadlec, R. H. (2005). Wetland to pond treatment gradients. *Water Science and Technology : A Journal of the International Association on Water Pollution Research*, *51*(9), 291–8.
- Kalibbala, M., Mayo, A. W., Asaeda, T., & Shilla, D. a. (2008). Modelling faecal streptococci mortality in constructed wetlands implanted with Eichhornia crassipes. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, *16*(6), 499–510. doi:10.1007/s11273-008-9084-8
- Kohn, T., Grandbois, M., McNeill, K., & Nelson, K. L. (2007). Association with natural organic matter enhances the sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage by singlet oxygen. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *41*(13), 4626–32.

Kohn, T., & Nelson, K. L. (2007). Sunlight-mediated inactivation of MS2 coliphage via exogenous singlet oxygen produced by sensitizers in natural waters. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *41*(1), 192–7.

Lakowicz, J. R. (2006). Principles of Fluorescence Spectroscopy. Springer.

- Latch, D. E., & McNeill, K. (2006a). Microheterogeneity of singlet oxygen distributions in irradiated humic acid solutions. *Science*, *311*(5768), 1743–7. doi:10.1126/science.1121636
- Latch, D. E., & McNeill, K. (2006b). Microheterogeneity of singlet oxygen distributions in irradiated humic acid solutions. *Science*, *311*(5768), 1743–7. doi:10.1126/science.1121636
- Lee, E., Glover, C. M., & Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. (2013). Photochemical Formation of Hydroxyl Radical from Effluent Organic Matter: Role of Composition. *Environmental Science & Technology*. doi:10.1021/es402491t
- Leenheer, J., & Croué, J.-P. (2003). Characterizing dissolved aquatic organic matter. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *37*(1), 18A–26A.
- Li, C.-W., Benjamin, M. M., & Korshin, G. V. (2000). Use of UV Spectroscopy To Characterize the Reaction between NOM and Free Chlorine. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 34(12), 2570–2575. doi:10.1021/es9908990
- Love, D. C., Silverman, A., & Nelson, K. L. (2010). Human virus and bacteriophage inactivation in clear water by simulated sunlight compared to bacteriophage inactivation at a southern California beach. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(18), 6965–70. doi:10.1021/es1001924
- Ma, J., Del Vecchio, R., Golanoski, K. S., Boyle, E. S., & Blough, N. V. (2010). Optical properties of humic substances and CDOM: effects of borohydride reduction. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(14), 5395–402. doi:10.1021/es100880q
- Macmanus-spencer, L. A., Latch, D. E., Kroncke, K. M., & Mcneill, K. (2005). Stable Dioxetane Precursors as Selective Trap-and-Trigger Chemiluminescent Probes for Singlet Oxygen been developed for the detection and quantitation of, *77*(4), 1200–1205.
- Madge, B. A., Jensen, J. N., Ginn, T., Loge, F., Emerick, R., & Darby, J. L. (2001). Of : Modeling the Inactivation of Particle-Associated Coliform Bacteria. *Water Environment Research*, 73(4), 504–507.
- Mahmood, Q., Pervez, A., Zeb, B. S., Zaffar, H., Yaqoob, H., Waseem, M., & Afsheen, S. (2013). Natural Treatment Systems as Sustainable Ecotechnologies for the Developing Countries, *2013*.

- Mara, D. (2009). Waste stabilization ponds : Past, present and future. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, *4*, 85–88.
- Marchisio, A., Minella, M., Maurino, V., Minero, C., & Vione, D. (2015). Photogeneration of reactive transient species upon irradiation of natural water samples: Formation quantum yields in different spectral intervals, and implications for the photochemistry of surface waters. *Water Research*, *73*, 145–156. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2015.01.016
- Maynard, H. E., Ouki, S. K., & Williams, S. C. (1999). Tertiary Lagoons: A Review of Removal Mechanisms and Performance. *Water Research*, *33*(1), 1–13.
- Mayo, a. W., & Kalibbala, M. (2007). Modelling faecal coliform mortality in water hyacinths ponds. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 32*(15-18), 1212–1220. doi:10.1016/j.pce.2007.07.023
- Mayo, A. W. (1995). Modeling Coliform Mortality in Waste Stabilization Ponds. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, *121*(2), 140–152.
- McKnight, D. M., Boyer, E. W., Westerhoff, P. K., Doran, P. T., Kulbe, T., & Andersen, D. T. (2001). Spectrofluorometric characterization of dissolved organic matter for indication of precursor organic material and aromaticity. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 46(1), 38–48. doi:10.4319/lo.2001.46.1.0038
- Miller, P. L., & Chin, Y.-P. (2005). Indirect photolysis promoted by natural and engineered wetland water constituents: processes leading to alachlor degradation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *39*(12), 4454–62.
- Mopper, K., & Zhou, X. (1990). Hydroxyl radical photoproduction in the sea and its potential impact on marine processes. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 250*(4981), 661–4. doi:10.1126/science.250.4981.661
- Morowitz, H. J. (1950). Absorption Effects in Volume Irradiation of Microorganisms. *Science*, *111*(2879), 229–230.
- Mostafa, S., Korak, J. A., Shimabuku, K., Glover, C. M., & Rosario-ortiz, F. L. (2014). Relation between Optical Properties and Formation of Reactive Intermediates from Different Size Fractions of Organic Matter. In *Advances in the Physicochemical Characterization* of Dissolved Organic Matter: Impact on Natural and Engineered Systems.
- Mostafa, S., & Rosario-Ortiz, F. L. (2013). Singlet oxygen formation from wastewater organic matter. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(15), 8179–86. doi:10.1021/es401814s
- Murphy, K. R., Butler, K. D., Spencer, R. G. M., Stedmon, C. A., Boehme, J. R., & Aiken, G. R. (2010). Measurement of dissolved organic matter fluorescence in aquatic

environments: an interlaboratory comparison. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(24), 9405–12. doi:10.1021/es102362t

- Niang, S., Diop, A., Faruqui, N., Redwood, M., & Gaye, M. (2002). Reuse of untreated wastewater in market gardens in Dakar, Senegal. *Urban Agriculture Magazine*, 35–36.
- Parker, J. A., & Darby, J. L. (1995). Particle-Associated Coliform in Secondary Effluents : Shielding from Ultraviolet Light Disinfection Particle-associated effluents : coliform from shielding light disinfection in secondary ultraviolet. *Water Environment Research*, 67(7), 1065–1075.
- Paul, A., Hackbarth, S., Vogt, R. D., Roder, B., Burnison, B. K., & Steinberg, C. E. W. (2004).
 Photogeneration of singlet oxygen by humic substances: comparison of humic substances of aquatic and terrestrial origin. *Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences*, 3(3), 273–280.
- Peterson, B. M., McNally, A. M., Cory, R. M., Thoemke, J. D., Cotner, J. B., & McNeill, K. (2012). Spatial and temporal distribution of singlet oxygen in Lake Superior. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(13), 7222–9. doi:10.1021/es301105e
- Peuravuori, J., & Pihlaja, K. (1997). Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic properties of aquatic humic substances. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, *337*(2), 133–149. doi:10.1016/S0003-2670(96)00412-6
- Power, J. F., & Langford, C. H. (1988). Optical Absorbance of Dissolved Organic Matter in Natural Water Studies Using the Thermal Lens Effect. *Analytical Chemistry*, *60*(9), 842– 846.
- Quaranta, M. L., Mendes, M. D., & MacKay, A. a. (2012). Similarities in effluent organic matter characteristics from Connecticut wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*, 46(2), 284–94. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2011.10.010
- Richard, C., Coelho, C., Guyot, G., Shaloiko, L., Trubetskoj, O., & Trubetskaya, O. (2011). Fluorescence properties of the <5kDa molecular size fractions of a soil humic acid. *Geoderma*, 163(1-2), 24–29. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.03.003
- Richard, C., Trubetskaya, O., Trubetskoj, O., Reznikova, O., Afanas'eva, G., Aguer, J. P., & Guyot, G. (2004). Key role of the low molecular size fraction of soil humic acids for fluorescence and photoinductive activity. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *38*(7), 2052–7.
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, Å., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E., ... Foley, J. (2009). Planetary boundaries: Exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society*, *14*(2). doi:10.1038/461472a

- Romero, O. C., Straub, A. P., Kohn, T., & Nguyen, T. H. (2011). Role of temperature and Suwannee River natural organic matter on inactivation kinetics of rotavirus and bacteriophage MS2 by solar irradiation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 45(24), 10385–93. doi:10.1021/es202067f
- Romero-maraccini, O. C., Sadik, N. J., Rosado-lausell, S. L., Pugh, C. R., Niu, X., Croue, J., & Nguyen, T. H. (2013). Rotaviruses in the Presence of Exogenous Photosensitizers. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *47*, 11004–11012.
- Rule Wigginton, K., Menin, L., Montoya, J. P., & Kohn, T. (2010). Oxidation of virus proteins during UV(254) and singlet oxygen mediated inactivation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 44(14), 5437–43. doi:10.1021/es100435a
- Sandvik, S. L. H., Bilski, P., Pakulski, J. D., Chignell, C. F., & Coffin, R. B. (2000).
 Photogeneration of singlet oxygen and free radicals in dissolved organic matter isolated from the Mississippi and Atchafalaya River plumes. *Marine Chemistry*, 69(1-2), 139–152. doi:10.1016/S0304-4203(99)00101-2
- Sarikaya, H. Z., & Arabia, S. (1988). Optimum pond depths for bacterial die-off. *Water Research*, *22*(8), 1047–1054.
- Sassoubre, L. M., Nelson, K. L., & Boehm, A. B. (2012). Mechanisms for photoinactivation of Enterococcus faecalis in seawater. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(21), 7776–85. doi:10.1128/AEM.02375-12
- Scott, C., Faruqui, N., & Raschid-Sally, L. (2004). Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Management challenges in developing countries. In *Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture: Confronting the livelihood and environmental realities.* Oxfordshire: CABI Publishing.
- Scully, F. E., & Hoigne, J. (1987). Rate constants for reactions of singlet oxygen with phenols and other compounds in water. *Chemosphere*, *16*(4), 681–694.
- Sharpless, C. M. (2012). Lifetimes of triplet dissolved natural organic matter (DOM) and the effect of NaBH4 reduction on singlet oxygen quantum yields: implications for DOM photophysics. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *46*(8), 4466–73. doi:10.1021/es300217h
- Silverman, A. I., Nguyen, M. T., Schilling, I. E., Wenk, J., & Nelson, K. L. (2015). Sunlight Inactivation of Viruses in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands: Modeling Endogenous and Exogenous Inactivation Rates. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 49, 2757–2766. doi:10.1021/es5049754
- Sinton, L. W., Hall, C. H., Lynch, P. A., & Davies-colley, R. J. (2002). Sunlight Inactivation of Fecal Indicator Bacteria and Bacteriophages from Waste Stabilization Pond Effluent in Fresh and Saline Waters, *68*(3), 1122–1131. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.3.1122

- Smit, J., & Nasr, J. (1992). Urban agriculture for sustainable cities: using wastes and idle lands and water bodies as resources. *Environment and Urbanization*, 141–152.
- Song, B., Wang, G., Tan, M., & Yuan, J. (2006). A europium(III) complex as an efficient singlet oxygen luminescence probe. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *128*(41), 13442–50. doi:10.1021/ja062990f
- Stedmon, C. a., Markager, S., & Kaas, H. (2000). Optical Properties and Signatures of Chromophoric Dissolved Organic Matter (CDOM) in Danish Coastal Waters. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 51(2), 267–278. doi:10.1006/ecss.2000.0645
- Stewart, A. J., & Wetzel, R. G. (1980). Fluorescence : absorbance ratios a molecular-weight tracer of dissolved organic matter. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *25*(3), 559–564.
- Stewart, A. J., & Wetzel, R. G. (1981). Asymmetrical relationships between absorbance, fluorescence, and dissolved organic carbon. *Limnology and Oceanography*, *26*(3), 590–597.
- Summers, R. S., Cornel, P. K., & Roberts, P. V. (1987). Molecular size distribution and spectroscopic characterization of humic substances. *The Science of the Total Environment*, *62*, 27–37.
- Sutton, R., & Sposito, G. (2005). Critical Review Molecular Structure in Soil Humic Substances : The New View. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *39*(510), 9009–9015.
- Templeton, M. R., Andrews, R. C., & Hofmann, R. (2005). Inactivation of particle-associated viral surrogates by ultraviolet light. *Water Research*, *39*(15), 3487–500. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2005.06.010
- These, A., & Reemtsma, T. (2005). Structure-dependent reactivity of low molecular weight fulvic acid molecules during ozonation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *39*(21), 8382–7.
- Trubetskoj, O. a., Trubetskaya, O. E., & Richard, C. (2009). Photochemical activity and fluorescence of electrophoretic fractions of aquatic humic matter. *Water Resources*, *36*(5), 518–524. doi:10.1134/S0097807809050042
- Twardowski, M. S., Boss, E., Sullivan, J. M., & Donaghay, P. L. (2004). Modeling the spectral shape of absorption by chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Marine Chemistry*, *89*(1-4), 69–88. doi:10.1016/j.marchem.2004.02.008
- Verbyla, M. E., & Mihelcic, J. R. (2014). A review of virus removal in wastewater treatment pond systems. *Water Research*, *71*(860), 107–124. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2014.12.031

- Vione, D., Bagnus, D., Maurino, V., & Minero, C. (2009). Quantification of singlet oxygen and hydroxyl radicals upon UV irradiation of surface water. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, *8*(2), 193–198. doi:10.1007/s10311-009-0208-z
- Vodacek, A., Green, S. A., & Blough, N. V. (1994). An experimental model of the solarstimulated fluorescence of chromophoric dissolved organic matter. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 39(1), 1–11.
- Von Sperling, M. (2005). Modelling of coliform removal in 186 facultative and maturation ponds around the world. *Water Research*, *39*(20), 5261–5273. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2005.10.016
- Vymazal, J. (2005). Removal of Enteric Bacteria in Constructed Treatment Wetlands with Emergent Macrophytes: A Review. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, 40(6-7), 1355–1367. doi:10.1081/ESE-200055851
- Vymazal, J. (2008). Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment : A Review, 965–980.
- Vymazal, J. (2009). The use constructed wetlands with horizontal sub-surface flow for various types of wastewater. *Ecological Engineering*, *35*(1), 1–17. doi:10.1016/j.ecoleng.2008.08.016
- Vymazal, J. (2011). Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment: five decades of experience. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *45*(1), 61–9. doi:10.1021/es101403q
- Vymazal, J., & Kropfelova, L. (2008). *Wastewater Treatment in Constructed Wetlands with Horizontal Sub-Surface Flow*. New York, NY: Springer Science and Business Media B.V.
- Wang, Z.-D., Pant, B. C., & Langford, C. H. (1990). Spectroscopic and structural characterization of a Laurentian fulvic acid: notes on the origin of the color. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, *232*, 43–49.
- Wegelin, M., Canonica, S., Mechsner, K., Fleischmann, T., Pesaro, F., & Metzler, A. (1994). Solar water disinfection: scope of the process and analysis of radiation experiments. *Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology-AQUA*, 43(3), 154–169.
- WHO. (2006). *Safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater*. Geneva.
- Zepp, R. G., Baughman, G. L., & Schlotzhauer, P. F. (1981). Comparison of Photochemical Behavior of Various Humic Substances in Water: II. Photosensitized Oxygenations. *Chemosphere*, 10(3), 119–126.
- Zepp, R. G., Hoigné, J., & Bader, H. (1987). Nitrate-Induced Photooxidation of Trace Organic Chemicals in Water. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *21*(5), 443–450.

- Zepp, R. G., & Schlotzhauer, P. F. (1983). Influence of algae on photolysis rates of chemicals in water. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *17*(8), 462–468.
- Zepp, R., Schiotzhauer, P. F., & Slnk, R. M. (1985). Photosensitized Transformations Involving Electronic Energy Transfer in Natural Waters : Role of Humic Substances. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 19(1), 74–81.
- Zhan, M., Yang, X., Xian, Q., & Kong, L. (2006). Photosensitized degradation of bisphenol A involving reactive oxygen species in the presence of humic substances. *Chemosphere*, 63(3), 378–86. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.08.046
- Zhang, H., Zhang, Y., Shi, Q., Hu, J., Chu, M., Yu, J., & Yang, M. (2012). Study on transformation of natural organic matter in source water during chlorination and its chlorinated products using ultrahigh resolution mass spectrometry. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46(8), 4396–4402. doi:10.1021/es203587q

Appendix A. Supporting information: Singlet oxygen formation from wastewater organic matter

Simón Mostafa and Fernando L. Rosario-Ortiz*

Department of Civil, Environmental and Architectural Engineering, 428 UCB, University of Colorado, Boulder, Boulder, CO 80309, USA * Corresponding author: Fernando.rosario@colorado.edu; Phone: 303-492-7607

The supplemental information contains 4 Figures.



Figure A.1 Photon irradiance for the solar simulator used in exposure experiments, model Sol1A, Oriel Instruments (Stratford, CT) with 1000 W Xe lamp and 1.5 air mass filter. Irradiance was measured using an Ocean Optics spectrometer.



Figure A.2 Absorbance spectra (before exposure to solar simulator) for (a) IHSS isolates, (b) Louisville, CO wastewater effluent and fractions, and (c) Louisville, CO wastewater effluent with HOCl added.



Figure A.3 Absorbance spectra (before exposure to solar simulator) for (a) Boulder, CO wastewater effluent and fractions, (b) Boulder, CO wastewater effluent with HOCl added, and (c) Boulder, CO wastewater effluent with O_3 added.



Figure A.4 $[10_2]_{SS}$ plotted against $[S_{275-500} \times ABS300]$ (a) and ABS254 (or E2:E3 × ABS365) (b), with linear regressions, after subtraction of the contribution of nitrate to the total absorbance. Nitrate concentrations were 15.8 and 4.0 mg-N/L for BWW and LWW, respectively.

Appendix B. Supporting information: Relative impact of light screening and photosensitizers on *E. faecalis* inactivation in surface waters

The SI contains four figures showing *E. faecalis* inactivation rate as a function of dose (fluence); time required to reach 3-log₁₀ inactivation as a function of $[^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ /Abs₃₀₀; exogenous inactivation rates as a function of $[^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$; and the screening factor and weighted screening factor as a function of depth for BC and BWW-1C.



Figure B.1 *E. faecalis* log₁₀ inactivation as a function of applied simulated solar dose (fluence) calculated over wavelengths 290-600 nm.



Figure B.2 Exposure time required to reach $3 \cdot \log_{10}$ inactivation of *E. faecalis* as a function of the ratio of $[{}^{1}O_{2}]_{SS}$ and absorbance at 300 nm for each sample showing negative correlation (P < 0.05). Methylene blue data are excluded due to low absorbance



Figure B.3 Exogenous inactivation rate as function of $[{}^1O_2]_{SS}$, showing no significant correlation.



Figure B.4 Screening factor and weighted screening factor as a function of depth for BC and BWW-1C. WSF decreases more sharply than SF considering the photoinactivation action spectrum of *E. faecalis*.